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To enrich our customers�
lives through the unique,
expanding power of mobile
communication.

This constitutes the Annual Report on Form 20-F (the
“20-F”) of Vodafone Group Plc (the “Company”) in
accordance with the requirements of the US Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and is dated 14
June 2006. This document contains the information set
out within the Company’s Annual Report in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) and with those parts of the Companies Act
1985 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS,
dated 30 May 2006, as updated or supplemented at the
time of filing of the 20-F with the SEC, which may be
later amended if necessary. References to IFRS refer to
the application of International Financial Reporting
Standards, including International Accounting Standards
(“IAS”) and interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and its
committees, and as interpreted by any regulatory bodies
applicable to the Group and adopted for use in the
European Union (“EU”). Financial information for the
year ended 31 March 2005, presented as comparative
figures in this report, has been restated from UK GAAP
in effect at 31 March 2004 in accordance with IFRS. The
content of the Group’s website (www.vodafone.com)
should not be considered to form part of this Annual
Report or the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F.

References to the �Group� or �Vodafone� are references to
the Company and its subsidiary undertakings and,
where the context requires, its interests in joint ventures
and associated undertakings.

In the discussion of the Group�s reported financial
position and results for the year ended 31 March 2006,
information in addition to that contained within the
Consolidated Financial Statements is presented on the
basis that it provides readers with additional financial
information regularly reviewed by management. This
information is provided to assist investor assessment of

the additional information presented is not uniformly
defined by all companies in the Group�s industry.
Accordingly, it may not be comparable with similarly
titled measures and disclosures by other companies.
Definitions of the terms presented are shown on page
49.

In presenting and discussing the Group�s reported
financial position, operating results and cash flows,
certain information is derived from amounts calculated
in accordance with IFRS but this information is not itself
an expressly permitted GAAP measure. Such
non-GAAP measures should not be viewed in isolation
as an alternative to the equivalent GAAP measure. An
explanation as to the use of these measures and
reconciliations to their nearest equivalent GAAP
measure can be found on pages 47 to 48.

The Report of the Directors, incorporating the Business
Review, covers pages 6 to 70 of this Annual Report.

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements
within the meaning of the US Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 with respect to the Group�s
financial condition, results of operations and business
management and strategy, plans and objectives for the
Group. For further details, please see �Cautionary
Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements� and
�Outlook and Risk Factors� for a discussion of the risks
associated with these statements.

Vodafone, Vodafone live!, Vodafone Mobile Connect,
Vodafone Wireless Office, Vodafone Simply, Vodafone
Passport, Vodafone Zuhause, Vodafone Casa, Oficina
Vodafone, Stop the Clock and Vodafone Radio DJ are
trademarks of the Vodafone Group. Other product and
company names mentioned herein may be the
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the Group�s performance from period to period.
However,

trademarks of their respective owners.
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Highlights for the Year

Financial performance:

� Group revenue of £29.4 billion from continuing operations. Mobile
telecommunications revenue increased to £28.1 billion, representing
growth of 9.3%

� Loss before taxation for the year was £14.9 billion after impairment losses
of £23.5 billion

� Free cash flow of £6.4 billion, and net cash inflow from operating activities,
after net taxation paid of £1.7 billion, up 10.3% to £10.2 billion from
continuing operations

Operational highlights:

� Net proportionate customer additions of 21.5 million in the year

� Closing proportionate customer base of 170.6 million, with organic growth
of 14.9% in the year

� Non-messaging data revenue grew by 61.2% to £0.8 billion, with organic
growth of 60.4%

� Mobile voice usage increased by 24.6% to 178.3 billion minutes, with organic
growth of 18.9%

Increasing returns to shareholders:

� Total dividends per share increased by 49%, to 6.07 pence, with a final
dividend per share of 3.87 pence, giving a dividend pay out ratio of 60% on
underlying earnings per share and a total pay out of £3.7 billion for the
financial year

� £6.5 billion expended on the share purchase programme in the 2006
financial year, reducing shares in issue by 7.5%

� £9.0 billion to be returned to shareholders in the 2007 financial year via
� B� share arrangement, including an additional £3 billion announced on
30 May 2006

� Total returns to shareholders announced over the year of £19.2 billion

Highlights

Financial Highlights 2
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Financial Highlights

The selected financial data set out on the following pages is derived from the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company
on pages 71 to 130 and as such should be read in conjunction with them. Certain trends within the financial data presented below
have been impacted by business acquisitions and disposals, the most significant of which are described in �Business Overview �
History and Development of the Company�.

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS, on the basis set out in note 1 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, which differ in certain significant respects from US GAAP. For further details, see note 38 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, �US GAAP information�. Solely for convenience, amounts represented below in dollars have
been translated at $1.7393: £1, the Noon Buying Rate on 31 March 2006.

At/year ended 31
March

2006 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
$m £m £m £m £m £m

Consolidated Income Statement Data

IFRS
Revenue 51,048 29,350 26,678
Operating (loss)/profit (24,496) (14,084) 7,878
Adjusted operating profit (Non-GAAP measure)(1) 16,348 9,399 8,353
(Loss)/profit before taxation (25,833) (14,853) 7,285
(Loss)/profit for the financial year from continuing operations (29,973) (17,233) 5,416

US GAAP
Revenue 41,319 23,756 21,370 19,637 15,487 13,447
Net loss(2)(3) (23,081) (13,270) (13,752) (8,105) (9,072) (16,769)

Consolidated Cash Flow Data(4)

IFRS
Net cash flows from operating activities 17,723 10,190 9,240
Net cash flows from investing activities (11,573) (6,654) (4,112)
Net cash flows from financing activities (7,896) (4,540) (7,242)
Free cash flow (Non-GAAP measure)(1) 11,163 6,418 6,592

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

IFRS
Total assets 220,435 126,738 147,197
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Total equity 148,383 85,312 113,648
Total equity shareholders� funds 148,580 85,425 113,800
Total liabilities 72,052 41,426 33,549

US GAAP
Shareholders� equity 151,291 86,984 107,295 129,141 140,580 141,016

2 Vodafone Group Plc Annual Report 2006
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At/year ended 31 March

2006 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Earnings Per Share (�EPS�)(5)

Weighted average number of shares (millions)
� Basic 62,607 66,196 68,096 68,155 67,961
� Diluted 62,607 66,427 68,096 68,155 67,961

IFRS
Basic (loss)/earnings per ordinary share
� Continuing (48.11)¢ (27.66)p 8.12p
� Discontinued (12.78)¢ (7.35)p 1.56p

Diluted (loss)/earnings per ordinary share
� Continuing (48.11)¢ (27.66)p 8.09p
� Discontinued (12.78)¢ (7.35)p 1.56p

Basic (loss)/earnings per ADS
� Continuing (481.1)¢ (276.6)p 81.2p
� Discontinued (127.8)¢ (73.5)p 15.6p

Diluted (loss)/earnings per ADS
� Continuing (481.1)¢ (276.6)p 80.9p
� Discontinued (127.8)¢ (73.5)p 15.6p

US GAAP(2)(3)

Basic and diluted loss per ordinary share (36.87)¢ (21.20)p (20.77)p (11.90)p (13.31)p (24.67)p
Basic and diluted loss per ADS (368.7)¢ (212.0)p (207.7)p (119.0)p (133.1)p (246.7)p

Cash Dividends(5)(6)

Amount per ordinary share 10.56¢ 6.07p 4.07p 2.0315p 1.6929p 1.4721p
Amount per ADS 105.6¢ 60.7p 40.7p 20.315p 16.929p 14.721p

Other Data
IFRS
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges(7) � � 7.0
Deficit $(28,733)m £(16,520)m �
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US GAAP
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges(7) � � � � � �
Deficit(8) $(24,133)m £(13,875)m £(9,756)m £(9,059)m £(8,436)m £(14,425)m

Notes:
(1) Refer to �Non-GAAP Information� on pages 47 to 48 for a reconciliation of this non-GAAP measure to the most comparable GAAP measure and

a discussion of this measure.
(2) 2005 net loss includes the cumulative effect of accounting changes related to intangible assets and post employment benefits that increase net

loss by £6,372 million or 9.63p per ordinary share. Net loss and shareholders� equity for 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002 have been restated to give
effect to the modified retrospective adoption of SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004). See note 38 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further
details on these changes in accounting policy.

(3) 2002 net loss includes the cumulative effect of accounting changes related to derivative financial instruments reducing net loss by £17 million
or 0.02p per ordinary share.

(4) Amounts reported refer to continuing operations.
(5) See note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, �(Loss)/earnings per share�. Earnings per American Depository Share (�ADS�) is calculated

by multiplying earnings per ordinary share by ten, the number of ordinary shares per ADS. Dividend per ADS is calculated on the same basis.
(6) The final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2006 was proposed by the directors on 30 May 2006.
(7) For the purposes of calculating these ratios, earnings consist of profit before tax adjusted for fixed charges, dividend income from associated

undertakings, share of profits and losses from associated undertakings and profits and losses on ordinary activities before taxation from
discontinued operations. Fixed charges comprise one-third of payments under operating leases, representing the interest element of these
payments, interest payable and similar charges and preferred share dividends.

(8) The deficits for the 2002, 2003 and 2004 financial years are presented on the same basis as the Form 20-F for the year ended 31 March 2004.
These deficits have not been restated for the effect of discontinued operations, because the UK GAAP information, which forms the basis of the
US GAAP information presented, has not been restated. Even if any such adjustments were made, it is expected that the ratio of earnings to
fixed charges would still show a deficit.

Vodafone Group Plc Annual Report 2006 3
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Group at a Glance

Vodafone is the world�s leading mobile
telecommunications company with
mobile operations in 26 countries
around the world and Partner Network
agreements in a further 32 countries.

Germany Italy Spain

Closing proportionate
customers
(�000) 29,191 18,490 13,521

Average proportionate
customer growth
(%) 8.4% 6.8% 18.5%

3G devices
(�000) 2,025 2,250 902

Average
monthly
ARPU

€23.3 €28.5 €35.6

Non-voice revenue
as a percentage of
service revenue (%) 20.2% 16.7% 14.4%

Revenue
(£m) 5,754 4,363 3,995

Operating
(loss)/profit(1)
(£m)

(17,904) (1,928) 968

Total assets
(£m) 25,029 20,310 13,039

Employees
(000s) 10,124 7,123 4,052
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Note:
(1) The operating (loss)/profit in Germany, Italy and Other Mobile Operations is stated after impairment charges of £19,400 million, £3,600 million

and £515 million, respectively.

4 Vodafone Group Plc Annual Report 2006

Edgar Filing: VODAFONE GROUP PUBLIC LTD CO - Form 20-F

15



Back to Contents

Highlights

UK US Other Mobile Operations Total Mobile

16.304 23,530 69,535 170,571

7.8% 17.0% 34.0% 18.8%

1,033 � 1,511 7,721

£24.0 $51.4 � �

20.3% 8.9% 14.3% 17.0%

5,048 � 9,250 28,137

698 1,732 2,008 (14,203)

9,486 17,898 23,937 111,722

10,620 � 22,895 57,442

Vodafone Group Plc Annual Report 2006 5
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Chairman�s Statement

Lord MacLaurin of Knebworth,
DL

It has been my privilege
to be the Chairman of a
company that has proved
to be one of the outstanding international success stories
of the last decade.
My last year as Chairman of Vodafone has been a watershed in the history of your Company. We have been undergoing significant
change whilst operating in the most challenging market environment the telecommunications sector has seen. Nevertheless, our
ability to deliver good growth in the face of increasing competition reflects the unique characteristics of our business, compared to
many other mobile operators, particularly the benefits derived from our increasing exposure to faster-growing markets and the
opportunity to generate further benefits from our scale.

We maintained strong customer growth across many of our markets and grew our proportionate mobile customer base to over 170
million, representing organic growth of 15% since last year. Importantly, we achieved our 10 million 3G target, which included
Japan, during March, which was ahead of plan.

Over the year, we have announced total returns to shareholders of £19.2 billion. We have purchased over 4.8 billion shares in the
Company at a cost of £6.5 billion and are paying out £3.7 billion in dividends for the year, including the proposed final dividend of
3.87 pence per share. We are also returning £9.0 billion to shareholders, including £6.0 billion following the sale of our Japanese
business. Full details are in the documentation accompanying this Report.

When I became Chairman in July 1998 we had fewer than 6 million customers in 12 countries producing some £2.5 billion of
turnover. In the summer of 1999, we acquired AirTouch of the US, followed in 2000 by the acquisition of Mannesmann in Germany.
This was a period of huge expansion which formed the basis of the transformation of Vodafone into the world�s leading mobile
telecommunications group that has equity interests in 26 countries across five continents with over 170 million proportionate
customers worldwide, as well as 32 partner networks, generating turnover this year from our ongoing businesses of over £29
billion. Not only have we extended our geographic reach but we have also transformed our industry by becoming a leader in
innovation, introducing groundbreaking services such as Vodafone live! with 3G, thereby setting standards for the mobile industry
as a whole. It has been a remarkable achievement.

6 Vodafone Group Plc Annual Report 2006
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However, the Group now faces many challenges, particularly of competition, regulation and new technology. During the year, we
conducted, in the face of these challenges, a review of the future growth prospects for the Group and our analysis indicated a lower
view of growth, particularly in the medium to long term, and led to an impairment of the Group�s goodwill by £23.5 billion, the
majority of which is attributable to Vodafone Germany. This charge does not impact this year�s reported cash flows or distributable
reserves, out of which we are making returns to shareholders.

However, in this challenging market the Chief Executive has spent a great deal of time reviewing the management structure and
future planning required to take the Company forward. In April he announced his new management team and in May they produced
a clear forward-looking strategy. I believe that through this statement the Chief Executive sets out a clear vision for the future. I
congratulate him on these changes and wish him and his impressive team well.

It has been my privilege to be the Chairman of a company that has proved to be one of the outstanding international success
stories of the last decade. The development and expansion of the Group has been made possible by the excellence of the
management team whose flair and vision has enabled us to identify international opportunities for profitable growth while at the
same time introducing technological advances to enhance the mobile experience for our customers.

It was announced earlier this year that Sir Julian Horn-Smith had decided to retire from the Board following the Annual General
Meeting in July. Julian has been with Vodafone for 22 years and a Board member for 10 years. He has had an outstanding career,
being a major contributor to the creation of the UK network and subsequently leading the early development of our international
presence. More recently he was Group Chief Operating Officer and then Deputy Chief Executive, with responsibility for our affiliates
and business development. I am sure all shareholders will join with me in wishing him well for the future.

Peter Bamford, Chief Marketing Officer, who left the Company in early April, was instrumental in developing our brand both within
the UK and internationally and developing a number of major initiatives, including the launch of Vodafone live! with 3G. I wish him
well and thank him for his contribution to the success of the Company.

At the AGM, we say farewell to Paul Hazen, our Deputy Chairman, who has served with distinction as a non-executive director
since 1999. We also say goodbye to Penny Hughes, a fine non-executive director for eight years and who was an exceptional
Remuneration Committee Chair for five years. Her contribution cannot be overstated. Paul and Penny leave with our best wishes.
Taking Paul�s place as Deputy Chairman and senior independent director will be John Buchanan, who has been a non-executive
director since April 2003, shortly after his retirement from BP p.l.c. I am sure that John will discharge his new duties very effectively.

During the year, we welcomed two new non-executive directors to the Board. In September, Philip Yea, Chief Executive Officer of
3i Group plc, was appointed and he was joined in November by Anne Lauvergeon, the Chairman of the Executive Board of
AREVA, the leading French energy company. On 1 May, we welcomed Anthony Watson to the Board. Until his recent retirement,
he was Chief Executive of Hermes Pensions Management Limited. I know that their collective experience in their different areas of
business will be of great benefit to the Company.

Finally I come to my own retirement. As I have said, it has been a great privilege for me to have been Chairman of a truly
outstanding British company. I have, however, been particularly saddened this year by the nature of some of the media coverage
and particularly by the suggestion of boardroom splits. There are no factions within the Board and any claim that your Board is not
united is unfounded. I leave with the knowledge that Vodafone, which is now very different to the company which I first chaired, is
well placed to continue to enjoy an exciting and profitable future. I wish Sir John Bond, my successor, Arun Sarin, your Chief
Executive, and everyone at Vodafone the very best for the future and thank you all for your support during the last eight years as
your Chairman.

Lord MacLaurin of Knebworth, DL
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Chief Executive�s Review

Arun Sarin

We delivered another set
of robust financial and
operational results amidst a
more competitive landscape
and announced returns to
shareholders over the year
of £19.2 billion.
Review of the year
We have delivered another year of robust financial performance against a backdrop of increasing competition and regulation,
meeting our expectations for revenue, EBITDA margin and free cash flow.

Proportionate customer growth was strong with nearly 22 million organic net additions in the year taking the closing proportionate
customer base to over 170 million across 26 countries. Our unrivalled presence provides the platform for the next stage of our
strategy.

These results have enabled us to significantly increase returns to shareholders. We have increased dividends per share by 49% to
6.07 pence, purchased £6.5 billion of our shares and announced a special distribution of £9.0 billion.

Financial review
Statutory revenue increased by 10% to £29.4 billion, with over 9% growth in our mobile operations. Excluding the net benefit from
acquisitions, disposals and exchange rate movements, we achieved organic revenue growth of 7% in mobile and 8% for the Group
as a whole. Strong performances in Spain and several of our emerging markets, including South Africa, Egypt and Romania,
helped offset lower growth this year in several of our more established markets. Notwithstanding this lower growth, we
outperformed substantially all of our principal competitors in our major markets on revenue and EBITDA growth.

Our focus on profitability delivered an 11% organic increase in adjusted operating profit, with 13% growth in total. The competitive
environment led to a necessary increase in net customer acquisition and retention costs but this was mitigated by our ongoing
success in delivering operating efficiencies. A key part of this growth has been the strong overall performance from our associates,
increasing by over 20% this year, and in particular from Verizon Wireless in the US, growing by nearly 28% as it consolidated its
market leadership.

Capital expenditure on fixed assets was £4.0 billion as we continue to invest in broadening our 3G presence. Free cash flow of £6.4
billion was slightly lower than last year as expected, with increases in capital expenditure and lower dividends from Verizon
Wireless offsetting an increase of £1.0 billion in net cash flow from operating activities.

Operational highlights
We have been focused on six strategic goals, including delighting our customers and leveraging scale and scope.
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A core part of delighting our customers is our 3G offering. When we launched 3G late in 2004, we targeted 10 million consumers by
the end of March 2006, including Japan. We reached this during March, shortly before we agreed to sell our Japanese operation.
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We have updated our strategy
to reflect our changing environment

3G brings an enhanced mobile experience to our customers, who want more speed, greater personalisation and richer content, and
provides the platform for our future growth. For consumers, we launched mobile TV capability during the year and will further
enhance our music offering during 2006 with the launch of Vodafone Radio DJ, a personalised, interactive radio service streamed
to both 3G phones and PCs.

For our business customers, we increased the number of mobile email solutions and range of email devices available. 3G
broadband through HSDPA technology was launched in the year offering an enhanced data experience through greater speeds
than 3G and faster access to the network. This will improve our already successful Vodafone Mobile Connect offering for laptop
users, who have more choice with mobile capability now being built in to the laptop.

Another key part of delighting our customers is measuring customer satisfaction and brand preference. With rising customer
expectations and a tougher competitive environment, we are pleased that we continue to outperform our principal competitors in
terms of customer satisfaction and that customers continue to show preference for the Vodafone brand.

The second strategic area of focus has been leveraging our scale and scope which delivers benefits through our One Vodafone
programme, details of which we set out last year.

We are beginning to deliver real benefits in network supply chain management, as standardised designs lead to a reduced number
of vendors and better terms. Our shared service platforms, which centrally host services such as Vodafone live!, are also now
established.

Our strategic goals are ultimately designed to deliver shareholder value. With respect to Japan, given the relative competitive
position of the business there, the reduced prospects for superior long term returns and an attractive offer from SoftBank, we
decided to sell our 97.7% stake based on a value for the business of £8.9 billion. The sale completed in April, with Vodafone
receiving £6.9 billion in cash, £6.0 billion of which we are returning to shareholders as part of the £9.0 billion special distribution.

Rapidly changing environment
Overall, we have performed strongly during the last year, meeting our expectations and delivering on our strategic objectives. We
have continued to outperform our principal competitors on revenue and EBITDA growth, as well as customer satisfaction. We have
established a strong brand around our customer base and increased returns to shareholders significantly. However, our
marketplace is changing and we need to change to ensure we can leverage our unique position and continue to outperform our
competitors.

There are several key drivers to the changing environment. Competition is increasing not only from established mobile operators
but also from new entrants, particularly mobile virtual network operators (MVNOs). There are also new types of competitor.
Established fixed line operators are increasingly combining fixed and mobile service offerings. In addition, internet based
companies are extending their services to include telecommunications. All of these factors are putting pressure on pricing.

The regulatory environment also remains challenging, with continued regulator-imposed rate reductions on incoming calls across
many markets, ongoing pressure to provide access to MVNOs to our networks and a high level of focus on the costs of roaming.

Developments in technology also mean that our customers have far more choice and have changing communication needs, but at
the same time they demand simplicity and value for money. In addition to the core benefits of mobility, customers want greater
personalisation, faster data speed and richer applications through services centred on the home and the office.
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Finally, our growth historically has principally come from developed markets, particularly in Europe. With average penetration now
around 100%, these markets are maturing and delivering lower growth. Whilst growth in these markets has slowed, significant
growth is now coming from emerging markets where average penetration is below 30%. This is creating greater diversity between
our markets than previously. Transactions over the last year in Turkey, South Africa, India and Romania have combined with
existing operations in markets such as Egypt to provide us now with greater exposure to this growth potential.

Developing our strategy
These factors require our strategy to evolve so that we can continue to maintain our strong performance and deliver value to
customers and shareholders. We have established five key strategic objectives:

� In Europe, to focus on both cost reduction and revenue stimulation;

� To deliver strong growth in emerging markets;

� To satisfy our customer needs and extend our current mobile only offering by innovating and delivering total communications
solutions;

� To actively manage our portfolio to maximise returns; and

� To align our financial policies regarding capital structure and shareholder returns to support our strategy.

Vodafone Group Plc Annual Report 2006 9
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continued

In order to deliver on these objectives, we have reorganised ourselves into three key business units.

In our European businesses, where competition is most intense, we will be focused on leveraging our regional scale to deliver cost
reduction and revenue stimulation.

The principal focus in the Eastern Europe, Middle East, Africa, Asia Pacific and Affiliates (EMAPA) region is to deliver strong
growth from our businesses in emerging markets.

The new objective of our third business unit, New Businesses, is to enable us to serve the total communications needs of our
customers by taking advantage of evolving technology and new opportunities to deliver new services.

Cost reduction
Our primary objective here is to leverage our regional scale and reduce our cost structure in Europe through several approaches in
order to maintain our competitiveness.

We will outsource further, particularly for IT development of billing and customer management systems, as a key means to reduce
our costs. We will also continue to drive scale benefits, either at a global level, in areas such as network supply chain management
as we achieve greater standardisation across the Group, or regionally, such as through the establishment of regional data centres
to support our European operations. As the size of the Group evolves, we need to ensure the appropriate balance between local
and group, particularly in respect of central functions, and this is expected to result in over 400 fewer group positions.

Revenue stimulation
In Europe, our customers use their mobiles on average for only four minutes a day and approximately two-thirds of voice traffic
continues to travel across fixed lines. We therefore aim to stimulate additional voice usage and substitute fixed line usage for
mobile in a way that enhances both customer value and revenue.

For our consumers, we will seek to enhance revenues by continuing to deliver innovative bundles and tariffs to stimulate usage,
building on success in areas such as 3G bundles, targeted promotions, family plans that focus on community groups and roaming
through Vodafone Passport.

We are already targeting fixed to mobile substitution in the home through offerings such as Vodafone Zuhause in Germany and
Vodafone Casa in Italy and aim to target office communications by building on our success in business with leading edge services,
such as Oficina Vodafone in Spain, and applications through the benefits of broadband.

Deliver strong growth in emerging markets
A source of growth is through emerging markets. Our focus here is to build on our strong track record of creating value in emerging
markets, having delivered strong performances over time in markets such as Egypt and South Africa. Our aim is to outperform not
only our competitors but also our acquisition business plans. For example, since we achieved control in Romania last year, the
business has performed strongly and ahead of our original expectations.

We will seek selective opportunities to increase our emerging markets footprint as well as taking opportunities to increase our
stakes in existing markets, with a view to gaining control where possible over time.

Delivering our customers� total communication needs
Customers have access to new technologies, devices and services. As a complement to mobility, they want Vodafone to provide a
number of new services within the home and the office.

Edgar Filing: VODAFONE GROUP PUBLIC LTD CO - Form 20-F

24



We will extend our reach into the home and the office to deliver richer business applications and integrated fixed and mobile
services, such as higher speed internet access. We will use technologies such as HSDPA, DSL and WiFi to do this. Later this year,
we will be enhancing our Vodafone Zuhause offering to incorporate DSL.

Developments in technology will also enable us to provide integrated mobile and PC offerings to give customers a consistent
experience whether they are at home or on the move, with core services such as VOIP and instant messaging. We also aim to
extend our business model to generate revenue from advertising in ways that customers find attractive.

We will continue to pursue a mobile centric approach, focusing on the core benefits to customers of mobility and personalisation,
and will resell fixed line technologies only according to customer needs.

Actively managing our portfolio
We seek to invest only where we can generate superior returns for our shareholders in markets that offer a strong local position,
with focus on specific geographic regions. It is our policy to apply strict investment criteria to ensure that transactions yield a return
above the cost of capital within three to five years and overall create substantial value for our shareholders. Equally, we will
consider exiting businesses which do not meet our performance requirements or provide an opportunity to create shareholder
value.

There has been much speculation about our position in the US. Verizon Wireless is the market leader on nearly all key metrics and
has significant local and regional scale, with over 50 million customers. We will always consider the most appropriate way to deliver
shareholder value. However, we expect continued strong growth in the US and are therefore happy to remain with our existing
stake.

10 Vodafone Group Plc Annual Report 2006
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We have a significant opportunity to deliver
value to both our customers and shareholders.

Financial implications
Our One Vodafone programme, which primarily has been focused on our mature mobile markets in Europe, delivers efficiencies in
operating costs, being payroll and other operating expenses, and in capital expenditures. We have previously targeted keeping
these total costs broadly stable between the 2004 and 2008 financial years, with operating costs expected to rise at a lower rate
than revenue. Through our new strategic objectives, we now expect underlying operating costs alone to be broadly stable between
the 2006 and 2008 financial years for the total of our European operations and central costs.

On the same basis, we continue to target expenditures on fixed assets to be 10% of revenue for the 2008 financial year. We also
continue to expect at least 1% additional revenue market share between the 2005 and 2008 financial years, measured against our
established principal competitors in Germany, Italy, Spain and the UK.

Our strategic changes also have implications on returns to shareholders and our capital structure. We have previously indicated an
intention to pay out approximately 50% of adjusted earnings per share for the 2007 financial year onwards. We now consider it
appropriate to target a 60% payout ratio, with effect for the full 2006 financial year, with a view to growing the dividend per share in
line with underlying earnings per share thereafter. Dividends per share have, therefore, increased by 49% to 6.07 pence for the
year.

As we enter a new phase in our development, we believe that the most appropriate capital structure, which meets the needs of
both the business and shareholders, is one that reflects a higher level of gearing. The incremental borrowing capacity this provides
enables an additional return of £3.0 billion to shareholders, which will be combined with the £6.0 billion return of cash from the sale
of Japan in early August. As a result, we do not currently plan any further share purchases or other one-off returns to shareholders.

This £9.0 billion one-off return, together with the £6.5 billion share purchase programme completed during the last year and £3.7
billion of dividends, gives an overall return to shareholders of £19.2 billion.

Prospects for the year ahead
While we are delivering on cost reduction, revenue stimulation and emerging market growth in the shorter term, the potential
benefits from serving our customers� total communications needs will materialise over a longer timeframe.

For the year ahead, we expect operating conditions to remain challenging, with a continued intense competitive environment and
further regulatory pressure, but nevertheless see continued growth in Group revenue. We are anticipating higher customer
investment, pricing pressures and further termination rate reductions to impact growth in adjusted operating profit, however
initiatives to deliver further cost efficiencies are expected to mitigate this effect.

Capital expenditure on fixed assets is expected to be in the range of £4.2 billion to £4.6 billion, higher than last year due to the
investment needs for recent acquisitions and the wider rollout of HSDPA. Free cash flow is anticipated to be in the range of £4.0
billion to £4.5 billion. Higher tax payments, including around £1.2 billion, with interest costs, from settling some long standing
disputes, increased capital expenditure and higher financing costs from our increased borrowing, are expected to offset continued
growth in underlying operating cash flows.

Executing our strategy
We have a good track record of delivering against our plans and demonstrating outperformance against the majority of our principal
competitors. However, our environment is changing and we need to adapt to ensure we continue to meet our customer needs and
deliver superior returns to shareholders.
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We have established clear strategic objectives: cost reduction and revenue stimulation in Europe; innovating and delivering total
communications solutions; delivering strong growth in emerging markets; actively managing our portfolio to maximise returns; and
aligning our financial policies to our strategy. We have reorganised the business as we begin to deliver against these objectives.

Vodafone is well placed to execute on this strategy. Our scale makes us the clear partner of choice for others and we have a track
record for innovation. We have a strong brand and an unrivalled customer reach. As customer demands evolve and technology
converges, we remain focused on the core benefits of mobility and personalisation as we seek to deliver total communications
solutions. We have a significant opportunity to deliver value to both our customers and shareholders.

On a final note, on behalf of the Board, I would like to express sincere thanks to Ian MacLaurin, who is retiring as Chairman, for his
service and support to the Company since 1997. We wish him continued success.

Arun Sarin

Chief Executive

Vodafone Group Plc Annual Report 2006 11
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Business Overview

Introduction
Vodafone Group Plc is the world�s leading mobile telecommunications company, with a significant presence in Europe, the Middle
East, Africa, Asia Pacific and the United States through the Company�s subsidiary undertakings, joint ventures, associated
undertakings and investments.

The Group�s mobile subsidiaries and joint venture in Italy operate under the brand name �Vodafone�. In the United States, the Group�s
associated undertaking operates as Verizon Wireless. During the last two financial years, the Group has also entered into
arrangements with a number of its associated undertakings and with network operators in countries where the Group does not hold
an equity stake. Under the terms of these Partner Market agreements, the Group and its Partner Markets co-operate in the
development and marketing of certain services, often under dual brand logos. This has expanded the Group�s global footprint in
Europe, Asia Pacific and, most recently, South America.

The Group provides a wide range of voice and data mobile telecommunications services, including text messages (�SMS�), picture
messages (�MMS�) and other data services, and is continually developing and enhancing service offerings, particularly through third
generation (�3G�) mobile technology which is being deployed in the majority of the Group�s operations. Services are provided to both
consumers and corporate customers, through a variety of both prepaid and contract tariff arrangements.

The Group�s mobile services are currently offered over a Global System for Mobile Communications (�GSM�) network, on which a
General Packet Radio Service (�GPRS�) service is also provided and, in certain operations, over a Wideband Code Division Multiple
Access (�W-CDMA�) 3G network. The Group�s discontinued operation in Japan operated a different technology to GSM. Where
licences have been issued, the Group has secured 3G licences in all jurisdictions in which it operates through its subsidiary
undertakings and continues to roll out mobile 3G network infrastructure. Vodafone offered 3G services in 11 of its controlled
operations at 31 March 2006.

The Group is managed and organised by business and geography. The Group has mobile and fixed line telecommunications
businesses, with the latter referred to as Other Operations. Vodafone�s principal mobile operations are located in Germany, Italy,
Spain, the UK and the US with the Group�s Other Mobile Operations covering operations in Europe, the Middle East, Africa and
Asia Pacific. In addition, there are a number of central functions which provide services to the mobile operations and allow the
Group to leverage its scale and scope and manage risk effectively. Other Operations principally consists of the Group�s controlling
interest in a fixed line telecommunications business in Germany. On 1 May 2006, changes to the organisational structure were
effected with the objective of focusing the Group�s mobile businesses according to different market and customer requirements.

The Company�s ordinary shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange and the Company�s ADSs are listed on the New York
Stock Exchange (�NYSE�). The Company had a total market capitalisation of approximately £72 billion at 26 May 2006, making it the
fifth largest company in the Financial Times Stock Exchange 100 index and the twenty second largest company in the world based
on market capitalisation at that date.

Mobile Telecommunications
Local operations
The Company has equity interests in 26 countries, through its subsidiary undertakings, joint ventures, associated undertakings and
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investments. Partner Market arrangements extend the Group�s footprint to a further 32 countries.

At 31 March 2006, based on the registered customers of mobile telecommunications ventures in which it had equity interests at that
date, the Group had approximately 170.6 million customers, calculated on a proportionate basis in accordance with the Group�s
percentage interest in these ventures, and 518.0 million registered venture customers. The table on the following page sets out a
summary of the Company�s worldwide mobile operations at 31 March 2006 and venture customer growth in the year then ended
(the �2006 financial year�).

Competition
The Group faces a high degree of competition in each of its geographic markets. It is subject to indirect competition from providers
of other telecommunications services in the domestic markets in which it operates in addition to direct competition from existing
mobile telecommunications network operators and MVNOs who do not operate a mobile telecommunications network. There are
also new types of competitors, such as fixed line operators offering combined fixed and mobile service offerings, and internet based
companies extending their services to include telecommunications. Competitive pressures have adversely impacted the level of
customer churn, although this has been managed by reductions in tariffs and a continued focus on customer acquisition and
retention initiatives.

The Group expects that competition will continue from existing operators as well as from a number of new market entrants,
including those arising following the award of new 3G licences and MVNOs. The scope of this increased competition, and the
impact on the results of operations, is discussed further in �Performance � Risk Factors, Trends and Outlook�.

Many of Vodafone�s key markets are highly penetrated with over 100% penetration rates in some, largely due to a number of
customers owning more than one subscriber identity module (�SIM�), which is, broadly, the Group�s basis for defining a customer.
The Group has estimated penetration rates at 31 December 2005 for its principal markets as follows:

Market Penetration (%)

Germany 96
Italy 122
Spain 98
UK 109
US 69

A summary of the significant mobile competitors in its markets at 31 March 2006 is also provided in the following table.

12 Vodafone Group Plc Annual Report 2006
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Summary of Group mobile telecommunications businesses at 31 March 2006(1)

Registered
Venture Venture proportionate Registered

Percentage customers(4) customer customers prepaid
Country by region(2) ownership(3) (�000) growth (%)(5) (�000)prepaid (%)(6) Names of significant mobile competitors(7)

Germany 100.0 29,191 7.2 29,191 53.3 E-Plus, O2 , T-Mobile
Italy(8) 76.9 24,056 6.9 18,490 92.2 TIM, Wind, 3
Spain 100.0 13,521 17.9 13,521 50.4 Amena, Telefónica Móviles, Xfera(9)
UK 100.0 16,304 6.4 16,304 61.1 Orange, O2, T-Mobile, 3, Virgin Mobile

US(10) 44.4 53,020 16.7 23,530 5.5 National operators(11): Cingular
Wireless,

Sprint Nextel, T-Mobile

Other mobile
operations
Subsidiaries
Albania 99.9 773 19.1 772 96.8 AMC
Australia 100.0 3,177 16.3 3,177 74.0 Optus, Telstra, 3
Czech Republic 100.0 2,214 � 2,214 47.5 T-Mobile, Eurotel Praha
Egypt 50.1 6,615 59.9 3,314 90.4 MobiNil
Greece 99.8 4,479 11.9 4,471 66.4 Cosmote, Q-Telecom, TIM
Hungary 100.0 2,063 18.9 2,063 68.9 Pannon GSM, T-Mobile
Ireland 100.0 2,075 6.3 2,075 73.7 Meteor, O2, 3
Malta 100.0 175 4.8 175 89.8 Go Mobile
Netherlands 99.9 3,913 3.2 3,909 52.4 KPN Mobile, Orange, T-Mobile, Telfort(12)
New Zealand 100.0 2,068 9.4 2,068 77.6 Telecom
Portugal 100.0 4,276 19.2 4,276 79.7 Optimus, TMN
Romania 100.0 6,384 27.1 6,384 64.9 Orange, Cosmorom, Zapp

TOTAL 38,212 28.8 34,898 71.8

Other joint ventures
Fiji 49.0 206 32.9 101 94.0 �

India 10.0 19,579 � 1,958 82.8 Hutch, Idea, BSNL/MTNL, Reliance
Infocom,

Tata Teleservices
Kenya 35.0 3,944 56.9 1,380 98.2 Celtel(13)
Poland 19.6 9,779 32.9 1,918 56.5 Orange, ERA
South Africa(14) 49.9 23,520 51.9 10,968 89.5 Cell C, MTN

TOTAL 57,028 123.6 16,325 82.2

Other associates
and investments
Belgium 25.0 4,338 1.0 1,085 57.7 BASE (KPN), Mobistar (Orange)

China 3.3 260,645 20.9 8,523 76.0 China Netcom, China Telecom, China
Unicom

France 44.0 17,282 8.2 7,612 44.0 Bouygues, Orange
Switzerland 25.0 4,370 10.2 1,092 39.0 Orange, Sunrise, Tele2
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TOTAL 286,635 19.5 18,312 73.2

GROUP TOTAL 517,967 24.2 170,571 65.9

Notes:
(1) The above information is presented for continuing operations only. Japan is classified as a discontinued operation and had 15,210,000 venture

customers and14,858,000 registered proportionate customers at 31 March 2006.
(2) All controlled networks and the jointly controlled network in Italy operate under the Vodafone brand, with the exception of Vodafone Romania,

which operates under the dual brand Connex Vodafone. Networks in which the Company does not have a controlling interest operate under the
following brands: Belgium � Proximus; China � China Mobile; Fiji � Vodafone; France � SFR; India � Airtel; Kenya � Safaricom; Poland � Plus GSM;
South Africa � Vodacom; Switzerland � Swisscom Mobile; US � Verizon Wireless.

(3) All ownership percentages are stated as at 31 March 2006 and exclude options, warrants or other rights or obligations of the Group to increase
or decrease ownership in any venture as detailed in �Financial Position and Resources � Liquidity and Capital Resources � Option agreements�
Ownership interests have been rounded to the nearest tenth of one percent.

(4) See page 49 for a definition of a customer.
(5) Venture customer growth is for the year to 31 March 2006.
(6) Prepaid customer percentages are calculated on a venture basis at 31 March 2006.
(7) Includes significant MVNOs which do not operate a mobile telecommunications network.
(8) Vodafone Italy is a joint venture.
(9) Licensed network operator, scheduled to commence commercial service during the 2007 financial year.
(10) The Group�s ownership interest in Verizon Wireless is 45.0%. However, the Group�s proportionate customer base has been adjusted for Verizon

Wireless�s proportionate ownership of its customer base across all its network interests of approximately 98.6%, at 31 March 2006. In the
absence of acquired interests, this proportionate ownership will vary slightly from period to period depending on the underlying mix of net
additions across each of these networks.

(11) This is not a full list of US network operators. In the United States, in addition to the national operators shown, there are several regional and
numerous local operators.

(12) Telfort was acquired by KPN Mobile during the financial year but still operates its own network.
(13) The Kenyan Government has awarded a third licence but the operator had not commenced service at 30 May 2006.
(14) On 20 April 2006, the Group�s ownership percentage increased to 50%.
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Partner Markets
Partner Markets are operations in which the Group has entered into a partnership agreement with a local mobile operator, enabling
a range of Vodafone�s global products and services to be marketed in that operator�s territory. The Group�s Partner Market strategy
enables the Group to implement its global services in new territories, extend its brand reach into new markets and create additional
revenue without the need for equity investment.

Similar agreements also exist with a number of the Group�s associated undertakings.

Details of the partnership agreements in place as at 31 March 2006 are provided on the Group�s website.

Licences and network infrastructure
Licences
The Group is dependent on the licences it holds to operate mobile telecommunications services. Further detail on the issue and
regulation of licences can be found in �Regulation�. The table below summarises the significant licences held by the Group�s mobile
operating subsidiaries and the Group�s joint venture in Italy:

Date of
Country by Licence Licence expiry Network commencement of
region type date type commercial service

Germany 2G December 2009 GSM/GPRS June 1992
3G December 2020 W-CDMA February 2004

Italy 2G January 2015 GSM/GPRS December 1995
3G December 2021 W-CDMA February 2004

Spain 2G July 2023(1) GSM/GPRS October 1995
3G April 2020 W-CDMA February 2004

UK 2G See note(2) GSM/GPRS December 1991
3G December 2021 W-CDMA February 2004

Other mobile operators
Albania 2G June 2016 GSM August 2001
Australia 2G June 2017(3) GSM/GPRS September 1993

3G October 2017 W-CDMA October 2005
Czech Republic 2G November 2020 GSM/GPRS March 2000

3G February 2025 W-CDMA See note(4)

Egypt 2G May 2013 GSM/GPRS November 1998
Greece 2G September 2012 GSM/GPRS July 1993

3G August 2021 W-CDMA July 2004
Hungary 2G July 2014(5) GSM/GPRS November 1999

3G December 2019 W-CDMA December 2005
Ireland 2G December 2014 GSM/GPRS March 1993

3G October 2022 W-CDMA May 2003
Malta 2G September 2010 GSM/GPRS July 1997

3G August 2020 W-CDMA –
Netherlands 2G February 2013(1) GSM/GPRS September 1995

3G December 2016 W-CDMA February 2004
New Zealand 2G See note(6) GSM/GPRS July 1993

3G March 2021(6) W-CDMA August 2005
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Portugal 2G October 2006 GSM/GPRS October 1992
3G January 2016 W-CDMA February 2004(7)

Romania 2G December 2011 GSM/GPRS April 1997
3G March 2020 W-CDMA April 2005

Notes:
(1) Date relates to 1800MHz spectrum licence. Vodafone Netherlands and Vodafone Spain also have separate 900MHz spectrum licences

which expire in March 2010 and February 2020, respectively.
(2) Indefinite licence with a one year notice of revocation.
(3) Date refers to 900MHz spectrum licence. Various licences are held for 1800MHz licences, which are issued by specific regional regulators.

The earliest expires in June 2013 and the latest in March 2015.
(4) Planned for the 2007 financial year.
(5) There is an option to extend this licence for seven years.
(6) Vodafone New Zealand owns three GSM 900 licences (2x21MHz) and one GSM1800 licence (2x15MHz). The GSM900 licences expire in

November 2011, July 2012 and September 2021. The GSM1800 licence expires in March 2021.
(7) Portugal launched the Vodafone Mobile Connect 3G/GPRS data card in February 2004, and the launch of 3G voice services took place in

May 2005.
Mobile network infrastructure
Network infrastructure is fundamental to the Group being able to provide mobile services. The mobile network enables the Group�s
customers to place and receive voice calls and allows the Group to provide other services, such as text messaging.

When a voice call or data transmission is made on a mobile device, voice or data is sent from the device and transmitted by low
powered radio signals to the nearest base station, which in turn is connected to the Group�s network. Each base station provides
coverage over a given geographic area, often referred to as a cell. Cells can be as small as an individual building or as large as 20
miles across. Each cell is equipped with its own radio transmitter and receiver antenna. This network of cells provides, within
certain limitations, coverage over the service area. When a customer using a mobile device approaches the boundary of one cell,
the mobile network senses that the signal is becoming weak and automatically hands over the call to the transmission unit in the
next cell into which the device is moving.

If the voice call or data transmission is intended for delivery to another device which is not on the Vodafone network, the
information is delivered through a public or private fixed line telephone network or the internet.

In a second generation (�2G�) network, each cell contains a base station using a number of radio frequencies or channels. A group of
base stations is connected to a base station controller, which in turn is connected to a mobile switching centre and then via a
gateway support node for access to a fixed line network or the internet.

In a 3G network, voice or data traffic is passed through a node B, being similar to a base station in a 2G network, to a radio network
controller, which is then connected to a mobile switching centre, similar to a 2G network.

Base stations and node Bs form a core element of a mobile network and an insufficient number of base stations can result in loss
of service for customers. In addition, the correct deployment of the right base stations is instrumental in achieving the network
quality and coverage that are crucial to customer satisfaction.

2G
Vodafone operates 2G networks in all its mobile operating subsidiaries, principally through GSM networks, offering customers
services such as voice, text messaging and basic data services. In addition, all of the Group�s controlled networks, with the
exception of Albania, operate GPRS, often referred to as 2.5G. GPRS allows mobile devices to be used for sending and receiving
data over an internet protocol (�IP�) based network, enabling wireless access to data networks like the internet.

The GPRS data service offering includes internet and e-mail access allowing the customer to be always connected at download
speeds slightly below a dial-up modem. Vodafone also offers a great variety of services on its Vodafone live! portal, such as picture
and video messaging, download of ringtones, news and many other services.

3G
Vodafone�s 3G networks, operating the W-CDMA standard, provide customers with mobile broadband data access, allowing data
download speeds of up to 384 kilobits per second (�kbps�), which is up to seven times faster than a dial-up modem. Vodafone has
expanded its service offering on 3G networks with high speed internet and e-mail access, video telephony, full track music
downloads, mobile TV and other data services in addition to existing voice and data services.

The Group has secured 3G licences in all jurisdictions in which it operates through its subsidiary undertakings and in which such
licences have been awarded to date, as well as in Italy through its joint venture. Vodafone expects to participate in additional 3G
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licence allocation procedures in other jurisdictions in which it operates. No assurances can be given that the Group will be
successful in obtaining any 3G licences for which it intends to apply or bid.

Roll out of the 3G network infrastructure has continued throughout the 2006 financial year across the Group�s mobile operations,
with additions to property, plant and equipment and computer software amounting to approximately £4.0 billion during the financial
year, including approximately £1.1 billion expenditure on 3G network infrastructure. By the end of March 2006, over 33,000 node
B�s were in operation in the Group�s controlled operations and the Group�s joint venture in Italy. In many of the Group�s markets,
Vodafone has achieved the leading position on 3G coverage and quality of service.
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High Speed Downlink Packet Access (�HSDPA�)
After successful field tests, Vodafone has started to upgrade existing 3G networks with HSDPA.

HSDPA enables data transmission speeds of up to two megabits per second (�Mbps�) in the first phase, with up to 14.4 Mbps
achievable with later releases. This will provide customers with faster access speeds than experienced on existing 3G networks.

HSDPA is enabled through the deployment of new software in the 3G radio network and expanding the processing capabilities of
the node B. Significant performance benefits are achieved by using mechanisms that use the radio interface more effectively and
are further adapted to �bursty� packet based data traffic using IP. A Vodafone Mobile Connect data card which supports HSDPA is
available commercially, and compatible Vodafone live! handsets will be launched in the summer of 2006.

HSDPA has been launched commercially by a number of the Group�s mobile operations, including Germany and Portugal, and will
be launched by other operating companies in the Group during the 2007 financial year.

While HSDPA focuses on downlink (network to mobile), Vodafone is also working on improving the data speeds in the uplink
(mobile to network) to achieve speeds of up to 384kbps.

Global services
Supply chain management
Handsets, network equipment, marketing and IT services account for the majority of Vodafone�s purchases, with the bulk of these
purchases from global suppliers. The Group�s Global Supply Chain Management (�GSCM�) team is responsible for managing most of
the Group�s relationships with these suppliers.

As GSCM has expanded its scope of activities, Vodafone has seen significant progress in reducing per unit capital and operational
expenditures, by leveraging the Group�s scale.

GSCM works with more than 250 strategic suppliers. A consistent supplier performance management process has been
implemented across the Group�s mobile operations and Vodafone is actively managing a growing number of key suppliers in this
way. Key suppliers are evaluated across six areas, covering aspects of financial stability, technological and commercial criteria,
delivery and quality management requirements and corporate responsibility. This process is also being applied to consider
relationships with new suppliers, and recently several Chinese suppliers have been qualified for business through GSCM�s China
Sourcing Initiative.

GSCM also strives to identify best practice across the Group�s mobile operations with the aim of harmonising business processes,
which will bring the benefits of further reducing procurement costs and reducing time to market.

Global suppliers are required to comply with the Group�s Code of Ethical Purchasing which sets out the labour and environmental
standards the Group expects suppliers to meet. The Code is based on the Group�s values and international standards, including the
Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the International Labour Organisation Conventions on Labour Standards.

A business-to-business electronic commerce strategy is currently being implemented to further increase transparency and control.
In the 2006 financial year, purchases of more than £0.8 billion have been effected through e-auctions, driving significant cost
savings.

More recently, a global demand management application has been implemented as part of the One Vodafone programme. This
web-based application has been developed to provide improved co-ordination of the global purchase of handsets, providing
benefits such as the reduction of inventory and obsolescence risk, improved availability and improved effectiveness to allow the
Group to respond better to market changes.

It is the Group�s policy to agree terms of transactions, including payment terms, with suppliers and it is the Group�s normal practice
that payment is made accordingly. The number of days outstanding between receipt of invoices and date of payment, calculated by
reference to the amount owed to suppliers at the year end as a proportion of the amounts invoiced by suppliers during the year,
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was 36 days (2005: 35 days) in aggregate for the Group.

Products and services
Voice services
Revenue from voice services makes up the largest portion of the Group�s revenue and the Group is undertaking a wide range of
activities to encourage growth in the usage of these services. In increasingly competitive local markets where value for money is an
important consideration, improving use of existing products and developing a range of new offerings for customers has helped the
Group to continue to grow total voice revenue.

Value for money is an important factor for customers when choosing a mobile phone network and is also important in encouraging
usage of services whilst maximising revenue and margins. Two main charging or payment models exist in the mobile market �
contract and prepaid. Contract customers are usually governed by a written contract and credit facilities are granted to them to
enable access to mobile network services. In most cases, contracts have a term of 12 to 24 months with monthly payments for
services and, in many of the Group�s mobile operations, the option of purchasing a subsidised handset. A prepaid customer pays in
advance in order to gain access to voice and other services. The take-up of these models in the markets in which the Group
operates varies significantly, from the US, where the vast majority of customers are on contract plans, to Italy and Egypt, where the
market is predominantly prepaid.

The Group has made pricing more customer friendly and value inclusive in a number of its mobile operations. In many cases, these
new price structures include large minute bundles that allow customers to talk more for longer. These larger bundle packages and
promotions have driven significant usage growth in many of the markets in which the Group operates, although the price per minute
is falling across most markets.

Revenue is generated by incoming as well as outgoing calls. Interconnect revenue is received when a customer of a fixed line or
other mobile operator network calls a Vodafone customer. Approximately a fifth of mobile voice revenue is derived from incoming
calls.

The Group continues to invest in providing enhanced network coverage for services in response to Group-wide customer feedback.
In parallel, the Group is improving network service quality to ensure that customers can use their mobile phone whenever and
wherever they want.

Social products
Work has continued this year on making mobile services more accessible to people with special communication needs. Vodafone
has undertaken significant research to better understand the levels of exclusion relating to use of mobile technology, which is
helping to inform relevant areas of the business.

A new Social Investment Fund has been formed to provide incremental resources going forward and to seed initiatives that can
demonstrate high social value. One of the initiatives likely to benefit from this is M-pesa, an innovative mobile micro-finance service
now on trial in Kenya. This service, run in conjunction with a local bank and Vodafone�s Kenyan joint venture, Safaricom, enables
customers to move money in and out of accounts, between other customers and to withdraw cash, all using secure mobile
messaging.

Non-voice services
Messaging services
All of the Group�s mobile operations offer SMS, which allows customers to send and receive text messages using mobile handsets
and various other devices. SMS usage continued to grow in the 2006 financial year and is the largest contributor to total messaging
revenues. MMS, which offers customers the ability to send and receive multiple media, such as pictures, music, sound, video and
text, to and from other compatible devices is also available in all Group mobile operations, with the exception of Albania. MMS has
enjoyed strong revenue growth in the 2006 financial year across the Group.

Vodafone�s mobile instant messaging service (�Vodafone Messenger�) was re-launched during November 2005 in Italy, Spain and
the Netherlands and is currently available in 11 countries. The service has full compatibility with Microsoft�s MSN Messenger in
order to address growing customer needs for instant communications.

Vodafone live!
Vodafone live!, the Group�s integrated communications and multimedia proposition initially launched in October 2002, has continued
to grow strongly. The proposition, targeted primarily at the young adult (�young active fun�) segment, has been launched in four new
markets since 31 March 2005, bringing the total number of countries now offering Vodafone live! to 24. The new markets added in
the 2006 financial year were Luxembourg, Iceland, Cyprus and South Africa. At 31 March 2006, there were 27.1 million Vodafone
live! active devices on the Group�s controlled and jointly controlled networks, with an additional 5.9 million devices connected in the
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Vodafone has continued to develop the Vodafone live! proposition by offering a new range of services, content, handsets and
tariffs. The design of the Vodafone live! portal, through which customers can access a range of online services � including games,
ringtones, news, sports and information � is being continually enhanced to provide richer content and to make it easier for customers
to find and purchase content.

The important ringtones market has continued to develop with mass market adoption of �real-tones� where customers are able to
purchase samples of real music recordings as ringtones from artists signed to labels including EMI, Sony BMG Music
Entertainment, Universal Music and Warner Music.

Tariff structures have been updated, with a range of messaging and content based bundles now available to customers. These
have delivered improved customer value, particularly when offered in conjunction with a handset purchase. In addition, browsing
charges for accessing the mobile internet have been simplified in many markets, making it more attractive for customers to browse
the web using their mobile phones.

23 new 2.5G phones have been added to the Vodafone live! portfolio in the 2006 financial year, with an increased emphasis on
exclusive and customised devices. The new handsets have offered improved camera capabilities, better connectivity, with a
significant proportion of devices now offering �Bluetooth� (a wireless link function), and increased memory card storage to enable
customers to save content on their devices.

Throughout the 2006 financial year, Vodafone has continued to develop standards in the areas of terminals, platforms, games,
digital rights management and MMS. These initiatives are expected to lead to increased speed to market and better services for
customers.

Vodafone live! with 3G
In November 2004, the Group launched Vodafone live! with 3G across 13 markets, with an initial portfolio of 10 devices. Vodafone
live! with 3G is now available in 10 controlled markets, two joint venture markets, three associated company markets and three
Partner Markets. At 31 March 2006, there were 7.1 million devices registered on the controlled and jointly controlled networks
capable of accessing the Vodafone live! with 3G portal, and the portfolio of Vodafone live! with 3G devices had expanded to 35. 17
new 3G phones have been added to the portfolio during the 2006 financial year.

An enhanced mobile experience gives Vodafone live! with 3G customers access to a range of high quality content and
communication services. Vodafone live! with 3G customers can now experience news broadcasts, sports highlights, music videos,
movie trailers and other video content at a quality approaching that of digital television.Vodafone continues to work with leading
content partners, including HBO, Eurosport, MTV, UEFA Champions League, Fox and Discovery, to enhance the mobile TV and
film content offering. The wide bandwidth of 3G supports access to sophisticated 3D games and the portfolio of mobile games is
continually expanding.

The 3G service also supports full track music downloads which allow customers to use their phone to listen to music, choosing from
a range that currently includes more than 600,000 music tracks. Vodafone has secured music from some of the world�s greatest
artists through agreements with EMI, Sony BMG Music Entertainment, Universal Music, Warner Music and other independent
record labels. Using the 3G service, customers can also download live performance videos and stream clips direct to their mobiles.

In the coming year, Vodafone will continue to enhance the music offering with the introduction of Vodafone Radio DJ, a
personalised, interactive radio service streamed to both 3G phones and PCs. Customers will have access to hundreds of
thousands of tracks and will be able to personalise radio channels to their taste. This service will be offered on a monthly
subscription, giving unlimited listening time, and is due for release in more than 20 countries over the next year.

In February 2006, a deal was signed with Google giving Vodafone customers access to the Google search engine via the Vodafone
live! portal. The addition of the Google search engine (to be available from October 2006) will help customers access content more
easily both on-portal and on the wider �mobile internet�. The agreement also sees the introduction of a new advertising based
revenue stream to Vodafone live! by incorporating relevant sponsored links within customer search results. The partnership
provides a future framework for other innovative collaborations between Vodafone and Google, bringing new opportunities to
further expand consumer offerings by incorporating other existing Google products.
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Content standards
Vodafone has continued to provide a leadership role in content standards with the launch of a global access control programme
and an off-net filter. The access control programme demonstrates Vodafone�s commitment to deliver content responsibly and
provides the capability for parents to restrict access to content that may be inappropriate for younger users. Ensuring that the
mobile needs of parents and their children are satisfied will remain a priority during the 2007 financial year.

As new media channels evolve, a number of Vodafone initiatives are designed to ensure protection for our customers from
inappropriate content, contact and commercialism. These include providing supporting guidelines around the marketing of content
to customers, signing up to the codes of practice on spam content and the development of editorial guidelines to provide more
robust parental controls.

Vodafone Mobile Connect data cards
First launched in April 2003, the Vodafone Mobile Connect data card provides simple and secure access to existing business
information systems such as email, corporate applications, company intranets and the internet for customers on the move. Access
speeds vary depending on which technology the data card is using but typically ranges from 384 kbps when connected to a 3G
network up to 1.2 Mbps when connected to a network enabled with HSDPA technology. The Vodafone Mobile Connect with 3G
broadband data card, which utilises HSDPA technology, has been launched in five markets, with other markets to follow during the
2007 financial year.

The Vodafone Mobile Connect 3G/GPRS data card has now been rolled out across 11 controlled markets, two joint venture
markets, three associated companies markets and ten Partner Markets. Vodafone Mobile Connect data cards are available in an
increasing number of distribution channels.

During the 2006 financial year, Vodafone announced the launch of built-in 3G broadband connectivity with Acer, Dell and Lenovo
notebooks. The roll out of the notebooks will further enhance the choices available to Vodafone customers for high speed mobile
working.

The product portfolio was enhanced during the financial year with the launch of an EV-DO data card allowing customers to connect
with Verizon Wireless� high speed data network whilst travelling in the US. In addition, Vodafone also launched a 3G router in
conjunction with Cisco and Linksys, which enables mobile connectivity for groups of employees.

At 31 March 2006, there were 0.7 million registered Vodafone Mobile Connect data cards in the Group�s controlled and jointly
controlled markets.

Vodafone Wireless Office
Vodafone Wireless Office offers companies the opportunity to reduce the number of fixed desk phones they have and facilitates the
move of voice minutes from the fixed to the mobile network through a solution that includes elements that can match or better fixed
line call costs, desk phone functionality and user experience. A closed user group tariff, allowing employees to call each other for a
flat monthly fee, is a key part of the offer. Another optional element allows a customer to control their mobile phone from their PC or
laptop.

At 31 March 2006, Vodafone Wireless Office was available in 14 markets and had over 1.5 million customers.

Other business services
Beyond the wireless enablement of notebook computers, there is an increasing demand for handheld solutions that allow real-time
access to email, calendar, contact and other applications. During 2004, Vodafone launched its BlackBerry® from Vodafone
proposition, which is now available in 11 controlled markets, two joint venture markets, three associated company markets and nine
Partner Markets.

There were 0.4 million BlackBerry from Vodafone customers on the Group�s controlled and jointly controlled networks as at 31
March 2006.

On 21 April 2005, the Group announced the roll out of Vodafone Push email, a service providing real-time, secure and remote
access to email, contacts and calendar direct to a range of business-focused mobile devices. The service has been rolled out in six
controlled markets, one joint venture market, two associated company markets and two Partner Markets. At 31 March 2006, the
service was supported by ten global devices and a varied number of local devices in the controlled markets.
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Roaming services
When travelling abroad roaming allows mobile phone users to make and receive calls using another mobile network in the visited
country. The Group continued to expand its roaming coverage and services during the 2006 financial year. The focus of the year,
however, was to provide reduced, clearer and easier to understand prices to our customers under the Vodafone Travel Promise
roaming campaign launched in May 2005.

On 8 May 2006, the Group announced that average European roaming costs for Vodafone customers will be cut by at least 40% by
April 2007, when compared to the period from June to August 2005. This is expected to benefit over 30 million Vodafone customers
who roam every year, and will see the average cost of roaming in Europe fall from over 90 eurocents per minute to less than 55
eurocents per minute. The average
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saving was determined by calculating the expected cost per minute for all Vodafone�s European customers who roam within the EU
during the month of April 2007 and comparing this to the average cost per minute for all European customers who roamed within
the EU during the period from June to August 2005 (see �Regulation�).

Vodafone also announced that it will enter into reciprocal wholesale arrangements with any other European operator at no more
than 45 eurocents per minute for voice calls within the EU from October 2006. This will enable both Vodafone and other European
mobile operators to continue to lower the cost of roaming to customers outside of their own networks.

Vodafone Passport
Vodafone Passport introduced a new roaming pricing architecture for calls made on Vodafone and Partner Networks, enabling
customers to �take their home tariff abroad�. The Vodafone Passport price architecture offers greater price transparency and
certainty to customers when using roaming services abroad. Whilst abroad, customers can make calls using their domestic tariff, in
some cases including free minute bundles, and receive calls at no charge � for a one-off connection fee per call.

Vodafone Passport is now available in 10 controlled markets, one joint venture market, one associated company market and one
Partner Market. By 31 March 2006, the service had attracted 5.6 million customers in the Group�s controlled and jointly controlled
operations and a further 0.4 million customers in one of the Group�s associated undertakings and a Partner Market. Results show
that on average, customers are both talking more and paying less per call when abroad. In addition, Vodafone�s cost per minute for
roaming customers fell by over 30% from summer 2004 compared with summer 2005.

Wholesale strategy
During the year, the commercial management of the Group�s business with its main roaming partners has been consolidated in
order to better leverage the scale and scope of the Group�s branded footprint. This arrangement has successfully secured a number
of important wholesale roaming discount agreements with other networks on behalf of the Group. These provide cost structures
that support the development of our roaming customer propositions, promote the mutual development of roaming services with our
Partner Markets, and deliver significant cost savings.

Managed roaming, the network technology that automatically directs Vodafone customers to the networks of Partner Markets, is
now operating in ten markets, delivering a strong Vodafone customer experience and allowing the Group to benefit from an
improved cost structure.

Data propositions
Several actions were taken to complement Vodafone Passport by providing simplicity, price predictability and value for money
across data services. Vodafone Group took the initiative to reduce substantially � up to 66% in some markets � the cost per megabyte
for standard data usage across its controlled markets. This move was followed by most joint ventures, associated companies and
Partner Markets, enabling customers to benefit from a conveniently priced data platform across a wide footprint of 30 markets.

In addition, after pioneering flat monthly data roaming tariffs with its BlackBerry from Vodafone offer in 2004, Vodafone launched a
monthly bundle for its Vodafone Mobile Connect 3G/GPRS data card in August 2005, which eliminated price uncertainty and further
reduced the nominal cost per megabyte by over 80%. This has significantly increased usage and contributed to the revenue growth
in data services seen over the 2006 financial year.

Vodafone Simply
The Vodafone Simply proposition, launched in May 2005, is predominantly targeted at the adult personal user segment. The
integrated proposition has been developed to help customers who are less comfortable with mobile technology but would still like to
access the mobile experience. The proposition includes exclusively developed, �easy to use� mobile phones with uniquely developed
user interfaces accompanied with tariff plans and a tailored retail and customer support experience.

At 31 March 2006, Vodafone Simply was available in a total of 17 markets, with 0.4 million Vodafone Simply enabled devices
registered on the Group�s controlled and jointly controlled networks.
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Marketing and brand
Brand
Brand marketing focuses on defining a superior, consistent and differentiated experience for our customers. A programme has
been undertaken to identify the heart of the Vodafone brand, that is, Vodafone�s brand essence � which evokes passion,
dependability and a constant striving for improvement. The brand essence has been used to bring the Vodafone brand to life for
Vodafone employees, so that they can do the same for customers in every interaction.

Customer communications
Communication to drive brand preference and service usage is facilitated through various integrated advertising media including
radio, television, print and outdoor sites. Global advertising has been developed to communicate the brand essence and to drive
revenue growth by encouraging our customers to �make the most of Now�. Advertising is supported by strong sponsorship
relationships, such as those with Ferrari and the UEFA Champions League, which have global exposure and allow for benefits to
be realised at the local level. Media activity is based on customer insight, and is designed to ensure a consistent and effective
brand experience across Vodafone�s footprint.

Customer strategy and management
Vodafone uses a customer management system called �customer delight� to measure customer satisfaction in the Group�s controlled
markets and the jointly controlled market in Italy at a local and global level. This is a proprietary diagnostic system which tracks
customer satisfaction across all the points of interaction with Vodafone, and identifies the drivers of customer delight and their
relative impact. This information is used to optimise satisfaction and maximise the financial benefit from differentiated marketing
propositions and programmes.

Distribution
The Group distributes its products and services through a wide variety of direct and indirect channels, with different approaches
used in the consumer and business sectors.

Products and services are available directly to both consumer and business customers in the majority of markets. Over 1,000
stores are directly owned and managed by Vodafone, with an additional 6,500 Vodafone branded stores. In addition, local websites
offer products and services online and local sales forces are in place to discuss terms with business customers.

The extent of indirect distribution varies between markets but may include using third party service providers, independent dealers,
agencies and mass marketing. Marketing to third party service providers includes maintaining a competitive tariff structure,
providing technical and other training to their staff and providing financial incentives for service providers, their dealers and sales
people. It also entails providing assistance on advertising campaigns and supporting the development of both specialist retail
outlets and programmes with multiple retailers.

Vodafone�s engagement with IT resellers and distributors has strengthened during the year, with global and local partnerships now
fully operational in 12 countries across the Vodafone footprint. In support of this channel capability, Vodafone has launched a
channel marketing programme to engage with the IT reseller community via the internet. The programme allows Vodafone
marketing and communication access to the IT channel and incentivisation for the sale of Vodafone data products. The programme
is operational in eight controlled markets and will be extended across the rest of the Vodafone footprint during the 2007 financial
year. This engagement with the IT channel considerably extends Vodafone�s ability to sell to small and medium enterprises and
small business customers as well as providing a key platform to support the launch of notebooks with built in 3G broadband during
the coming year.

The last few years have seen the growth of MVNOs who buy access to existing networks and re-sell them to customers under a
different brand name and proposition. Where such a relationship generates profitable use of network capacity and does not impact
the Vodafone brand, a mobile operating subsidiary may consider entering into a partnership with an MVNO.

Multinational corporates (�MNC�)
In April 2005, Vodafone launched the first global business unit aimed at serving a specific customer segment � the multinational
corporate market. The MNC business unit currently serves many of the world�s largest enterprises with a differentiated global MNC
proposition. The sales and service teams are located across the globe, aligned with the customers� locations. Customers of the
business unit also benefit from a central service unit to develop specific propositions and pricing specifically targeted to meet the
needs of a global Chief Information Officer, helping to purchase, manage, monitor and administer mobile telecommunications
centrally within a global organisation.

The Vodafone MNC unit�s initial focus is on providing consistency across Vodafone markets for existing corporate solutions,
together with dedicated global customer service and global account management. The MNC vision is �worldwide communications
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made easy for global businesses�. In the year since launch, the Vodafone MNC unit can offer a consistent BlackBerry from
Vodafone solution in 12 markets, a Master Service Agreement covering nine countries, a global helpdesk offering third line support
to the administrator of the global accounts, account and service management at a global and local level in over 20 markets with full
support from a technical team to implement existing solutions, and help develop tailored solutions.
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Summary of Group products and services
The following table summarises the availability of the Group�s most significant products and services as at 31 March 2006. Only the
markets in which Vodafone products and services are available to customers are represented below:

Vodafone
Vodafone Mobile

Mobile Connect Black-
Vodafone Connect 3G/GPRS Berry Vodafone Vodafone

Vodafone live! data data from Push Wireless Vodafone Vodafone
Country live! with 3G card card Vodafone Email Office Passport Simply

Subsidiaries(1)

Germany � � � � � � � �

Spain � � � � � � � � �

UK � � � � � � � � �

Albania * �

Australia � � � � � � �

Egypt � � �

Greece � � � � � � � � �

Hungary � * � � � � � �

Ireland � � � � � � � � �

Malta � � � � �

Netherlands � � � � � � � � �

New
Zealand � � � � � � �

Portugal � � � � � � � �

Romania �

Joint Ventures

Fiji �

Italy � � � � � � � � �

South Africa � � � �

Associates
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France � � � � � � � � �

Belgium � � � � �

Switzerland � � � � �

Partner
Markets

Austria � � � � �

Bahrain � �

Croatia � � � � �

Cyprus � *

Denmark � � �

Estonia � � �

Finland � � �

Hong Kong � �

Iceland � � � �

Kuwait �

Luxembourg � � �

Singapore * �

Slovenia � � �

Sweden � � � � � � � �

Total
markets 24 17 24 26 25 12 14 13 17

Note:
(1) The following information is presented for continuing operations only. Japan is classified as a discontinued operation.

Key:
� Available throughout the 2006 financial year
� Launched in the 2006 financial year
* Launched since 31 March 2006

One Vodafone
The One Vodafone initiatives are aimed at achieving cost savings and enhancing revenue for the Group�s controlled mobile
businesses and the Group�s jointly controlled mobile business in Italy. The Group has previously targeted that, in the 2008 financial
year, the total of operating expenses (being the aggregate of payroll and other operating expenses) and capitalised fixed asset
additions, would be broadly similar to those for the 2004 financial year, assuming no significant changes in exchange rates and
after adjusting for acquisitions and disposals.

The Group has also previously targeted mobile capitalised fixed asset additions in the 2008 financial year to be 10% of mobile
revenue as a result of the initiatives.
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Further, revenue enhancement initiatives were expected to deliver benefits equivalent to at least 1% additional revenue market
share in the 2008 financial year compared with the 2005 financial year, which the Group is measuring in Germany, Italy, Spain and
the UK against its principal competitors.

The Group has updated its One Vodafone targets to reflect both the new organisational structure and additional cost saving
initiatives.

Capitalised fixed asset additions are expected to be 10% of revenues in the 2008 financial year for the total of the Group�s Europe
region and its common functions.

The Group now expects the aggregate of payroll and other operating expenses to be broadly stable in the 2008 financial year when
compared to the 2006 financial year for the total of the Group�s Europe region and its common functions, assuming no significant
changes in exchange rates, after adjusting for acquisitions and disposals, and excluding the potential impact from its New
Businesses unit and any one off business restructuring costs.

The objective for the 2006 financial year has been to commence implementation of the plans outlined last year. Significant benefits
are expected in the 2007 financial year, with the full targets expected to be met in the 2008 financial year.

The One Vodafone programme has focused on six key initiatives, as follows:

� The network and supply chain management initiative has driven prices down over the last two years in the radio network
area through competitive bidding via e-auctions and standardising specifications for base stations, accessories and
operating costs. In core networks, the Group is advancing towards an all IP based network, thereby simplifying and reducing
the number of component parts and leading to lower costs. Through increasing the amount of self built transmission, both
through microwave links and owned dark fibre, costs are being reduced and future cost escalation will be limited as the
volume of data traffic grows.

� The service platforms initiative has created a shared service organisation to host the European development and operations
of services. The shared service organisation is now providing a hosting service for the Vodafone live! portal for seven of the
Group�s mobile operating subsidiaries, the Group�s joint venture in Italy and two Partner Markets. Other platforms are also
being migrated and new services are being implemented, for the first time, solely on the shared service platform. The
centralisation is designed not only to reduce costs but also to increase revenue through reduced time to market for new
products and services.

� The IT initiative focuses on the two areas of data centres and application development. For data centres, which host the
servers to support billing and customer relationship management systems, consolidation is underway, with migrations of all
of the Southern European, German and Dutch data centres completed in the year, and work is progressing on the UK and
Ireland data centres following the completion of the planning phase in the 2006 financial year. The remaining part of the IT
effort is focused on driving efficiencies in application development and maintenance, which will continue through to 2008 and
beyond. Activities in both these areas are enabling the Group to leverage its global purchasing power and drive operational
excellence.

� The customer management programme is focused on driving segment and value based service differentiation to improve
customer satisfaction, generate revenue and reduce churn. During the 2006 financial year, achievements included the
launch of a common customer management service strategy, the implementation of a cross operating company network of
specialised roaming customer care teams to improve service for our roaming customers and the roll out of a number of best
practice activities to a number of operating companies.

� The focus of the terminals programme is to provide an end to end process for delivering terminals to our customers, driving
benefits from scale and reduced time to market. At present, the procurement of approximately four out of five handsets in the
Group�s mobile operating subsidiaries and joint venture in Italy is negotiated globally, providing the Group with scale
advantages. In addition, complexity in handsets is being reduced by standardising components and the move to a smaller
number of technology platforms. It is expected that these activities, together with the launch of
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exclusive Vodafone branded handsets, will drive incremental revenue benefits, as well as cost savings, through reduced churn
and higher ARPU per handset.

� Finally, the focus of the roaming initiative is to transform customers� roaming experience, primarily through reducing barriers to
usage by providing better value when they travel abroad. In addition, providing the best value inter-operator tariffs and
consolidating certain roaming support activities are key goals of the programme. Vodafone Passport has been launched in 13
markets and over 6 million customers have signed up to the service at 31 March 2006. Improvements in customer satisfaction
and a higher proportion of customers roaming on to Vodafone networks have been observed.

Research and Development (�R&D�)
The Group�s R&D function comprises an international and multicultural team for applied research in mobile telecommunications and
its applications. The majority of the Group�s R&D function is undertaken through the Group�s centres of excellence, located in
Newbury, Maastricht, Munich, California, Milan and Madrid, and in an associate centre in Paris belonging to Vodafone�s associated
undertaking in France, SFR. In the 2006 financial year, the R&D Centre in Tokyo was re-absorbed into the Japanese operation and
ceased to engage in research and development for the Vodafone Group. The work of the centre in California was refocused to
activities where a presence in the US was essential in order to carry them out and the size of the centre reduced accordingly. Early
in 2006, the Group�s R&D function was given full responsibility for intellectual property across the Vodafone Group.

The Group�s R&D function provides technical leadership, and a programme of research support, into technology that will typically
start to be used in the business in three years and beyond. Governance is provided by the Group R&D Board which is chaired by
the Group R&D Director and consists of the chief technology officers from four of the mobile operating subsidiaries, together with
the heads of Future Products, Business Strategy, Terminals and Technology Development.

The Group�s R&D function focuses on applied research that is positioned between the basic research undertaken by universities
and commercial product development. The emphasis of the Group�s R&D work programme is on providing technology analysis and
vision that can contribute directly to business decisions, enabling new applications of mobile telecommunications, using new
technology for new services, and research for improving operational efficiency and quality of the Group�s networks. The work
programme is organised into technology research and application research. The technology research is concerned with core radio,
network and service enabling technologies. It includes business modelling techniques, application of social science and analysis of
disruptive technologies. The application research is concerned with developing new business applications of radio based
technologies for commercial launch. Both areas of research are directed to expanding business boundaries and opportunities
through advances in technology, science and business practice.

The work of the Group�s R&D function is delivered through a series of programmes with a substantial number of trials,
demonstrations and protoypes. All work is set in a business and social context. There is growing emphasis on work that secures
intellectual property rights or can otherwise lead to Vodafone having stronger influence on the technology it will deploy in the future.
In addition, the Group�s R&D function provides leadership for funding research into health and safety aspects of mobile
telecommunications and technical leadership for the Group�s spectrum strategy.

The main themes currently being researched are the evolution of 3G, new application areas for mobile communications and
convergence with the internet. The basis of the Group�s 3G radio technology is W-CDMA and enhancements to provide a higher
speed version, usually referred to as HSDPA, or High-Speed Uplink Packet Access (�HSUPA�), are currently being rolled out. The
focus over the last year has been on setting scientifically justifiable targets for the long term evolution of the 3G radio interface and
establishing these within the industry. Evolutions to the core network based on ubiquitous use of internet protocols and web
services complement this, and are leading to a convergence of internet and mobile technologies. Several internet based or
converged services have been prototyped and demonstrated within the Vodafone community. Significant R&D effort has also been
dedicated to transferring previous research results in mobile TV to the Group�s marketing and technology functions to provide the
basis for the Vodafone�s mobile TV programme. Applications of mobile telecommunications to health and well being, intelligent
transport systems and the digital home are also being researched.

Much of the work of the Group�s R&D function is done in collaboration with others, both within the Group and externally. Joint R&D
facilities have been set up with three major infrastructure suppliers. Infrastructure and handset suppliers work with the Group�s R&D
function on many of its projects, from providing equipment for trials, through coauthoring research reports, to being a partner in
some of the R&D programmes. At the more academic end of the spectrum of applied research, the Group�s R&D function continues
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to develop relationships with a number of universities. These relationships include sponsoring research students, collaboration in
European research activities, funding specialised research centres and working with Vodafone funded chairs and readerships. This
year, the Group�s R&D function hosted an Academic Conference where

it brought together its academic partners to consolidate its academic research programme.

The R&D programme provides the Group with long term technical policy, strategy and leadership, as well as providing technical
underpinning for the Group�s public policies and government relations, and is shared with all of the Group�s mobile operations and
common functions. They are able to influence the programme through working relationships that are designed to allow delivery of
the results of the programme directly into the business units where they are needed.

The Group expensed £206 million in the 2006 financial year on R&D, compared with £198 million in the 2005 financial year, and
capitalised development costs of £10 million (2005: nil). Besides the core R&D outlined above, this expenditure was incurred
principally on developing new products and services, billing systems and network development.

Non-mobile Telecommunications
The Group�s non-mobile telecommunications businesses comprise interests in Arcor, Neuf Cegetel and Bharti Airtel (�Bharti�),
previously named Bharti Tele-Ventures.

Arcor is the second largest fixed line telecommunications provider in Germany. Based on its own Germany-wide voice and data
network, Arcor offers its customers a range of services for voice and data transfer, with a focus on direct access based broadband
and internet protocol enabled virtual private network (�IP-VPN�) products. The Group�s ownership interest in Arcor is 73.7% and it is
accounted for as a subsidiary.

The merger of Cegetel and Neuf Telecom completed on 22 August 2005, creating the leading alternative operator for fixed
telecommunication services in France, offering a wide range of fixed line telephone services to residential and business customers
as well as special corporate services ranging from internet and customer relations management to internet and intranet hosting
services. The new entity, Neuf Cegetel, has the largest alternative broadband network in France, with 70% population coverage.
The Group�s indirect ownership interest in Neuf Cegetel is 12.4% and it is accounted for as an associated undertaking. In May
2006, the Group�s indirect ownership interest increased to 15.4%.

Bharti is an Indian based mobile fixed line telecommunications operation with three strategic business units: mobility, enterprise
services and broadband. The Group�s ownership interest in Bharti is 10% and it is accounted for as a joint venture.

History and Development of the Company
The Company was incorporated under English law on 17 July 1984 as Racal Strategic Radio Limited (registered number 1833679),
as a subsidiary of Racal Electronics Plc, and changed its name to Racal Telecommunications Group Limited in September 1985. In
September 1988, it became Racal Telecom Limited then re-registered as Racal Telecom Plc, a public limited company. In October
1988, approximately 20% of the Company�s capital was offered to the public. The Company was fully demerged from Racal
Electronics Plc and became an independent company in September 1991, at which time it changed its name to Vodafone Group
Plc.

Between 1991 and 1999, the Group consolidated its position in the United Kingdom and enhanced its international interests
through a series of transactions. At 31 March 1999, the Group had subsidiary mobile network operating companies (�mobile
operating subsidiaries�) in six countries (the UK, the Netherlands, Greece, Malta, Australia and New Zealand), as well as equity
interests in a further seven countries, and a proportionate mobile customer base of 10.4 million.

The Group completed a number of business transactions between 1999 and 31 March 2003, which transformed the Company into
the world�s leading international mobile telecommunications company. The most significant transactions were:

� The merger with AirTouch Communications, Inc. (�AirTouch�), which completed on 30 June 1999. The Company changed its
name to Vodafone AirTouch Plc in June 1999. The combined Group had mobile operating subsidiaries in 10 countries,
(adding Sweden, Portugal, Egypt and the US) and equity interests in an additional 12 countries.

� The acquisition of Mannesmann AG (�Mannesmann�), which completed on 12 April 2000. Through this transaction the Group
acquired subsidiaries in two of Europe�s most important markets, Germany and Italy, and increased the Group�s indirect
holding in SFR, a French mobile telecommunications operator. Subsequent to the acquisition, the Group sold a number of
non-core businesses acquired as part of the Mannesmann transaction. Following approval by its shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting (�AGM�), the Company reverted to its former name, Vodafone Group Plc, on 28 July 2000.
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� The combination of the Group�s US mobile operations with those of Bell Atlantic Corporation and GTE Corporation to form
the Cellco Partnership, which operates under the name �Verizon Wireless�, on 10 July 2000. The Group owns 45% of Verizon
Wireless and accounts for it as an associated undertaking.

� The acquisition of Airtel Móvil S.A., a mobile network operator in Spain, which became a subsidiary of the Group in
December 2000.

� The acquisition of Eircell Limited, a mobile network operator in Ireland, following a public offer for shares which closed in
May 2001.

� The acquisition of the Group�s operations in Japan. The Group�s initial investment in Japan resulted from the AirTouch merger
and between the date of the merger and October 2001, the Group increased its effective interest in the Japanese mobile
telecommunications company, J-Phone Co. Ltd to 69.76% through a number of transactions. The Group also acquired a
66.7% stake in the fixed line operator, Japan Telecom Co., Ltd (�Japan Telecom�).

By 31 March 2003, the Group controlled mobile operations in 16 countries and held equity investments in mobile operations in a
further 12 countries. The proportionate mobile customer base was 119.7 million at that date.

Transactions since 31 March 2003
Acquisitions
Subsidiary undertakings
Turkey
On 13 December 2005, the Group announced it had agreed to acquire substantially all the assets and business of Telsim Mobil
Telekomunikasyon (�Telsim�) from the Turkish Savings Deposit and Investment Fund. The transaction was completed on 24 May
2006, with cash paid of $4.67 billion (£2.6 billion). Telsim was consolidated as a subsidiary undertaking from that date.

Czech Republic and Romania
On 31 May 2005, the Company announced that its wholly owned subsidiary, Vodafone International Holdings B.V., had completed
a transaction with Telesystem International Wireless Inc. of Canada to acquire:

� 79.0% of the share capital of MobiFon S.A. (�MobiFon�) in Romania, increasing the Group�s ownership in MobiFon to
approximately 99.1%; and,

� 99.9% of the share capital of Oskar Mobil a.s. (�Oskar�) in the Czech Republic
for cash consideration of approximately $3.5 billion (£1.9 billion) which was funded from the Group�s cash resources. In addition, the
Group assumed approximately $1.0 billion (£0.6 billion) of net debt. The remaining 0.9% of MobiFon was acquired in a separate
transaction in the 2006 financial year.

On 1 February 2006, Oskar was renamed Vodafone Czech Republic.

Egypt
On 16 May 2003, the Group increased its shareholding in Vodafone Egypt from 60.0% to 67.0%. Subsequently, the Group has
reduced its effective interest in Vodafone Egypt to 50.1%. Further details are provided in �Performance � Financial Position and
Resources � Option agreements and similar arrangements� on page 42.

Greece
On 1 December 2003, following the purchase of a 9.433% stake in Vodafone Greece from Intracom S.A., the Group announced a
public offer for all remaining shares not held by the Group. As a result of the offer and subsequent market purchases, the Group
increased its effective interest in Vodafone Greece to 99.4% at 31 March 2004. The total aggregate cash consideration paid in the
2004 financial year was £815 million.

Vodafone Greece�s shares were delisted from the Athens and London Stock Exchanges on 15 July 2004 and 20 August 2004
respectively.

Edgar Filing: VODAFONE GROUP PUBLIC LTD CO - Form 20-F

50



Between 24 January 2005 and 31 March 2005, the Group acquired a further 0.4% interest in Vodafone Greece through private
transactions at a price equal to the price paid in the public offer.

Hungary
On 10 June 2003, the Group increased its stake in Vodafone Hungary to 87.9% by subscribing for Antenna�s share of an issue of �C�
shares.

In the first half of the 2005 financial year, the Group subscribed for HUF 89,301 million (£248 million) shares in Vodafone Hungary,
increasing the Group�s stake to 92.8%. On24 September 2004, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement to acquire
the remaining 7.2% shareholding from Antenna. This transaction completed on 12 January 2005 with the effect that Vodafone
Hungary became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.

Japan
During the 2004 financial year, the Group sold its interest in Japan Telecom, as described under �Disposals�. In addition, J-Phone
Co., Ltd was renamed Vodafone K.K. on 1 October 2003 and Japan Telecom Holdings Co., Ltd. was renamed Vodafone Holdings
K.K. on 10 December 2003.

On 25 May 2004, the Group�s wholly owned subsidiary, Vodafone International Holdings B.V., announced offers for the shares not
held by the Group in Vodafone Holdings K.K. and Vodafone K.K. As a result of these offers, the Group increased its effective
shareholding in Vodafone K.K. to 98.2% and its stake in Vodafone Holdings K.K. to 96.1% for a total consideration of £2.4 billion.
On 1 October 2004, the merger of Vodafone K.K. and Vodafone Holdings K.K. was completed and the Group held a 97.7% stake in
the merged company, which was renamed Vodafone K.K. Subsequently, on 1 August 2005, shares in Vodafone K.K. were delisted
from the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

Vodafone K.K was subsequently sold on 27 April 2006. Further details are provided in the section on �Disposals� below.

Malta
On 1 August 2003, the Group increased its shareholding in Vodafone Malta from 80% to 100% by purchasing Maltacom Plc�s 20%
interest in Vodafone Malta for cash consideration of €30 million.

The Netherlands
During the 2004 financial year, the Group increased its effective interest in Vodafone Netherlands to 99.9% as a result of private
transactions. The Group has exercised its rights under Dutch law and initiated compulsory acquisition procedures in order to
acquire the remaining shares. Following these procedures, Vodafone Netherlands will become a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group. Vodafone Netherlands� shares have been de-listed from the Euronext Amsterdam Stock Exchange.

Portugal
Having achieved an effective interest of greater than 90% at the start of the 2004 financial year, the Group implemented
compulsory acquisition procedures to acquire the remaining shares, which became effective on 21 May 2003, for a further
consideration of £74 million. As a result, Vodafone Portugal became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.

Sweden
Under compulsory acquisition procedures, on 15 March 2004, Vodafone Holdings Sweden AB obtained advanced access to an
aggregate of 2,377,774 shares in Vodafone Sweden, giving the Group ownership of, and title, to these shares.

On 31 March 2004, the Group increased its effective interest in Vodafone Sweden to 100% by the purchase of 1,320,000 shares
which were held in treasury by Vodafone Sweden.

Vodafone Sweden was subsequently sold on 5 January 2006. Further details are given on page 115.

UK
On 22 September 2003, the Group acquired 100% of Singlepoint (4U) Limited for a consideration of £417 million. In addition, as a
result of a recommended cash offer announced on 5 August 2003, the Group acquired 98.92% of Project Telecom plc, after the
offer was declared unconditional on 19 September 2003, and subsequently acquired the remaining 1.08% in November 2003, for a
total consideration of £164 million. These businesses have been integrated into the Group�s UK operations.
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Joint ventures
India
On 18 November 2005, the Group acquired a 5.61% direct interest in Bharti from Warburg Pincus LLC and, on 22 December 2005,
the Group acquired a further 4.39% effective shareholding in Bharti by subscribing for convertible debentures in Bharti Enterprises
Private Limited, bringing the Group�s effective shareholding in Bharti to 10.0%. Bharti is a national mobile operator in India which
also provides fixed-line services. The total consideration paid for these transactions was Rs. 67 billion (£858 million).

South Africa
On 26 January 2006, the Group announced that its offer to acquire a 100% interest in VenFin Limited (�VenFin�) had become wholly
unconditional. VenFin�s principal asset was a 15% stake in Vodacom Group (Pty) Limited (�Vodacom�) and VenFin has disposed of
substantially all of its assets other than its stake in Vodacom for a cash consideration of R5 billion (£0.5 billion) to a new company
owned by certain of the former shareholders in VenFin. At 31 March 2006, the Group held an effective economic interest in VenFin
of 98.7% and an effective voting interest of 99.3%. On 20 April 2006, the Group completed the compulsory acquisition of the
remaining minority shareholdings in VenFin, from which date the Group holds 100% of the issued share capital of VenFin. As a
result the Group holds 50% of the share capital of Vodacom.
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Associates
SFR and Cegetel
In December 2003, in order to optimise cash flows between Cegetel Group and its shareholders, SFR was merged into Cegetel
Group and this company was renamed SFR. The fixed line businesses, Cegetel S.A. and Télécom Développement, previously
controlled by SNCF, were merged to form Cegetel S.A.S. (�Cegetel�), a company in which SFR had a 65% stake, giving the Group
an effective interest of 28.5% at that date. The Group�s interest in SFR remained at approximately 43.9% as a result of this
reorganisation.

On 11 May 2005, SFR announced an agreement to merge its fixed line business, Cegetel, with Neuf Telecom, subject to
competition and regulatory authority and employee council approvals which were received, and the transaction completed, on 22
August 2005. Under the agreement, SFR purchased SNCF�s 35% minority interest in Cegetel, according to a pre-existing contract,
and then contributed 100% of the capital of Cegetel to Neuf Telecom. In return, SFR received a 28% interest in the combined
entity, Neuf Cegetel, together with a €380 million bond to be issued by Neuf Cegetel, bringing the Group�s effective shareholding in
Neuf Cegetel to 12.4%.

Disposals
During the three year period ended on 31 March 2006, the Group has also disposed of interests in a number of Group companies.

Japan
On 14 November 2003, Vodafone Holdings K.K. completed the disposal of its 100% interest in Japan Telecom. The Group ceased
consolidating the results of Japan Telecom from 1 October 2003. Receipts resulting from this transaction were ¥257.9 billion (£1.4
billion), comprising ¥178.9 billion (£1.0 billion) of cash, ¥32.5 billion (£0.2 billion) of transferable redeemable preferred equity and
¥46.5 billion (£0.2 billion) recoverable withholding tax, which was received during the 2005 financial year. In October 2004, the
preferred equity was sold to the original purchaser for ¥33.9 billion (£0.2 billion).

On 17 March 2006, the Group announced an agreement to sell its 97.7% holding in Vodafone Japan to SoftBank. The transaction
completed on 27 April 2006 for cash consideration of approximately ¥1.42 trillion (£6.9 billion) including the repayment of
intercompany debt of ¥0.16 trillion (£0.8 billion). In addition, the Group received non-cash consideration with a fair value of
approximately ¥0.23 trillion (£1.1 billion), comprised of preferred equity and a subordinated loan. SoftBank also assumed debt of
¥0.13 trillion (£0.6 billion).

Sweden
On 5 January 2006, the Group completed the disposal of its 100% interest in Vodafone Sweden to Telenor Mobile Holding AS
(�Telenor�). Net cash proceeds after assumption of net debt by Telenor were€970 million (£678 million).

Other disposals
During the 2004 financial year, the Group disposed of its interests in its associated undertakings in Mexico, Grupo Iusacell, and
India, RPG Cellular.

On 26 January 2005, the Group completed the disposal of a 16.9% stake in Vodafone Egypt to Telecom Egypt, reducing the
Group�s effective interest to 50.1%.

Regulation

Introduction
The Group�s operating companies are generally subject to regulation governing the operation of their business activities. Such
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regulation typically takes the form of industry specific law and regulation covering telecommunications services and general
competition (anti-trust) law applicable to all activities. Some regulation implements commitments made by Governments under the
Basic Telecommunications Accord of the World Trade Organisation to facilitate market entry and establish regulatory frameworks.
The following section describes the regulatory framework and the key regulatory developments in the EU and selected countries in
which the Group has significant interests. Many of the regulatory developments reported in the following section involve ongoing
proceedings or consideration of potential proceedings that have not reached a conclusion. Accordingly, the Group is unable to
attach a specific level of financial risk to the Group�s performance from such matters.

European Union
Although most Member States of the EU (�Member States�) have now implemented the EU Regulatory Framework for the
communications sector (�the EU Framework�), which was adopted in 2002, there remain both ongoing and new infringement
proceedings against a number of Member States for late or inadequate implementation.

The EU Framework consists of four principal Directives outlining matters such as the objectives to be pursued by national
regulatory authorities (�NRAs�), the way in which telecommunications operators are to be licensed, measures to be taken to protect
consumers and ensure universal provision of certain telecommunications services and the terms and basis upon which operators
interconnect and provide access to each other.

The EU Framework introduces a number of important changes to the previous framework. It is intended to align the techniques for
defining where sector specific regulation may be applied and the threshold for when such regulation can be applied with those
already employed in EU competition law. It is also intended to ensure greater consistency of approach amongst NRAs within the
Member States. All NRAs are required to take utmost account of the list of markets which are specified by the European
Commission (the �Commission�) in a Recommendation when deciding which markets to investigate. The first such Recommendation
was published by the Commission in February 2003 and includes markets at a wholesale level, for �voice call termination on
individual mobile networks� (the �call termination market�), the �wholesale national market for international roaming� (the �roaming
market�) and the wholesale market for �access and call origination� (the �access market�) on public mobile networks (together the
�relevant markets�). NRAs may, with the Commission�s consent, also propose markets not included in the Recommendation. The
Commission will periodically review the Recommendation and the Commission has said it expects to complete the first such review
by the end of 2006. This review may lead to an increase or a decrease in the number and scope of markets subject to sector
specific regulation. Changes to the Recommendation are expected to become effective at the conclusion of the review,

while any changes to the framework would become effective following their transposition into national law, from approximately 2010
onwards. So far, the Commission has signalled that only minor changes to the regulatory framework will be considered. Whether
the reviewed regulatory framework will increase or decrease the regulatory burden on the Group will depend on the changes being
adopted by the EU, the manner in which revised directives are subsequently implemented in Member States and how the revised
regulatory framework will be applied by the respective NRAs.

Regulation, under the EU Framework, can only be applied to undertakings with significant market power (�SMP�) (either individually
or collectively) in the relevant markets, subject to the Commission�s consent. SMP under the EU Framework accords with the
concept of �dominance� under existing EU competition law. This generally implies a market share of at least 40%, although other
factors may also be taken into consideration. The SMP threshold under the previous framework required only a 25% share of the
relevant market. The Commission published SMP Guidelines in July 2002, which set out principles for use by NRAs in the analysis
of markets to determine if undertakings have SMP under the EU Framework.

Spectrum
In September 2005, the Commission published proposals for spectrum reform across the EU, including proposals to allow holders
of spectrum greater flexibility on the use to which it is put, to allow holders to trade spectrum within a spectrum market and to
improve harmonisation of certain bands. The Commission has proposed that these reforms be enacted by 2010 and has
commenced a number of actions to pursue its proposals, principally through the work of the Radio Spectrum Policy Group, a
spectrum policy working group comprising the Commission and Member States.

Data retention
In 2005, the European Parliament passed a new Directive on the retention of electronic communications data for law enforcement
purposes. Member States must now proceed with national implementation. The Directive sets out the data that network operators
and service providers must store and, if requested, make available to law enforcement authorities for the purpose of the prevention,
investigation, detection and prosecution of serious criminal offences. The initial investment and recurring annual operating costs to
the Group of this data retention requirement may be material. It depends on how it is implemented nationally and the extent to
which the total of such costs are compensated.
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International Roaming
In February 2006, the Commission announced that it is proposing to enact new legislation by way of a regulation under Article 95 of
the EU Treaty (which would have immediate effect) to reduce what it considers to be excessive prices charged by mobile network
operators for international roaming services. The Commission has concluded its consultation on proposals for a regulation which it
proposed would include both retail price regulation aimed at ensuring that the costs of calls when roaming are no more than
equivalent domestic calls and the regulation of wholesale prices charged between mobile operators for roaming services.
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On 12 June 2006, the Commission announced that it had ‘fine tuned’ its proposals so as to set the maximum wholesale roaming
charge for a local call (within the visited country) at twice the average EU mobile termination rate and that the price of international
calls (from the visited country) will be set at three times the mobile termination rate. Retail prices would be capped at wholesale
rates plus an allowance for retail costs of 20-30%. These proposals are now subject to consultation within the European
Commission before being presented for consideration by the European Parliament and Member States, expected in July. The
Commission expects the regulation to become law during 2007. In July 2005, the Commission, supported by the European
Regulation Group (�ERG�), a body established under the EU Framework and comprising all EU NRA�s, also called for greater
transparency of roaming tariffs and in October 2005 launched a website to inform the public about roaming tariffs within the EU.
The website was updated in March 2006.

Anti-trust proceedings in relation to international roaming continue. In July 2004, the Commission issued a statement of objections,
a document detailing its proposed findings, following its investigation into the UK market for wholesale international roaming and, in
January 2005, the Commission issued a statement of objections following its investigation of the German market. In both cases, the
statement of objections was addressed to both the national mobile operating subsidiaries and to the Company and, in both cases,
Vodafone has responded both in writing and in oral proceedings.

The Commission�s proposed findings are that Vodafone has monopoly power over its wholesale customers in both the UK and
Germany. Vodafone UK and Vodafone Germany are alleged to have engaged in excessive or unfair pricing. The Commission
alleges that the abuse occurred from 1997 to at least September 2003 in the UK and from 2000 to December 2003 in Germany. In
the event the Commission finds that there has been a breach of competition law, it may impose a fine on any addressee who had
committed the breach.

Separately, the roaming market is one of the relevant markets in the Recommendation. In May 2005, the ERG adopted a common
position on international roaming and several NRAs have since then commenced their reviews of the roaming market but no NRA
has proposed any regulation in this market. NRAs in Finland and Italy have concluded their market analysis and found no operator
to have SMP. The French regulator has concluded that no operator has SMP in the traditional sense but has proposed an extended
definition of joint SMP which, if approved, could lead to a finding that all three French operators are jointly dominant. In addition, it
has asked the Commission to take action using instruments outside of the existing Framework.

Germany
Germany enacted a law implementing the EU Framework in June 2004. Vodafone Germany agreed to and subsequently reduced
its mobile call termination rate with Deutsche Telekom for incoming calls from Deutsche Telekom�s network in December 2004
from14.32 eurocents to 13.2 eurocents and in December 2005 to 11.0 eurocents. The NRA has found all mobile network operators
to have SMP in the call termination market and has announced that it will now propose ex-ante price regulation in the absence of
agreement to further reductions amongst the mobile network operators.

In February 2004, the NRA decided to award licences for 450MHz spectrum for the provision of public access mobile radio
services. Vodafone Germany is appealing this decision.

The NRA has concluded that it will seek to harmonise the expiry of all 2G licences in 2016 and it will extend the terms of all
licences ceasing prior to this date, including the licence held by Vodafone subject to agreement on fees. The NRA has also decided
to award certain 900MHz frequencies to O2 and EPlus. The NRA is now developing proposals to license new spectrum at 2.6 GHz,
often referred to as the 3G extension band, and is considering the auction of unused 3G spectrum at 2 GHz at the same time.

Italy
Italy enacted national law implementing the EU Framework in September 2003.

The NRA has concluded that all mobile network operators have SMP in the call termination market and has imposed obligations on
Vodafone Italy of cost orientation, non-discrimination and transparency. In September 2005, Vodafone Italy reduced its rates by
19% from 14.95 eurocents to 12.10 eurocents. The NRA foresees further reductions to 11.20 eurocents from 1 July 2006 and by
13% below the retail prices index on both 1 July 2007 and 1 July 2008. Vodafone Italy has appealed the NRA�s decision.
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The NRA concluded its review of the access market in February 2006 and found that no operator had SMP but has said it will keep
the market under review.

In March 2005, the National Competition Authority (�NCA�) in Italy conducted unannounced inspections of the offices of mobile
network operators in Italy, including Vodafone Italy, seeking evidence of collusion following complaints by resellers and potential
MVNOs about alleged anti-competitive conduct. In November 2005, Vodafone Italy received a further request for information from
the NCA. In February 2006, the NCA decided to prolong the duration of the proceeding until December 2006. If the NCA were to
decide that there had been a breach of competition law, it would be able to impose a fine on any operator who had committed the
breach.

In March 2006, the NRA published for consultation the draft analysis of the roaming market and found no operator to have SMP.

Spain
Legislation implementing the EU Framework was enacted in November 2003, and the main sections of secondary legislation were
approved during 2004 and 2005.

In September 2005, the NRA announced a 10.57% reduction in Vodafone�s mobile termination rates, which was implemented by
Vodafone Spain in November 2005. On 23 February 2006, the Spanish NRA found all mobile network operators to have SMP in
the call termination market and imposed obligations including non-discrimination, cost orientation and accounting separation on
Vodafone Spain. A further reduction in rates is expected on 1 September 2006.

In February 2006, the NRA found that the three mobile network operators held a position of joint SMP in the access markets. This
decision was reviewed by the European Commission and the NRA allowed to proceed. The NRA has decided to impose a
wholesale network access obligation at reasonable prices facilitating the entry of firms including MVNOs. Vodafone has appealed
the decision of the NRA to find Vodafone as holding SMP in the Spanish courts and has appealed the decision of the European
Commission to allow the NRA to proceed to the Court of First Instance at Luxembourg.

United Kingdom
The new Communications Act, implementing the EU Framework, was enacted in July 2003.

The NRA conducted and concluded its review of the access market and found that no operator had SMP. The NRA found that all
mobile network operators have SMP in the call termination market and required Vodafone UK to reduce its termination charge for
calls conveyed over the 2G network, with effect from September 2004, to a target average charge of 5.6 pence per minute. In
December 2005, the NRA decided to maintain this price control until 31 March 2007. The NRA has now embarked upon
consultation on proposals to regulate the call termination market in respect of calls conveyed over both 2G and 3G networks from
April 2007.

The NRA has proposed that 2G mobile frequencies will be tradable in 2007. The NRA is assessing whether holders of 2G spectrum
can use it to provide 3G services. The NRA is also consulting on a specific proposal to liberalise spectrum usage rights more
generally.

United States
The Federal Communications Commission (�FCC�), the United States� NRA, commenced a Notice of Inquiry in 2004 into the level of
termination rates charged by foreign mobile network operators to US international operators. The FCC sought inputs on the status
of foreign mobile termination rates, including actions taken to date by foreign regulators to address the issue. This proceeding
remains pending.

The NRA plans to award spectrum via auction in the 1.7 and 2.1 GHz bands beginning in June 2006.

Other Mobile Operations
Subsidiaries
Albania
In March 2006, the NRA issued for consultation to the operators its analysis of the mobile market in Albania, where the NRA
proposed to designate the mobile networks operators including Vodafone Albania as having SMP in two markets: the call
termination market and �the market of mobile services to end users�. As a result, the NRA proposes obligations of transparency,
non-discrimination and access obligations. The NRA may also impose retail price controls.
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Vodafone Albania has submitted its comments and objections on the NRA�s market analysis. In addition, Vodafone Albania has
been notified by the NCA of an investigation into alleged excessive pricing of mobile services. In May 2006, a Parliamentary
Investigation Commission was established to investigate the two mobile operators and to prepare recommendations for
liberalisation of the market.

Australia
The NCA released its final decision on the regulation of mobile termination in June 2004. In its review, it proposed that all mobile
network operators have market power with respect to mobile termination and proposed a pricing principle that requires mobile call
termination rates to fall from 21 Australian cents per minute to 12 Australian cents per minute. Vodafone Australia�s appeal of this
decision was rejected. In addition, Vodafone Australia lodged an �access undertaking� proposing alternative rates, which the NCA
has rejected. Vodafone Australia is now appealing that decision. The NCA has also received various requests for adjudication of
disputes between Vodafone Australia and certain other operators, the results of which will apply from the date the dispute was
lodged with the NCA.
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Czech Republic
In February 2005, Vodafone Czech Republic was awarded a 3G licence. There have been one or more complaints that the award
may have breached EU competition law and the Commission is investigating the award process.

In May 2005, a new law implementing the EU Framework came into effect. Mobile number portability was implemented in January
2006.

Egypt
Egypt enacted a new telecommunications law in 2003, which gave new powers to the NRA and imposed new obligations on
licensees, including obligations in relation to universal service provision. During 2004, Vodafone Egypt finalised an agreement with
the NRA that covered most of these new obligations while obtaining additional spectrum in the 1800MHz range to facilitate
business expansion.

In February 2005, the NRA announced proposals to award a third mobile licence. The licence will be technology neutral and enable
both 2G and 3G services. The licence is expected to be awarded by September 2006. The NRA is planning to negotiate the award
of 3G licences to the two existing mobile network operators by September 2006. Mobile number portability and national roaming
are expected to be implemented in Egypt by April 2007.

Greece
Greece enacted national law implementing the EU Framework in February 2006. Vodafone Greece agreed to reduce its mobile
termination rate from approximately 17.0 eurocents to 14.5 eurocents per minute on 1 October 2004. The NRA has found all firms
to have SMP in the call termination market and has developed a Long Run Incremental Cost model (�LRIC model�) to determine cost
oriented mobile call termination rates. Vodafone Greece will reduce its rate to 12.0 eurocents on 1 June 2006 and further
reductions to approximately 10.0 eurocents will be made in one or more steps prior to 1 June 2007.

In August 2005, each of the mobile network operators was fined €500,000 for failing to implement mobile number portability.

In March 2006, the three largest mobile network operators were found by the NRA to have colluded in the setting of retail SMS
prices and were fined €1 million each. Vodafone Greece has filed an administrative appeal.

In April 2005, the Council of State issued a judgement that base stations erected by mobile operators prior to August 2002 did not
meet legal requirements. The new law seeks to remedy this but also prohibits the installation of base stations in schools and
hospitals and decreases EMF exposure limits.

In March 2005, Vodafone Greece was made aware of a security issue in its network. Software foreign to the network, and capable
of performing interception, had been installed in the network without Vodafone�s knowledge. The software was created, supported
and maintained by an external supplier. The foreign software was removed without delay and the Greek authorities promptly
informed. The authorities conducted investigations and subsequently made the matter public in February 2006. Since then, further
investigations have taken place and continue. Vodafone Greece is co-operating with the Greek authorities.

Hungary
Hungary implemented the EU Framework in January 2004 as part of its preparations for joining the EU on 1 May 2004. In its review
of the call termination market, the NRA has proposed that all mobile network operators have SMP and has imposed obligations of
cost orientation, non-discrimination, accounting separation and transparency. Vodafone Hungary has appealed this finding. In May
2005, Vodafone Hungary complied with a requirement to reduce its call termination rates by 16%. Vodafone Hungary has appealed
the decision. In its review of the access market the NRA found that no mobile network operator had SMP.

Ireland
Regulations implementing the EU Framework were adopted in June 2003. In December 2005, an appeal court annulled the NRA�s
finding that Vodafone and O

2
 have joint SMP in the access market.
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In its review of the call termination market, the NRA has found that all mobile network operators have SMP. The NRA has imposed
obligations of cost orientation and non-discrimination on all operators and accounting separation and transparency on Vodafone
and O2. The NRA is also considering the use of price controls. Vodafone Ireland has agreed to reduce its rates by 11% below the
retail price index per annum for the 24 months commencing January 2006.

In February 2006, the NRA withdrew a 3G licence it had awarded to Smart Telecom in November 2005. Smart Telecom is
appealing this decision.

Malta
Legislation implementing the EU Framework in Malta was enacted during 2004. In the call termination market, the NRA has found
both mobile network operators as having SMP and has imposed obligations on Vodafone Malta of cost orientation,
non-discrimination, accounting separation and transparency. Vodafone Malta reduced its mobile termination rates by 5% from 11.5
eurocents per minute to 10.9 eurocents per minute in January 2006. The NRA is consulting on proposals to find Vodafone and Go
Mobile, the two Maltese mobile network operators, as having joint SMP in the access market, with obligations to offer cost based
access to MVNOs and indirect access to other parties.

Vodafone Malta and Go Mobile were awarded 3G licences in August 2005. The third 3G licence remains unassigned. In October
2005, Vodafone Malta was awarded a Broadband Wireless Access frequency licence to operate a nationwide network.

Number portability was implemented on 31 March 2006.

The Netherlands
The Netherlands implemented the EU Framework during 2004. In December 2003, mobile network operators reached agreement
with the NRA and the NCA to reduce mobile call termination rates on 1 December 2004 from 15.4 eurocents per minute to 13.0
eurocents per minute, and on 1 December 2005 to 11.0 eurocents per minute. In addition, the NRA has finalised its review of the
call termination market and has found that all operators have SMP and proposes remedies of cost orientation, non-discrimination
and transparency.

In its review of the access market, the NRA found that no mobile network operator had SMP.

The Government is consulting on the extension or renewal of the existing 2G 900 MHz licences which expire in 2010.

New Zealand
The NRA released a report proposing regulation of mobile termination rates, including a rate reduction of 44% from 27 New
Zealand cents per minute to 15 New Zealand cents per minute and reducing further to 12 New Zealand cents per minute by
2010/2011. These proposals were submitted to the Minister for approval, who has requested the NRA to reconsider them. The
NRA has done so and published a further position in which its key findings remain essentially unchanged. These will now be
resubmitted to the Minister.

The NRA is also reviewing regulation of national roaming and co-location and disputes submitted by Vodafone in relation to certain
local interconnection services. It has also recently announced a review to determine whether further regulation or changes to
existing regulation are necessary to promote competition in the mobile services market.

The NRA has approved industry plans for the introduction of mobile number portability and has set a date of April 2007 for its
introduction.

The government is in the process of determining the price for renewal of 2G licences which expire in 2011.

Portugal
Portugal enacted national law implementing the EU Framework in February 2004. Following its review of the call termination
market, the NRA found all three mobile network operators as having SMP and it has imposed obligations on Vodafone Portugal
including cost orientation, non-discrimination, accounting separation and transparency. Vodafone Portugal reduced its mobile
termination rates in July 2005 to 13.0 eurocents per minute and in January 2006 to 12.5 eurocents per minute.

Vodafone Portugal has requested the renewal of its 2G licence, which is due to expire in October 2006, and the Government has
proposed terms which remain largely unchanged from those which already apply to the licence.
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Romania
In March 2003, the NRA determined MobiFon, the Group�s subsidiary in Romania, as having SMP in the national interconnection
market so, under national law, MobiFon�s mobile termination rates were reduced from 12.0 US cents to 10.0 US cents. In March
2005, the NRA granted a 3G licence to MobiFon.

Number portability will be implemented in Romania during the 2007 financial year, with the obligation for all mobile and fixed
operators to provide number portability to customers no later than June 2007.
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Joint ventures
Fiji
Vodafone Fiji has been required to make wholesale and retail price reductions of between from 15% to 70% for a range of services.
In December 2005, Vodafone Fiji issued proceedings to prevent the government from issuing a second licence in breach of
Vodafone�s exclusivity rights.

India
From 1 March 2006, a new Interconnection Usage Charge regulation became effective. Interconnection charges remained at
Rs.0.30 per minute. However, changes were made to reduce by 33% the total access deficit charge paid by operators to BSNL. It
is proposed that the charge be removed by the 2008 financial year.

In March 2006, the NRA recommended to the Department of Telecommunications that mobile number portability should be
implemented by 1 April 2007.

In November 2005, the government announced a lifting of the foreign direct investment ceiling from 49% to 74% in the telecom
sector, subject to certain preconditions. The deadline for compliance is 2 July 2006.

The Department of Telecommunications is expected to issue a new national spectrum policy before the end of 2006. The new
policy is expected to include plans for allocation of 3G spectrum.

Kenya
In March 2006, the Kenyan Government issued a new Information and Communications Bill for public comment. The new
legislation will replace the Communication Act 1998, and is expected to be finalised before the end of 2006.

In April 2006, the NRA commenced a review of interconnection and retail prices, which may result in new interconnection and retail
price regulations.

Safaricom, Vodafone�s joint venture, has been given until December 2006 to relinquish 2.5MHz of paired 900 MHz spectrum in
return for the allocation of 1800MHz spectrum. It is proposed that the relinquished 900 MHz spectrum will be given to a new third
mobile licensee. In September 2005, Safaricom filed an application for permanent 3G spectrum.

Poland
Legislation implementing the EU Framework in Poland, which joined the EU on 1 May 2004, was enacted during 2004 and the
Polish NRA has commenced its market reviews. The NRA, in its review of the call termination market, proposes to find all mobile
network operators to have SMP and to impose obligations of cost orientation, transparency and non-discrimination.

The NRA awarded a fourth 3G licence in 2005, which Polkomtel is appealing. In November 2005, the President of the NRA initiated
the process to issue a new 2G licence. In January 2006, three companies submitted offers which are now under consideration.

Mobile number portability for contract customers was implemented by the mobile network operators in January 2006.

South Africa
A new Electronic Communications Bill was adopted by Parliament in November 2005, and is awaiting signature of the President.
The new Bill will replace current telecommunications and broadcasting legislation.

An Information Communication Technologies Black Economic Empowerment Charter (the �Charter�) is expected to be finalised in
2006. The Charter will set targets to evaluate a company�s contribution to Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment, which is
the Government policy to increase economic empowerment of historically disadvantaged individuals in South Africa. Targets will be
set in terms of equity ownership, management and control, employment, skills development, procurement, enterprise development
and corporate social investment.
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In May 2005, the NRA commenced an investigation to assess whether Vodacom, the Group�s joint venture in South Africa, has
major operator status, which is similar to SMP, in the interconnection market. Vodacom has challenged the grounds for this
investigation in court, with a hearing expected before the end of 2006.

In 2005, the NRA commenced investigations on mobile pricing and handset subsidies. Separately, in May 2005, the NCA
commenced an investigation into alleged excessive pricing of mobile termination rates. These investigations remain ongoing.
Vodafone has been notified of the commencement of judicial review proceedings of the decision under competition law approving
its acquisition of VenFin.

Associated undertakings and investments
Belgium
Belgium implemented the EU Framework during 2005. The NRA has commenced its market reviews and in the call termination
market proposes to find all operators as having SMP and has commenced a process to develop a LRIC model to set rates. The
proposals include decreases of mobile termination rates of each firm by around 12% every six months from July 2006 to July 2008,
and confirms the existing degree of asymmetric termination rates between the three network mobile operators.

The NRA held an initial consultation on the renewal of Vodafone�s associated undertaking, Proximus�, 2G licence which expires in
2010.

In January 2006, the NCA conducted unannounced inspections of the offices of Proximus seeking evidence of anti-competitive
behaviour in relation to the market for corporate customers following a complaint by a competitor. These enquiries are continuing. If
the NCA decides that there had been a breach of competition law, it would be able to impose a fine on any operator who had
committed the breach.

China
The Chinese Government is expected to award 3G licences in 2006 and to implement related changes to its telecommunications
regulatory framework.

France
France implemented the EU Framework during 2004. In its review of the call termination market, the NRA concluded that all mobile
network operators have SMP and imposed obligations of cost orientation, non-discrimination, accounting separation and
transparency. It set a price cap for Vodafone�s associated undertaking, SFR, of 9.5 eurocents per minute from 1 January 2006.
During 2006, the NRA commenced work on a new price cap for the period from 1 January 2007.

In December 2003, a French consumers association lodged a complaint with the NCA alleging collusion amongst the three French
mobile operators on SMS retail pricing. The NCA is still investigating this complaint. Independently, the NRA has commenced a
review of SMS termination and is consulting on proposals for wholesale price regulation and the notification of a wholesale SMS
market to the Commission under the EU Framework. If it proceeds, the French NRA would be the first to do so in Europe. In its
consultation, the NRA proposes a price cap for wholesale termination of no greater than 2.5 eurocents per minute. In addition,
following two complaints against SFR and Orange France, the NRA ordered Bouygues and SFR, and Bouygues and Orange,
respectively, to reduce their symmetric wholesale SMS termination rates to 4.3 eurocents per message with effect from 1 July
2005.

In December 2005, the NCA decided that SFR and the other mobile network operators had contravened competition law during the
period from 1997 to 2003 by sharing information and during the period from 2000 to 2002 by entering into an agreement aimed at
stabilising the development of market shares. SFR has been fined €220 million. SFR has appealed against this decision.

Following the NRA�s review of the access market, the NRA proposed that all three mobile network operators, including SFR, had
joint SMP in the market and it proposed access obligations as a remedy. The proposals were notified to the Commission in April
2005 but the NRA has subsequently withdrawn its proposals.

Switzerland
In April 2005, the Swiss NCA issued proposals finding that Swisscom Mobile, Vodafone�s associated undertaking, had abused a
dominant position in the call termination market. In April 2006, the NCA announced that it intends to fine Swisscom Mobile CHF489
million (£216 million). Additional interconnection disputes between Swisscom Mobile and its mobile competitors are pending.

In July 2005, the Swiss NCA started a preliminary investigation concerning access to mobile networks. At the end of November
2005, the Swiss NRA commenced a process to award three licences for broadband wireless access and Swisscom Mobile is
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participating in an auction which will take place in the summer of 2006.
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Introduction
The following discussion is based on the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

On 19 July 2002, the European Parliament adopted Regulation No. 1606/2002 requiring listed companies in the Member States of
the European Union to prepare their Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS from 2005. This is the first time
the Company�s Annual Report has been prepared under IFRS. Consequently, financial information for the year ended 31 March
2005, presented as comparative figures in this report, has been restated from UK GAAP in accordance with IFRS, as disclosed in
note 40 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Consolidated Financial Statements, which are prepared in accordance with IFRS, differ in certain significant respects from US
GAAP. Reconciliations of the material differences in the IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements to US GAAP are disclosed in
note 38 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, �US GAAP information�.

The Group faces a number of significant risks that may impact on its future performance and activities. Please see �Risk Factors,
Trends and Outlook�.
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Foreign Currency Translation
The Company publishes its Consolidated Financial Statements in pounds sterling. However, the majority of the Company�s
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated undertakings report their revenue, costs, assets and liabilities in currencies other than
pounds sterling and the Company translates the revenue, costs, assets and liabilities of those subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associated undertakings into pounds sterling when preparing its Consolidated Financial Statements. Consequently, fluctuations in
the value of pounds sterling versus other currencies could materially affect the amount of these items in the Consolidated Financial
Statements, even if their value has not changed in their original currency.

The following table sets out the pounds sterling exchange rates of the other principal currencies of the Group, being: �euros�, �€� or
�eurocents�, the currency of the EU Member States which have adopted the euro as their currency, and �US dollars�, �$�, �cents� or �¢�, the
currency of the United States.

At / year ended 31 March Change

Currency (=£1) 2006 2005 %

Average:

Euro 1.47 1.47 �

US dollar 1.79 1.84 (2.7)

At 31 March:

Euro 1.43 1.46 (2.1)

US dollar 1.74 1.89 (7.9)

Merely for convenience, this Annual Report contains translations of certain pounds sterling amounts into US dollars at specified
rates. These translations should not be construed as representations that the pounds sterling amounts actually represent such US
dollar amounts or could be converted into US dollars at the rate indicated or at any other rate. Unless otherwise indicated, the
translations of pounds sterling into US dollars have been made at $1.7393: £1.00, the Noon Buying Rate in the City of New York for
cable transfers in sterling amounts as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (the �Noon Buying
Rate�) on 31 March 2006. The Noon Buying Rate on 26 May 2006 was $1.8566: £1.00.

The following table sets out, for the periods and dates indicated, the period end, average, high and low Noon Buying Rates for
pounds sterling expressed in US dollars: £1.00, to two decimal places.

Years ended 31 March Period end Average High Low

2002 1.42 1.43 1.48 1.37

2003 1.58 1.54 1.65 1.43

2004 1.84 1.69 1.90 1.55

2005 1.89 1.85 1.96 1.75

2006 1.74 1.79 1.92 1.71

Month High Low

November 2005 1.78 1.71
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December 2005 1.78 1.72

January 2006 1.79 1.74

February 2006 1.78 1.73

March 2006 1.76 1.73

April 2006 1.82 1.74

May 2006(1) 1.89 1.83

Note:
(1) In respect of May 2006, for the period from 1 May to 26 May 2006, inclusive.

Inflation
Inflation has not had a significant effect on the Group�s results of operations and financial condition during the two years ended 31
March 2006.

Presentation of Information
In the discussion of the Group�s reported financial position and results, information in addition to that contained within the
Consolidated Financial Statements is presented. Refer to page 49 for definition of terms.
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Critical Accounting Estimates

The Group prepares its Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS, the application of which often requires
judgements to be made by management when formulating the Group�s financial position and results. Under IFRS, the directors are
required to adopt those accounting policies most appropriate to the Group�s circumstances for the purpose of presenting fairly the
Group�s financial position, financial performance and cash flows. The Group also prepares a reconciliation of the Group�s revenue,
net profit and shareholders� equity between IFRS and US GAAP.

In determining and applying accounting policies, judgement is often required in respect of items where the choice of specific policy,
accounting estimate or assumption to be followed could materially affect the reported results or net asset position of the Group
should it later be determined that a different choice would be more appropriate.

Management considers the accounting estimates and assumptions discussed below to be its critical accounting estimates and,
accordingly, provides an explanation of each below. Where it is considered that the Group�s US GAAP accounting policies differ
materially from the IFRS accounting policy, a separate explanation is provided.

The discussion below should also be read in conjunction with the Group�s disclosure of significant IFRS accounting policies, which
is provided in note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, �Significant accounting policies� and with the �Summary of differences
between IFRS and US GAAP� provided in note 38 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Management has discussed its critical accounting estimates and associated disclosures with the Company�s Audit Committee.

Impairment reviews
Asset recoverability is an area involving management judgement, requiring assessment as to whether the carrying value of assets
can be supported by the net present value of future cash flows derived from such assets using cash flow projections which have
been discounted at an appropriate rate. In calculating the net present value of the future cash flows, certain assumptions are
required to be made in respect of highly uncertain matters, as noted below.

IFRS requires management to undertake an annual test for impairment of indefinite lived assets, and for finite lived assets, to test
for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Group
management currently undertakes an annual impairment test covering goodwill and other indefinite lived assets, and also reviews
finite lived assets and investments in associated undertakings at least annually to consider whether a full impairment review is
required. In the year to 31 March 2006, the Group has recognised impairment losses amounting to £23,515 million relating to the
Group�s mobile operations in Germany, Italy and Sweden, of which £23,000 million was recognised following completion of the
annual impairment test.

US GAAP
Under US GAAP, the requirements for testing the recoverability of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment differ from
IFRS. US GAAP requires the carrying value of such assets with finite lives to be compared to undiscounted future cash flows over
the remaining useful life of the primary asset of the asset group being tested for impairment, to determine if the asset or asset
group is recoverable. If the carrying value exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, the carrying value is not recoverable and the asset
or asset group is written down to the net present value of future cash flows derived in a manner similar to IFRS.

For purposes of goodwill impairment testing under US GAAP, the fair value of a reporting unit including goodwill is compared to its
carrying value. If the fair value of a reporting unit is lower than its carrying value, the fair value of the goodwill within that reporting
unit is compared with its respective carrying value, with any excess carrying value written off as an impairment. The fair value of the
goodwill is the difference between the fair value of the reporting unit and the fair value of the net assets of the reporting unit.

Following the issuance of EITF Topic D-108, �Use of the Residual Method to Value Acquired Assets Other Than Goodwill�, in the
year ended 31 March 2005, the Group, in respect of the indefinite lived licences in Verizon Wireless, was required to perform a
transitional impairment test on indefinite lived intangible assets other than goodwill by comparing the carrying amount with the fair
value of the asset determined on a standalone basis. In the year ended 31 March 2005, the cumulative effect on net loss of
adopting this standard was £6,177 million, net of taxes of £5,239 million.
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Assumptions
There are a number of assumptions and estimates involved in calculating the net present value of future cash flows from the
Group�s businesses including management�s expectations of:

� growth in EBITDA, calculated as adjusted operating profit before depreciation and amortisation;

� timing and quantum of future capital expenditure;

� uncertainty of future technological developments;

� long term growth rates; and

� the selection of discount rates to reflect the risks involved.
The Group prepares and internally approves formal ten-year plans for its businesses and uses these as the basis for its impairment
reviews. Management uses the initial five years of the plans, except in markets which are forecast to grow ahead of the long term
growth rate for the market. In such cases, further years will be used until the forecast growth rate trends towards the long term
growth rate, up to a maximum of ten years.

For mobile businesses, a long term growth rate into perpetuity has been determined as the lower of:

� the nominal GDP rates for the country of operation, using forecast nominal GDP rates from external sources; and

� the long term compound annual growth rate in EBITDA implied by the business plan.
For non-mobile businesses, no growth is expected beyond management�s plans for the initial five year period.

Changing the assumptions selected by management, in particular the discount rate and growth rate assumptions used in the cash
flow projections, could significantly affect the Group�s results. The Group�s review includes the key assumptions related to sensitivity
in the cash flow projections.

The following changes to the assumptions used in the impairment review would have (increased)/decreased the combined
impairment loss recognised in the year ended 31 March 2006 in respect of the Group�s mobile operations in Germany and Italy:

Increase by 1 /2 % Decrease by 1 /2 %

£bn £bn

Discount rate (2.2) 2.4
Budgeted EBITDA(1) 0.3 (0.3)
Capital expenditure(2) (0.2) 0.2
Long term growth rate 2.9 (2.5)

Notes:
(1) Represents the compound annual growth rate for the initial five years of the Group�s approved financial plans.
(2) Represents capital expenditure as a percentage of revenue in the initial five years of the Group�s approved plans.
These assumption changes in isolation would not have resulted in an impairment loss in any other of the Group�s continuing
operations.

US GAAP
Under US GAAP, the assumptions and estimates involved in reviewing for impairment are similar to IFRS, with the exception of the
requirement to determine the primary asset of an asset group. For asset groups represented by the Group�s operating companies,
the primary asset is determined as the 3G licence, except for operating companies where no 3G licence has been acquired, in
which case the 2G licence is the primary asset. If the primary asset of the Group�s mobile operations in Germany were the 2G
rather than the 3G licence, the carrying value would exceed the undiscounted cash flows and result in a significant impairment loss.

Business combinations
Goodwill only arises in business combinations. The amount of goodwill initially recognised is dependent on the allocation of the
purchase price to the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. The determination of the fair value of
the assets and liabilities is based, to a considerable extent, on management�s judgement.
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Allocation of the purchase price affects the results of the Group as finite lived intangible assets are amortised whereas indefinite
lived intangible assets, including goodwill, are not amortised, and could result in differing amortisation charges based on the
allocation to indefinite lived and finite lived intangible assets.

On the acquisition of mobile network operators, the identifiable intangible assets may include licences, customer bases and brands.
The fair value of these assets is
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determined by discounting estimated future net cash flows generated by the asset, assuming no active market for the assets exist.
The use of different assumptions for the expectations of future cash flows and the discount rate would change the valuation of the
intangible assets.

IFRS
On transition to IFRS, the Group has elected not to apply IFRS 3, �BusinessCombinations�, retrospectively as the difficulty in
applying these requirements to the large number of business combinations completed by the Group from incorporation through to 1
April 2004 exceeded any potential benefits. Goodwill arising before the date of transition to IFRS, after adjusting for items including
the impact of proportionate consolidation of joint ventures, amounted to £78,753 million.

If the Group had elected to apply the accounting for business combinations retrospectively, it may have led to an increase or
decrease in goodwill and increase in licences, customer bases, brands and related deferred tax liabilities recognised on acquisition.

US GAAP
For acquisitions prior to 29 September 2004, the key difference from IFRS is that for the acquisition of mobile network businesses,
the excess of purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired other than licences (�the residual�)
was allocated to licences, as opposed to goodwill. However, subsequent to this date and due to the prohibition of this method of
accounting following the issuance of EITF Topic D-108 licences are valued using a direct valuation approach, with the residual
being allocated to goodwill. For other acquisitions, the residual has been and will continue to be allocated to goodwill.

Intangible assets, excluding goodwill
Other intangible assets include the Group�s aggregate amounts spent on the acquisition of 2G and 3G licences, customer bases,
brands, computer software and development costs. These assets arise from both separate purchases and from acquisition as part
of business combinations.

The relative size of the Group�s intangible assets, excluding goodwill, makes the judgements surrounding the estimated useful lives
and basis of amortisation critical to the Group�s financial position and performance.

At 31 March 2006, intangible assets, excluding goodwill, amounted to £16,512 million (2005: £16,149 million) and represented
13.0% (2005: 11.0%) of the Group�s total assets.

Estimation of useful life
The useful life used to amortise intangible assets relates to the future performance of the assets acquired and management�s
judgement of the period over which economic benefit will be derived from the asset. The basis for determining the useful life for the
most significant categories of intangible assets is as follows:

Licences and spectrum fees
The estimated useful life is, generally, the term of the licence, unless there is a presumption of renewal at negligible cost. Using the
licence term reflects the period over which the Group will receive economic benefit. For technology specific licences with a
presumption of renewal at negligible cost, the estimated useful economic life reflects the Group�s expectation of the period over
which the Group will continue to receive economic benefit from the licence. The economic lives are periodically reviewed, taking
into consideration such factors as changes in technology. Historically, any changes to economic lives have not been material
following these reviews.

Customer bases
The estimated useful life principally reflects management�s view of the average economic life of the customer base and is assessed
by reference to customer churn rates. An increase in churn rates may lead to a reduction in the useful life and an increase in the
amortisation charge. Historically, changes to churn rates have been insufficient to impact the useful life.
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Capitalised software
The useful life is determined by management at the time the software is acquired and brought into use and is regularly reviewed
for appropriateness. For computer software licences, the useful life represents management�s view of expected benefits over which
the Group will receive benefits from the software, but not exceeding the licence term. For unique software products controlled by
the Group, the life is based on historical experience with similar products as well as anticipation of future events, which may impact
their life, such as changes in technology.

Historically, changes in useful lives have not resulted in material changes to the Group�s amortisation charge.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment also represent a significant proportion of the asset base of the Group and hence the estimates and
assumptions made to determine their carrying value and related depreciation are critical to the Group�s financial position and
performance.

Estimation of useful life
The charge in respect of periodic depreciation is derived after determining an estimate of an asset�s expected useful life and the
expected residual value at the end of its life. Increasing an asset�s expected life or its residual value would result in a reduced
depreciation charge in the Group�s income statement.

The useful lives of Group assets are determined by management at the time the asset is acquired and reviewed annually for
appropriateness. The lives are based on historical experience with similar assets as well as anticipation of future events, which may
impact their life, such as changes in technology. Furthermore, network infrastructure cannot be depreciated over a period that
extends beyond the expiry of the associated licence under which the operator provides telecommunications services.

Historically, changes in useful lives have not resulted in material changes to the Group�s depreciation charge.

Cost capitalisation
Cost includes the total purchase price and labour costs associated with the Group�s own employees to the extent that they are
directly attributable to construction costs, or where they comprise a proportion of a department directly engaged in the purchase or
installation of a fixed asset. Management judgement is involved in determining the appropriate internal costs to capitalise and the
amounts involved. For the year ended 31 March 2006, internal costs capitalised represented approximately 7% of expenditure on
property, plant and equipment and computer software and approximately 1% of total operating expenses.

Taxation
The Group�s tax charge on ordinary activities is the sum of the total current and deferred tax charges. The calculation of the Group�s
total tax charge necessarily involves a degree of estimation and judgement in respect of certain items whose tax treatment cannot
be finally determined until resolution has been reached with the relevant tax authority or, as appropriate, through a formal legal
process. The final resolution of some of these items may give rise to material profit and loss and/or cash flow variances. See
�Financial Position and Resources�.

The growth in complexity of the Group�s structure following its rapid expansion geographically has made the degree of estimation
and judgement more challenging. The resolution of issues is not always within the control of the Group and it is often dependent on
the efficiency of the legal processes in the relevant taxing jurisdictions in which the Group operates. Issues can, and often do, take
many years to resolve. Payments in respect of tax liabilities for an accounting period result from payments on account and on the
final resolution of open items. As a result, there can be substantial differences between the tax charge in the income statement and
tax payments.

Significant items on which the Group has exercised accounting judgement include a provision in respect of an enquiry from UK HM
Revenue and Customs with regard to the Controlled Foreign Companies tax legislation (see note 31 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements), legal proceedings to recover VAT in relation to 3G licence fees (see �Contingencies� on page 39) and potential tax
losses in respect of a write down in the value of investments in Germany (see note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).
The amounts recognised in the Consolidated Financial Statements in respect of each matter are derived from the Group�s best
estimation and judgement, as described above. However, the inherent uncertainty regarding the outcome of these items means
eventual resolution could differ from the accounting estimates and therefore impact the Group�s results and cash flows.

Recognition of deferred tax assets
The recognition of deferred tax assets is based upon whether it is more likely than not that sufficient and suitable taxable profits will
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be available in the future, against which the reversal of temporary differences can be deducted. Recognition, therefore, involves
judgement regarding the future financial performance of the particular legal entity or tax group in which the deferred tax asset has
been recognised.

Historical differences between forecast and actual taxable profits have not resulted in material adjustments to the recognition of
deferred tax assets.
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Critical Accounting Estimates
continued

Revenue recognition and presentation
Revenue from mobile telecommunications comprises amounts charged to customers in respect of monthly access charges, airtime
charges, messaging, the provision of other mobile telecommunications services, including data services and information provision,
fees for connecting users of other fixed line and mobile networks to the Group�s network, revenue from the sale of equipment,
including handsets, and revenue arising from the Group�s Partner Market agreements.

Deferral period
Customer connection fees, when combined with related equipment revenue, in excess of the fair value of the equipment are
deferred and recognised over the expected life of the customer relationship. The life is determined by reference to historical
customer churn rates. An increase in churn rates would reduce the customer relationship life and accelerate revenue recognition.
Historically, changes in churn rates have been insufficient to impact the expected customer relationship life.

Any excess upgrade or tariff migration fees over the fair value of equipment provided are deferred over the average upgrade or
tariff migration period as appropriate. This time period is calculated based on historical activity of customers who upgrade or
change tariffs. An increase in the time period would extend the period over which revenue is recognised.

Presentation
When deciding the most appropriate basis for presenting revenue or costs of revenue, both the legal form and substance of the
agreement between the Group and its business partners are reviewed to determine each party�s respective role in the transaction.

Where the Group�s role in a transaction is that of principal, revenue is recognised on a gross basis. This requires turnover to
comprise the gross value of the transaction billed to the customer, after trade discounts, with any related expenditure charged as
an operating cost.

Where the Group�s role in a transaction is that of an agent, revenue is recognised on a net basis, with turnover representing the
margin earned.

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts
The allowance for bad and doubtful debts reflects management�s estimate of losses arising from the failure or inability of the Group�s
customers to make required payments. The estimate is based on the ageing of customer accounts, customer credit worthiness and
the Group�s historical write-off experience.

Changes to the allowance may be required if the financial condition of the Group�s customers improves or deteriorates. An
improvement in financial condition may result in lower actual write-offs.

Historically, changes to the estimate of losses have not been material to the Group�s financial position and results.
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Key Peformance Indicators

The Board and the Executive Committee monitor the Group�s progress against its strategic objectives and the financial performance
of the Group�s operations on a regular basis. Performance is assessed against the strategy, budgets and forecasts using financial
and non-financial measures.

The following details certain of the most significant Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) used by the Group, their purpose, the basis
of calculation and the source of the underlying data. Definitions of certain of the terms are provided on page 49.

Financial
The Group uses the following primary measures to assess the performance of the Group and its individual businesses. A number
of these measures at a Group level are presented on an organic basis, which provides an assessment of underlying growth
excluding the effect of business acquisitions and disposals and changes in exchange rates. Financial measures presented on an
organic basis are non-GAAP financial measures. For more information on these measures and the basis of calculation of organic
growth see �Non-GAAP Information� on pages 47 to 48.

Revenue
Revenue and its growth for the Group, and its principal markets, covering the 2006 and 2005 financial year, is provided in
�Operating Results� on pages 30 to 37.

Revenue and revenue growth are used for internal performance analysis and by investors to assess progress against outlook
statements provided externally by the Group.

Adjusted operating profit
Adjusted operating profit is used by the Group for internal performance analysis as it represents the underlying operating
profitability of the Group�s businesses. The measure is presented both for the Group and its principal markets, covering the 2006
and 2005 financial years, in �Operating Results� on pages 30 to 37. The basis of calculation, along with an analysis of why the Group
believes it is a useful measure, is provided in the section titled �Non-GAAP Information� on pages 47 to 48.

Free cash flow
Free cash flow provides an evaluation of the Group�s liquidity and the cash generated by the Group�s operations. The calculation of
free cash flow, along with an analysis of why the Group believes it is a useful measure, is provided in the section titled �Non-GAAP
Information� on pages 47 to 48. The Group has provided an outlook for free cash flow in the 2007 financial year on page 45.

Adjusted earnings per share
Adjusted earnings per share is calculated as basic earnings per share from continuing operations excluding items such as
impairment losses, non-recurring amounts related to business acquisitions and disposals and changes in the fair value of equity put
rights and similar arrangements. The items excluded from basic earnings per share for the 2006 and 2005 financial years and the
per share impact are detailed in note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Operational
Certain operational measures relating to customers and revenue for the Group�s mobile telecommunications business and its
principal makets, covering the 2006 and 2005 financial years, are provided in �Operating Results� on pages 30 to 37, with the
exception of customer delight. These measures are commonly used in the mobile telecommunications industry.

Customers
The Group highly values its customers and strives to delight them. As a result, customer based KPIs are important measures for
internal performance analysis. Management also believes that certain of these measures provide useful information for investors
regarding the success of the Group�s customer acquisition and retention activities. For customer numbers and churn, the data used
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to calculate the KPIs is derived from the customer relationship management systems of each of the Group�s operations.

Customer numbers
The Group prepares customer numbers on a venture and proportionate basis for its mobile operations. A summary of the customer
numbers on both bases is presented in �Business � Business Overview � Summary of Group mobile telecommunications businesses
at 31 March 2006� on page 13.

Churn
Churn represents the disconnection rate of customers in each of the Group�s mobile operations. It is calculated as the total gross
customer disconnections in the period

divided by the average total customers in the period. Churn rates stated in this Annual Report are calculated for the entire financial
year.

Customer delight
The Group uses a proprietary �customer delight� system to track customer satisfaction across its controlled markets and jointly
controlled market in Italy. More information on the benefits of the system are provided in �Business � Business Overview � Products
and services � Customer strategy and management� on page 17.

Customer delight is measured by an index based on the results of surveys performed by an external research company which
cover all aspects of service provided by Vodafone and incorporates the results of the relative satisfaction of the customers of
competitors. An overall index for the Group is calculated by weighting the results for each of the Group�s operations based on
service revenue.

Increased customer expectations are putting a downward pressure on customer satisfaction for the Group and many of its
competitors. Despite this trend, the Group outperformed its target for customer delight in the 2006 financial year and the index was
broadly stable compared to the previous financial year.

Revenue based measures
Management believes that revenue based measures provide useful information for investors regarding trends in customer revenue
derived from mobile telecommunications services and the extent to which customers use mobile services.

The data used to calculate these KPIs is derived from a number of sources. Financial information, such as service revenue, is
extracted from the Group�s financial systems, whilst operational information, including customer and usage metrics, is derived from
the customer relationship management and billing systems of each of the Group�s operations.

Average revenue per user (�ARPU�)
ARPU represents the average revenue by customers over a period and is calculated as service revenue, being total revenue
excluding equipment revenue and connection fees, divided by the weighted average number of customers during the period. ARPU
disclosed in this Annual Report is presented on a monthly basis and represents the total ARPU for the financial year divided by
twelve.

Voice usage
Voice usage is the total number of minutes of voice use on the Group�s mobile networks, including calls made by the Group�s
customers, often referred to as outgoing usage, and calls received by the Group�s customers, often referred to as incoming usage.

Messaging and data revenue
Messaging and data revenue represent the non-voice element of service revenue. In recent years, these revenues have grown at a
faster rate than voice revenue as customers increasingly use these services and new products and services have been launched.
As competition has intensified in many of the markets in which the Group operates and penetration rates have increased, the ability
of the Group to grow messaging and data revenue has become an increasingly important factor, internally and for investors.

Costs
One Vodafone
The One Vodafone initiatives are targeted at achieving savings in operating expenses and capital expenditure and are discussed in
more detail on pages 18 to 19. Reporting on performance against these targets will be disclosed in the Annual Report for the year
ending 31 March 2008, including reconciliations to amounts included in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Capitalised fixed asset additions as a percentage of mobile revenue
In the mobile telecommunications industry, significant investment is required to roll out network infrastructure in order to improve
service capacity. This performance indicator is used by Vodafone management to compare capitalised fixed asset additions to prior
periods and internal forecasts. Management believes that this measure provides useful information for investors to measure the
capital investment required to support revenue growth.

This measure is calculated as capitalised fixed asset additions for the mobile telecommunications business (note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements) as a percentage of the revenue of the mobile telecommunications businesses (note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements). In the 2006 financial year, capitalised fixed asset additions as a percentage of mobile revenue
was 13.7% compared with 16.4% for the previous financial year.
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Operating Results

Group Overview

Years ended 31 March

2006 2005
£m £m

Revenue
Mobile telecommunications 28,137 25,740
Other operations 1,339 1,095
Less: revenue between mobile and other operations (126) (157)

29,350 26,678

Operating (loss)/profit (14,084) 7,878
Mobile telecommunications(1) 9,280 8,334
Other operations(1) 119 19

Adjusted operating profit(1) 9,399 8,353
 � Impairment of intangible assets (23,515) (475)
 � Other 15 �
 � Non-operating income in associated undertakings 17 �
Non-operating income and expense (2) (7)
Investment income 353 294
Financing costs (1,120) (880)

(Loss)/profit before taxation (14,853) 7,285
Tax on profit (2,380) (1,869)

(Loss)/profit for the financial year from continuing operations (17,233) 5,416
Loss)/profit for the financial year from discontinued operations (4,588) 1,102

(Loss)/profit for the financial year (21,821) 6,518

Note:
(1) Before impairment losses and non-recurring amounts related to business acquisitions and disposals.

2006 financial year compared to 2005 financial year
Revenue increased by 10.0% to £29,350 million in the year to 31 March 2006, resulting from organic growth of 7.5%, favourable
movements in exchange rates of 0.5% and a further 2.0% from the acquisitions in the Czech Republic, India, Romania and South
Africa, partially offset by the impact of the disposal of the Group�s operations in Sweden.

The Group recorded an impairment charge to the carrying value of goodwill in the Group�s operations in Germany (£19,400 million)
and Italy (£3,600 million) reflecting a revision of the Group�s view of the prospects for these businesses, particularly in the medium
to long term, and a further £515 million was recorded in respect of the Swedish business following the announcement of its
disposal. This was the primary reason for the operating loss of £14,084 million in the current financial year compared with an
operating profit of £7,878 million in the previous financial year. Adjusted operating profit increased by 12.5% to £9,399 million, with
organic growth of 11.4%, following organic growth of 10.3% in the Group�s mobile business. Favourable exchange rate movements
benefited reported growth for the Group by 1.0% whilst the net impact of acquisitions and disposals improved reported growth by
0.1%.
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Mobile telecommunications
Years ended 31 March

2006 2005 Change
£m £m %

Total service revenue 25,881 23,547 9.9
Other revenue(1) 2,256 2,193 2.9

28,137 25,740 9.3

Trading results
Voice services 21,493 19,888 8.1
Non-voice services
 � Messaging 3,556 3,143 13.1
 � Data 832 516 61.2

Total service revenue 25,881 23,547 9.9
Net other revenue(1) 532 546 (2.6)
Interconnect costs (4,210) (3,815) 10.4
Other direct costs (1,936) (1,756) 10.3
Net acquisition costs(1) (1,541) (1,446) 6.6
Net retention costs(1) (1,444) (1,234) 17.0
Payroll (2,127) (2,009) 5.9
Other operating expenses (3,625) (3,264) 11.1
Acquired intangibles amortisation (157) �
Purchased licence amortisation (947) (919) 3.0
Depreciation and other amortisation (3,581) (3,341) 7.2
Share of operating profit in associated undertakings 2,435 2,025 20.2

Adjusted operating profit(2) 9,280 8,334 11.4

Notes:
(1) Revenue for the mobile telecommunications business includes revenue of £1,724 million (2005: £1,647 million) which has been deducted from

acquisition and retention costs and excluded from other revenue in the trading results.
(2) Before impairment losses and non-recurring amounts related to acquisitions and disposals.

30 Vodafone Group Plc Annual Report 2006

Edgar Filing: VODAFONE GROUP PUBLIC LTD CO - Form 20-F

79



Back to Contents

Performance

Revenue
Revenue in the mobile business increased by 9.3%, or 6.7% on an organic basis, for the year to 31 March 2006 due to a 7.2%
increase in service revenue on an organic basis offset by lower growth in other revenue. Service revenue growth reflected a 15.2%
organic increase in the average customer base of the controlled mobile networks and the Group�s share of jointly controlled mobile
networks, offset by the impact of lower ARPU in a number of the Group�s markets. Competitive pressures have intensified recently
following a significant number of new market entrants and greater competition from incumbents, specifically in the mature markets
of Western Europe. Many of these markets have penetration rates over 100% which, together with termination rate cuts and a
higher proportion of lower spending prepaid customers across the Group, have led to the decline in ARPU. The estimated impact of
termination rate cuts on the growth in service revenue in the current financial year is as follows:

Impact of Service revenue
termination growth excluding

Reported growth rate cut on the impact of
in service service revenue termination rate
revenue growth cuts

% % %

Germany 1.4 1.7 3.1
Italy 1.9 3.4 5.3
Spain 22.0 2.9 24.9
UK 1.6 1.6 3.2
Other Mobile Operations 22.3 2.7 25.0
Mobile telecommunications business 9.9 2.4 12.3

Voice revenue increased by 8.1%, or by 5.3% on an organic basis, due to by the growth in average customers and a successful
usage stimulation programme leading to 24.6% growth in total minutes, or 18.9% on an organic basis, offset by tariff declines from
competition and termination rate cuts. Revenue from outgoing calls was the primary driver of voice revenue growth, whilst incoming
voice revenue increased marginally as a significant increase in the proportion of incoming calls from other mobile networks was
offset by the impact of termination rate cuts, particularly in the second half of the current financial year.

Messaging revenue rose by 13.1%, or 10.6% on an organic basis, as an increase in the average customer base and the number of
messages sent per customer was offset by tariff declines.

The success of 3G, Vodafone live! and offerings in the business segment, including Vodafone Mobile Connect data cards and
BlackBerry from Vodafone, were the main contributors to a 61.2% increase, or 60.4% on an organic basis, in non-messaging data
revenue. An additional 6,321,000 3G devices were registered on the Group�s networks in the current financial year, bringing the
total to 7,721,000 at 31 March 2006, including 660,000 business devices such as Vodafone Mobile Connect 3G/GPRS data cards.
Prior to the announcement of the disposal of Vodafone Japan in March 2006, the Group registered its ten millionth consumer 3G
device, when including 100% of the devices in Italy.

Other revenue increased to £2,256 million, principally due to growth in revenue related to acquisition and retention activities in
Spain, partially offset by a reduction in net other revenue, resulting principally from to a fall in the number of customers connected
to non-Vodafone networks in the UK. A 32.5% rise in the number of gross customer additions, partially offset by a fall in the
average revenue for handset sales to new prepaid customers and a 24.3% increase in the number of upgrades, led to a 4.7%
growth in revenue related to acquisition and retention activities to £1,724 million.

Adjusted operating profit
Adjusted operating profit increased by 11.4% to £9,280 million, comprising organic growth of 10.3% and favourable exchange rate
movements of 1.1%.

Interconnect costs increased by 7.2% on an organic basis, as strong growth in outgoing voice usage was partially offset by cuts in
termination rates in a number of markets and an increased proportion of outgoing traffic being to other Vodafone customers, which
does not result in interconnect expense. The rise in the number of upgrades and the increased cost of upgrading customers to 3G
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were the primary contributors to an 9.4% organic growth in acquisition and retention costs, net of attributable revenue, to £2,985
million. Payroll and other operating expenses as a percentage of service revenue continued to fall, reaching 22.2% for the year to
31 March 2006 compared to 22.4% for the previous financial year.

The charge relating to the amortisation of acquired intangible assets was £157 million following acquisitions in the Czech Republic,
India, Romania and South Africa in the current financial year. Depreciation and other amortisation increased, principally due to the
net impact of the acquisitions and disposal in the current financial year and the ongoing expansion of 3G networks.

The Group�s share of the result in associated undertakings, before non-recurring amounts related to business acquisitions and
disposals, grew by 20.2% after the deduction of interest, tax and minority interest, and 16.8% before the deductions, primarily due
to growth at Verizon Wireless in the US. The Group�s share of the result in Verizon Wireless increased by 25.5% to £2,112 million,
before deduction of interest, tax and minority interest, with a particularly strong performance in the second half of the current
financial year.

Non-mobile telecommunications
Revenue from Other Operations increased by 22.3% to £1,339 million for the current financial year, principally due to growth in
Arcor, the Group�s non-mobile operation in Germany. Adjusted operating profit increased to £119 million from £19 million in the
previous financial year as a result of the revenue growth and cost efficiencies in Arcor and a reduced loss in the Group�s other
non-mobile operations.

Impairment losses
The Group recorded an impairment charge to the carrying value of goodwill in the current financial year of £23,515 million in
respect of the Group�s operations in Germany (£19,400 million) and Italy (£3,600 million) reflecting a revision of the Group�s view of
the prospects for these businesses, particularly in the medium to long term, and a further £515 million in respect of the Swedish
business following the announcement of its disposal. An impairment loss was recognised in the previous financial year of £475
million in respect of the Group�s Swedish operations and reflected fierce competition along with onerous 3G licence obligations.

Investment income and financing costs
Years ended 31 March

2006 2005 Change
£m £m %

Net financing costs before dividends from investments (318) (293) 8.5
Potential interest charges arising on settlement of
outstanding tax issues (329) (245) 34.3
Changes in the fair value of equity put rights and similar
arrangements (161) (67) 140.3
Dividends from investments 41 19 115.8

Net financing costs (767) (586) 30.9

Net financing costs before dividends from investments increased by 8.5% to £318 million as an increase in average net debt
compared to the previous year was partially offset by gains on mark-to-market adjustments on financial instruments in the current
financial year.

Potential interest charges arising on the settlement of outstanding tax issues represents the Group�s estimate of any interest that
may be due to tax authorities when the issues are settled. This charge varies due to the interest rates applied by the tax authorities,
the timing of tax payments and status of discussions on tax issues with the relevant tax authorities. At 31 March 2006, the provision
for potential interest charges arising on settlement of outstanding tax issues was £896 million.

The change in the fair value of equity put rights and similar arrangements comprises the fair value movement in relation to the
potential put rights held by Telecom Egypt over its 25.5% interest in Vodafone Egypt and the fair value of a financial liability in
relation to the minority partners of Arcor, the Group�s non-mobile operation in Germany. Further details in respect of these
arrangements are provided in the section titled �Liquidity and Capital Resources � Option agreements� and in note 24 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Taxation
The effective tax rate for the year to 31 March 2006 is (16.0)% compared to 25.7% for the prior year. The negative effective tax rate
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arises as a result of the £23,515 million impairment losses recognised in the current financial year. These losses are not expected
to be deductible for tax purposes so are not expected to create a future benefit. The effective tax rate, exclusive of the impairment
losses, is 27.5% for the current financial year, which is lower than the Group�s weighted average tax rate as a result of the
repurchase of shares in Vodafone Italy and favourable tax settlements, but has increased compared to the previous year as the
prior year benefited from finalising the reorganisation of the Group�s German operations.

Basic loss per share
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations fell from 8.12 pence to a loss per share of 27.66 pence for the current year.
The basic loss per share is after a charge of 37.56 pence per share in relation to an impairment of the carrying value of goodwill, a
further charge of 0.26 pence per share for the change in fair value of equity put rights and similar arrangements, and a credit of
0.05 pence per share for non-recurring amounts relating to business acquisitions and disposals.
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continued

(Loss)/profit for the financial year from discontinued operations

Years ended 31 March

2006 2005 Change
£m £m %

Revenue(1) 7,268 7,396 (1.7)

Adjusted operating profit 455 664
Impairment loss (4,900) �

Operating (loss)/profit (4,445) 664
Non-operating income and expense � 13
Net financing costs (3) (11)

(Loss)/profit before taxation (4,448) 666
Tax on (loss)/profit(1) (140) 436

(Loss)/profit for the financial year (4,588) 1,102

Note
(1) Included a deferred tax credit of £599 million in the year to 31 March 2005 in respect of losses in Vodafone Holdings K.K. which became

eligible for offset against profits of Vodafone K.K. following the merger of the two entities on 1 October 2004.
On 17 March 2006, the Group announced that an agreement had been reached to sell its 97.7% interest in Vodafone Japan to
SoftBank. This resulted in the Group�s operations in Japan being classified as an asset held for sale and being presented as a
discontinued operation. The disposal was completed on 27 April 2006.

Following the announcement on 17 March 2006, the Group recognised an impairment loss of £4,900 million in respect of Vodafone
Japan. The recoverable amount of Vodafone Japan was the fair value less costs to sell.

On completion of the disposal of Vodafone Japan in April 2006, a loss on disposal was recognised as the difference between the
final sale proceeds less costs to sell and the carrying value at the date of disposal. The loss on disposal includes, among other
items, the cumulative exchange differences in respect of Vodafone Japan previously recognised in equity from 1 April 2004 through
to completion.

Review of Operations
Please refer to the Summary of Key Performance Indicators for Principal Markets on page 37 and note 3 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Mobile businesses
Vodafone operating companies are licensed on an arm�s length basis to use the Vodafone brand and related trademarks. These
arrangements have been reviewed and the charges for the use of the Vodafone brand and related trademarks were revised with
effect from 1 April 2005 to reflect the positioning of the brand in the current markets. There is no material impact on the Group�s
overall operating profit. The impact of the change is to reduce individual operating company profitability with a corresponding
increase in the profit attributable to the common functions segment, which forms part of the mobile telecommunications business.

In April 2006, the Group announced changes to the organisational structure of its operations, effective from 1 May 2006. The
following results are presented in accordance with the organisation structure in place for the year to 31 March 2006.
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Germany

Years ended 31 March Local
currency

2006 2005 Change change
£m £m % %

Revenue(1) 5,754 5,684 1.2 1.2

Trading results
Voice services 4,304 4,358 (1.2) (1.3)
Non-voice services
� Messaging 836 800 4.5 4.6
� Data 254 162 56.8 56.8

Total service revenue 5,394 5,320 1.4 1.4
Net other revenue(1) 114 122 (6.6) (6.9)
Interconnect costs (732) (734) (0.3) (0.3)
Other direct costs (281) (314) (10.5) (10.3)
Net acquisition costs(1) (366) (348) 5.2 5.2
Net retention costs(1) (349) (330) 5.8 5.6
Payroll (412) (425) (3.1) (3.0)
Other operating
expenses (665) (646) 2.9 3.1
Purchased licence
amortisation (342) (342) � �
Depreciation and other
amortisation(2) (865) (830) 4.2 4.3

Adjusted operating
profit(2) 1,496 1,473 1.6 1.3

Notes:
(1) Revenue includes revenue of £246 million (2005: £242 million) which has been excluded from other revenue and deducted from acquisition

and retention costs in the trading results.
(2) Before impairment losses
The German market has seen recent intensification in price competition, principally from new market entrants, together with high
levels of penetration and further reductions in termination rates. Despite this, Vodafone has continued to lead the market in the
number of 3G customers, and has launched innovative products such as mobile TV and Vodafone Zuhause, which allows users to
replace fixed line networks installed in their homes. In addition, Vodafone launched HSDPA technology in March 2006.

Total revenue increased by 1.2% as the benefits of a larger customer base and an increase in non-voice service revenue were
partly offset by reduced voice pricing, in response to aggressive competition, and a further termination rate cut in December 2005
from 13.2 to 11.0 eurocents per minute. The average customer base grew by 8.4% due to the attractiveness of promotions,
including an offer which allowed prepaid customers to pay a fixed charge for calls to fixed lines and other Vodafone customers,
which was taken up by more than one and a quarter million customers, and new products such as Vodafone Zuhause, which had
448,000 registered customers at 31 March 2006. New prepaid tariffs, including a low priced internet only offer, and ongoing
promotional activity, particularly in the last four months of the year, contributed to total voice usage increasing by 13.7%. Excluding
the termination rate cut in December 2005, service revenue growth would have been 3.1% in local currency. A further cut in
termination rates is currently expected by the end of 2006.

Non-voice service revenue increased by 13.4% in local currency, driven primarily by strong growth of 56.8% in non-messaging data
revenue. Vodafone maintained its leadership in the 3G market, demonstrated by Vodafone live! with 3G customers generating over
3.1 million full track music downloads in the current financial year for Vodafone, more than any other mobile network operator in
Germany. The number of active Vodafone live! devices continued to increase, with 28.3% growth in the year. In the business
segment, there were 241,000 Vodafone Mobile Connect 3G/GPRS data cards and 226,000 wireless push e-mail enabled devices
registered on the network at 31 March 2006. Messaging revenue increased 4.6%, in local currency, mainly as a result of
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promotional activities.

Overall cost efficiencies, counteracted by investments in customer acquisition and retention and an increase in Group charges for
the use of the brand and related trademarks, which represented 1.1% of service revenue, lead to an increase in adjusted operating
profit of 1.3% in local currency to £1,496 million. Growth in 3G customers and increased gross additions, partially offset by a rise in
the proportion of low subsidy prepaid
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additions, led to a 5.2% increase in net acquisition costs. Interconnect costs decreased by 0.3%, as the termination rate cuts in the
current and previous financial years more than offset the effect of higher voice usage. An increase in the number of customer
upgrades resulted in a 5.6% increase in net retention costs. Adjusted operating profit was further impacted by additional
depreciation charges from continued 3G network deployment.

Italy

Years ended 31 March Local
currency

2006 2005 Change change
£m £m % %

Revenue(1) 4,363 4,273 2.1 2.0

Trading results
Voice services 3,472 3,492 (0.6) (0.7)
Non-voice services
� Messaging 600 532 12.8 12.9
� Data 98 67 46.3 45.2

Total service revenue 4,170 4,091 1.9 1.8
Net other revenue(1) 15 14 7.1 2.8
Interconnect costs (681) (701) (2.9) (3.1)
Other direct costs (241) (232) 3.9 3.8
Net acquisition costs(1) (78) (71) 9.9 9.6
Net retention costs(1) (93) (74) 25.7 25.1
Payroll (250) (250) � �
Other operating
expenses (572) (497) 15.1 15.1
Purchased licence
amortisation (74) (74) � �
Depreciation and other
amortisation(3) (524) (512) 2.3 2.0

Adjusted operating
profit(3) 1,672 1,694 (1.3) (1.3)

Notes
(1) Revenue includes revenue of £178 million (2005: £168 million) which has been excluded from other revenue and deducted from acquisition

and retention costs in the trading results.
(2) Italy is a joint venture and is proportionately consolidated by the Group and hence the results reported represent the Group�s average

effective interest, being 76.8%.
(3) Before impairment losses
Competition in Italy has continued to intensify with the mobile network operators competing aggressively on subsidies and,
increasingly, on price, particularly in the second half of the year. Vodafone achieved average customer growth of 6.9% driven by
successful promotions despite the competitive environment and a market penetration rate well in excess of 100% due to customers
having more than one SIM.

In local currency, total revenue rose by 2.0%, reflecting the increase in service revenue which was driven primarily by continuing
growth in non-voice services as voice revenue declined marginally following an average 20.5% reduction in termination rates from
September 2005. Excluding the impact of the termination rate cut, service revenue increased by 5.2% in local currency. Strong
promotional activities, for example free calls after the first minute and free text messages for a small activation fee which were
taken up by more than ten million customers, and the increase in the customer base led to a rise of 5.1% in voice usage and a
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41.7% increase in messaging, including a 261% growth in MMS usage. An increase in the number of SIMs per user and
competitive pressures led to a reduction in activity rates, especially in the second half of the year, and an increase in blended churn
from 17.2% to 18.7%.

Non-voice service revenue rose by 16.5% in local currency, primarily driven by a 12.9% rise in messaging revenue. Increased
penetration of 3G devices, a focus on retaining high value customers, increased usage of Vodafone live! and Vodafone Mobile
Connect data cards and attractive data promotions were the main contributors to 45.2% growth in non-messaging data revenue.

In local currency, adjusted operating profit fell by 1.3% due to the impact of an increase in Group charges for the use of brand and
related trademarks, which represented approximately 1.1% of service revenue, investment in customer acquisition and retention
and higher marketing spend in response to the competitive pressures, along with the increased costs from the continued roll out of
the 3G network. Strong upgrade

activities and a focus on high value customers in response to aggressive competition led to the rise in retention costs, whilst
handset promotions adversely impacted acquisition costs, especially in the first half of the year. Interconnect costs fell due to the
cut in termination rates combined with promotions focusing on calls to other Vodafone and fixed-line numbers, which incur lower
interconnect costs, especially in the second half of the year. Other direct costs increased 3.8%, primarily as a result of an increase
in content provision costs arising from the increase in data service usage.

Spain

Years ended 31 March Local
currency

2006 2005 Change change
£m £m % %

Revenue(1) 3,995 3,261 22.5 22.6

Trading results
Voice services 3,093 2,558 20.9 20.9
Non-voice services
� Messaging 417 340 22.6 23.0
� Data 105 65 61.5 62.1

Total service revenue 3,615 2,963 22.0 22.0
Net other revenue(1) 6 2
Interconnect costs (634) (540) 17.4 17.5
Other direct costs (329) (263) 25.1 25.4
Net acquisition costs(1) (274) (246) 11.4 11.7
Net retention costs(1) (249) (172) 44.8 45.3
Payroll (151) (140) 7.9 7.8
Other operating
expenses (611) (468) 30.6 30.7
Purchased licence
amortisation (69) (69) � �
Depreciation and other
amortisation (336) (292) 15.1 14.8

Adjusted operating
profit 968 775 24.9 24.6

Note
(1) Revenue includes revenue of £374 million (2005: £296 million) which has been excluded from other revenue and deducted from acquisition

and retention costs in the trading results.
Vodafone continued to perform strongly in Spain, in revenue growth and profitability, despite an increasingly competitive market,
through promotions and competitive tariffs attracting new customers and encouraging prepaid customers to migrate to contract
tariffs.
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Total revenue for the financial year increased by 22.6% in local currency, due principally to a rise in service revenue achieved from
an 18.5% growth in the average customer base and an improvement in ARPU, notwithstanding a 10.6% cut in the termination rate
in November 2005. The launch of attractive tariffs, successful promotional campaigns and the offer of an appealing handset
portfolio increased the average customer base and encouraged a further increase in the proportion of contract customers from
46.9% at 31 March 2005 to 49.6% at 31 March 2006. These factors contributed to a 34.0% increase in total voice usage compared
with the previous financial year and a reduction in blended churn from 21.9% at 31 March 2005 to 20.9% at 31 March 2006.

The principal driver behind the 23.0% growth in messaging revenue in local currency was a 23.1% increase in messaging usage
due to the higher customer base and targeted promotions. The growth of 62.1% in non-messaging data revenue was due to an
increase of 814,000 in the number of registered 3G devices and the success of data solutions, which have contributed to Vodafone
leading the 3G market in Spain, along with an 84.3% increase in the number of Vodafone live! devices.

Adjusted operating profit increased as a percentage of service revenue, as cost reductions were only partially offset by the impact
of the increased Group charge for use of the brand and related trademarks. Interconnect costs fell as a proportion of service
revenue, due to promotions which encouraged calls to be made to Vodafone and fixed-line numbers, which incur lower
interconnect costs, and the cut in termination rates. A higher proportion of prepaid gross customer additions, which have a lower
per unit acquisition cost, particularly in the first half of the financial year led to acquisition costs
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falling as a proportion of service revenue compared to the previous financial year. These relative cost reductions were offset by the
cost of upgrading customers to 3G handsets, migrating prepaid customers to contract tariffs and a larger customer base, reflected
in a 45.3% increase in net retention costs. Other direct costs increased mainly due to increased content provision costs resulting
from higher usage of the expanded offering on the Vodafone live! platform.

United Kingdom

Years ended 31 March

2006 2005 Change
£m £m %

Revenue(1) 5,048 5,065 (0.3)

Trading results
Voice services 3,642 3,672 (0.8)
Non-voice services
� Messaging 705 684 3.1
� Data 221 142 55.6

Total service revenue 4,568 4,498 1.6
Net other revenue(1) 135 177 (23.7)
Interconnect costs (862) (771) 11.8
Other direct costs (355) (367) (3.3)
Net acquisition costs(1) (380) (388) (2.1)
Net retention costs(1) (395) (391) 1.0
Payroll (391) (403) (3.0)
Other operating expenses (697) (646) 7.9
Purchased licence amortisation (333) (333) �
Depreciation and other amortisation (592) (597) (0.8)

Adjusted operating profit 698 779 (10.4)

Note
(1) Revenue includes revenue of £345 million (2005: £390 million) which has been excluded from other revenue and deducted from acquisition

and retention costs in the trading results.
Vodafone UK continued to see strong growth in its customer base, without a corresponding increase in acquisition and retention
investment, despite the UK being one of the most competitive markets in which the Group operates, with mobile penetration rates
in excess of 100%. Enhanced data offerings led to strong growth in non-messaging data revenue and Vodafone now has over 1
million registered 3G devices.

Total revenue fell by 0.3%, as a 1.6% increase in service revenue was offset by a fall in equipment and other revenue. Service
revenue grew by 3.2%, excluding the effect of the September 2004 termination rate cut, benefiting from an increase in average
customers of 7.8%, partially offset by falling ARPU, notwithstanding a rise in usage. New customer offerings, including Stop the
Clock, helped to stimulate a 10.1% increase in total voice usage, but this was offset by changes in prices during the year to
improve competitiveness in the market, leading to an overall 0.8% decrease in voice revenue, which grew by 1.2% excluding the
effect of the termination rate cut. A continuing focus on customer retention and an increasing proportion of customers on 18 month
contracts had a positive impact on contract customer churn which fell from 22.7% to 21.5%, although blended churn increased to
32.1%, including the effect of increased prepaid customer self-upgrades, consistent with market trends.

Non-voice service revenue increased by 12.1%, driven largely by the success of enhanced data offerings. Growth of 843,000 over
the financial year in registered 3G devices and the continued success of Vodafone Mobile Connect data cards and wireless push
e-mail devices contributed to non-messaging data revenue increasing by 55.6%. Combined voice and messaging promotions led to
an 18.1% increase in total messaging usage, although this was partially offset by a decline in the average price per message, and
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resulted in a 3.1% rise in messaging revenue.

The rise in interconnect costs and the cost of one-off call centre closures, as well as an increase in Group charges for use of the
brand and related trademarks, which represented approximately 1.1% of service revenue, were partially offset by efficiencies in
overheads and acquisition and retention costs, leading to a fall in adjusted operating profit of 10.3%. Interconnect costs increased
by 11.8%, following an increase in total usage, combined with an increase in the proportion of voice calls made to customers of
other mobile network operators, as customers optimise cross-network bundled tariffs, partially offset by the termination rate cut.
Despite higher gross additions and upgrades, especially in the first half of the year, and a higher proportion of 3G connections,
acquisition and retention costs were kept stable with the prior year, mainly due to an

increase in direct sales activity, SIM only promotions and a higher proportion of prepaid additions with lower subsidies. Payroll was
3% lower than the prior year and other operating expenses were lower than the prior year, excluding one-off call centre closures
and the increase in Group charges for use of the brand and related trademarks, driven by the continued benefits of a structured
cost reduction plan.

US � Verizon Wireless

Years ended 31 March Local
currency

2006 2005 Change change
£m £m % %

Adjusted operating
profit 1,732 1,354 27.9 23.8

Share of result in
associated
undertaking
Operating profit 2,112 1,683 25.5 21.5
Interest (204) (187) 9.1 5.4
Tax (116) (91) 27.5 22.5
Minority interest (60) (51) 17.6 14.9

1,732 1,354 27.9 23.8

The US mobile telecommunications market has seen continued significant growth in customer numbers over the last twelve
months, with penetration reaching an estimated 72% at 31 March 2006. In this environment, Verizon Wireless continued to
increase its market share and improve its market leading margin performance.

Verizon Wireless outperformed its competitors with record net additions, increasing the proportionate customer base by 16.6% over
the financial year to 23,530,000 and improving customer market share to approximately 25% whilst also maintaining the proportion
of contract customers at 94.5% of the total customer base at 31 March 2006. The strong customer performance benefited from
continuing improvements in customer loyalty, with a reduction in blended churn of 2.5 percentage points to 14.7% compared with
the previous financial year, the lowest in the US mobile telecommunications industry.

In local currency, Verizon Wireless� revenue increased by 14.9% due to the strong customer growth, partially offset by a fall in
ARPU of 1.9%. The ARPU decline primarily resulted from an increase in the proportion of family share customers and voice tariff
pricing changes implemented early in 2005, which included increases in the size of bundled minute plans.

Non-voice service revenue increased by more than 100% compared with the previous financial year and represented 8.9% of
service revenue for the current year. Continued increases in messaging revenues were augmented by strong growth from data
products, including Verizon Wireless� consumer broadband multimedia offering, wireless email and broadband data card service.
Verizon Wireless� next-generation EV-DO network is currently available to about 150 million people, approximately half the US
population. This investment has paved the way for the launch of innovative new data services in areas such as full track music
downloads and location based services.

In local currency, the Group�s share of Verizon Wireless� operating profit increased by 21.5%, driven by revenue growth and
maintaining a leading cost efficiency position in the US market. The Group�s share of the tax attributable to Verizon Wireless of
£116 million for the year ended 31 March 2006 relates only to the corporate entities held by the Verizon Wireless partnership. The
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tax attributable to the Group�s share of the partnership�s pre-tax profit is included within the Group tax charge.

Vodafone and Verizon Wireless are engaged in a number of joint projects, predominantly focusing upon bringing global services to
their customers. The financial year saw the introduction of two new data roaming services for Verizon Wireless customers, in
addition to the launch of new handsets for the global phone proposition, all of which leverage the Vodafone footprint.

Verizon Wireless continued to strengthen its spectrum position with the completion of the purchase of several key spectrum
licences, including licences from Nextwave, Leap Wireless and Metro PCS and through participation in the FCC�s Auction 58, which
took place in February 2005, with licences being granted in May 2005.
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Other Mobile Operations

Years ended 31 March Local
currency

2006 2005 Change change
£m £m % %

Total revenue
Subsidiaries 7,812 6,474 20.7
Joint ventures 1,470 1,184 24.2
Less: intra-segment revenue (32) (21) 52.4

9,250 7,637 21.1 12.6

Adjusted operating
profit(2)

Subsidiaries 1,445 1,368 5.6
Joint ventures 363 305 19.0
Associated
undertakings 695 671 3.6

2,503 2,344 6.8 6.4

Trading results
Voice services 7,313 6,070 20.5
Non-voice services
� Messaging 1,017 790 28.7
� Data 200 113 77.0

Total service revenue 8,530 6,973 22.3
Net other revenue(1) 137 110 24.5
Interconnect costs (1,698) (1,367) 24.2
Other direct costs (727) (568) 28.0
Net acquisition costs(1) (443) (393) 12.7
Net retention costs(1) (358) (267) 34.1
Payroll (624) (531) 17.5
Other operating
expenses(2) (1,531) (1,140) 34.3
Acquired intangibles
amortisation (157) �
Purchased licence
amortisation (129) (100) 29.0
Depreciation and other
amortisation(2) (1,192) (1,044) 14.2
Share of result in
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associates(2) 695 671 3.6

Adjusted operating profit(2) 2,503 2,344 6.8 6.4

Share in result of associates
Operating profit(2) 1,044 1,020 2.4
Interest (20) (7) 185.7
Tax (329) (342) (3.8)

695 671 3.6

Notes:
(1) Revenue includes revenue of £583 million (2005: £554 million) which has been excluded from other revenue and deducted from acquisition

and retention costs in the trading results.
(2) Before impairment losses and non-recurring amounts related to acquisitions and disposals.
Total revenue for the Group�s Other Mobile Operations increased by 21.1%, or 12.6% on an organic basis. The net impact of
acquisitions in the Czech Republic, India, Romania and South Africa and the disposal of the Group�s Swedish operations during the
year ended 31 March 2006 increased reported revenue growth by 6.8%. Favourable exchange rate movements accounted for
1.7% of the remaining difference between reported and organic growth. The increase in total service revenue was principally driven
by an increase in the average customer base of 26.5% excluding the impact of the acquisitions and disposal and of 44.0%
including the impact of the acquisitions and disposal. This effect was partially offset by cuts in termination rates in certain markets,
reduced ARPU from the launch of more competitive tariffs and an increase in the number of lower usage prepaid customers.

Excluding the impact of termination rate cuts, service revenue growth would have been 25.0%. Messaging and non-messaging
data revenue grew strongly, increasing by 18.6% and 74.1%, respectively, on an organic basis and by 28.7% and 77.0%,
respectively, including the impact of acquisitions, disposals and exchange rate movements.

Adjusted operating profit increased by 6.8%, or 6.4% on an organic basis, over the comparative period, with 0.5% of the difference
due to the acquisitions and disposal in the current financial year, offset by 0.9% resulting from favourable foreign exchange rate
movements. The reported growth in adjusted operating profit in the year was impacted by a reduction in the profitability of certain
highly competitive markets, in particular Australia and the Netherlands, though these factors were partially offset by the profit
contributed by acquisitions in the year and the impact of the disposal of the Group�s Swedish operations, as well as higher
depreciation and purchased licence amortisation, following the launch of 3G services in Australia and New Zealand, and the
amortisation of identifiable intangible assets from the acquisitions in the current financial year.

Other Mobile subsidiaries
In Greece, service revenue grew by 9.4% when measured in local currency, due primarily to a 13.6% rise in the average customer
base. ARPU decreased by 3.7% year-on-year, mainly due to a reduction in termination rates of 16.8% in September 2004. In local
currency, service revenue growth was 12.0% excluding the termination rate cut. An increasing emphasis on retaining customers by
encouraging prepaid to contract customer migration resulted in churn decreasing to 25.0% for the current financial year from 29.7%
in the previous year.

Service revenue in Egypt, when measured in local currency, grew by 36.2%, primarily as a result of an increase in the average
prepaid customer base of 82.0% which was driven by new innovative tariffs improving access and affordability in the market place.
Revenue market share increased by 3.8 percentage points in the 2006 financial year to 51.8%.

Competition in Portugal intensified during the year with aggressively priced no-frills offerings by competitors which, combined with
cuts in the termination rate which resulted in the average termination rate this year being 28.3% lower than last year, led to local
currency service revenue growth being restricted to 1.6%.

In the Netherlands, an increase of 3.5% in service revenue and a 10.0% growth in the average customer base was achieved.

Vodafone Australia increased its customer base by 16.0%, and local currency service revenue by 11.8% due to the popularity of
the capped plans, which have resulted in a significant increase in outgoing voice usage, whilst adversely impacting outgoing voice
revenue per minute and interconnect costs. 3G services were launched on 31 October 2005, with strong uptake resulting in
171,000 consumer 3G devices being registered on the network by 31 March 2006.
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New Zealand achieved service revenue growth of 8.5%, driven by a 12.3% growth in the average customer base, due principally to
the launch of competitive promotions during the year. 3G services were launched on 10 August 2005, with 103,000 3G devices
registered by the end of the financial year.

In Ireland, service revenue grew by 5.9%, primarily due to an increase of 9.2% in total voice usage following a 5.9% increase in the
average customer base. Voice usage per customer in Ireland remains the highest of all Vodafone�s European subsidiaries.

On 5 January 2006, the Group announced that it had completed the sale of its 100% interest in Vodafone Sweden to Telenor, the
pan-Nordic telecommunications operator. Vodafone and Telenor have agreed the terms of a Partner Market Agreement in Sweden,
allowing Telenor�s mobile customers in Sweden and Vodafone customers to continue to benefit from Vodafone�s global brand,
products and services in Sweden.

Service revenue growth in Hungary and Albania, when measured in local currency, was 13.9% and 16.2% respectively. Vodafone
Romania increased service revenue by 39.0% in local currency compared with the previous financial year, assuming the Group�s
increased equity interest is reflected in the whole of the current and prior financial year. Additionally, Vodafone�s newly acquired
subsidiaries in the Czech Republic and Romania have performed ahead of the Group�s expectations at the time of the acquisition.

Other Mobile joint ventures
Average proportionate customers for the Group�s joint ventures, excluding Italy, grew organically by 43.4% in the year to 31 March
2006, with strong growth in markets with relatively low penetration rates. The customer growth was the primary reason for the
19.0% increase in adjusted operating profit for other mobile joint ventures.

During the financial year, the Group completed the acquisition of a 10% economic interest in Bharti Tele-Ventures Limited (now
renamed Bharti Airtel Limited), a leading national mobile operator in India.
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The Group also increased its effective shareholding in its joint venture in South Africa, Vodacom, from 35% to approximately 50%
following the acquisition of VenFin.

Other Mobile associated undertakings
SFR, the Group�s associated undertaking in France, reported strong growth in revenue and operating profit, principally as a result of
an 8.1% increase in average customers compared with the previous financial year. Usage of both voice and non-voice services
increased in the year and SFR had a total of 5,268,000 Vodafone live! customers at 31 March 2006. SFR continues to grow its 3G
base and at 31 March 2006 had registered 1,352,000 3G devices on its network.

On 30 November 2005, the French competition authority fined SFR €220 million for engaging in anti-competitive agreements that
distorted market competition. SFR is in the process of appealing this decision.

On 7 April 2006, the Swiss Competition Commission notified Swisscom Mobile, the Group�s associated undertaking in Switzerland,
of its intention to impose a fine of CHF489 million in relation to abusive pricing on the mobile wholesale call termination market
between 1 April 2004 and 31 May 2005.

Other Mobile investments
China Mobile, in which the Group has a 3.27% stake, and is accounted for as an investment, grew its customer base by 21.9% in
the year to 260.6 million at 31 March 2006. Dividends of £41 million were received in the year.

Common functions

Years ended 31 March

2006 2005 Change

£m £m %

Revenue 145 123 17.9

Adjusted operating profit/(loss) 211 (85)

Common functions include the results of Partner Markets and unallocated central Group costs and charges. Adjusted operating
profit increased primarily due to a revision of the charges made to Vodafone operating companies for the use of the Vodafone
brand and related trademarks which took effect from 1 April 2005.

Other operations

Years ended 31 March

2006 2005 Change
£m £m %

Revenue
Germany 1,320 1,095 20.5
Other 19 �

1,339 1,095 22.3

Adjusted operating profit/(loss)
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Germany 139 64 117.2
Other (20) (45) (55.6)

119 19 526.3

Other operations comprise interests in fixed line telecommunications businesses in Germany, France and India.

Germany
In local currency, Arcor�s revenue increased by 20.7%, primarily due to customer and usage growth, partially offset by tariff
decreases in the competitive market. The incumbent fixed line market leader continues to drive this intensive competition, although
Arcor further strengthened its position as the main competitor. Contract ISDN voice customers increased by 103% to 1,447,000
and DSL (broadband internet) customers by 166% to 1,209,000 in the current financial year. Arcor increased its share of the DSL
market to 11%. Revenue growth and cost efficiencies led to the substantial improvement in adjusted operating profit.

Other
The merger of Cegetel, the Group�s associated undertaking, and Neuf Telecom closed on 22 August 2005, giving the Group a
proportionate interest of 12.4% in the leading alternative operator for fixed line telecommunications services in France. The new
entity, Neuf Cegetel, has the largest alternative broadband network in France, with 70% population coverage.

US GAAP Reconciliation
The principal differences between US GAAP and IFRS, as they relate to the Consolidated Financial Statements, are the accounting
for goodwill and intangible assets before 29 September 2005, the accounting for income taxes, the capitalisation of interest and the
timing of recognition of connection revenue and expenses.

In the year ended 31 March 2006, revenue from continuing operations under US GAAP was £23,756 million compared with
revenue from continuing operations under IFRS of £29,350 million for the same period. The difference relates to the equity
accounting of Vodafone Italy under US GAAP, the treatment of Vodafone Sweden as discontinued under US GAAP and the
release of connection revenue deferred prior to the adoption of EITF 00-21 on 1 October 2003, which is required to be recognised
over the period a customer is expected to remain connected to the network under US GAAP.

Net loss under US GAAP for the year ended 31 March 2006 was £13,310 million, compared with a loss for the financial year under
IFRS of £21,821 million for the same period. The lower net loss under US GAAP was mainly driven by higher amortisation charges
of other intangible assets and share of result in equity method investments, more than offset by income taxes and the reversal of
impairment losses.

The reconciliation of the differences between IFRS and US GAAP is provided in note 38 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Summary of Key Performance Indicators
for Principal Markets

2006 2005

Germany
Customers (�000s)(1) 29,191 27,223
Prepaid (%) 53.3 52
Activity level (%)(1)(2) 90.6 93.7
Churn (%)(1) 20.2 18.3
Average monthly ARPU (€)(1)

� Prepaid 8.5 9.8
� Contract 39.2 39.9
� Blended 23.3 24.9
Total voice minutes (millions) 26,787 23,560
Vodafone live! active devices (�000) 6,214 4,845
3G devices (�000)(1) 2,025 358

2006 2005

Italy
Customers (�000s)(1) 18,490 17,280
Prepaid (%) 92.2 92
Activity level (%)(1) 91.2 92.3
Churn (%)(1) 18.7 17.2
Average monthly ARPU (€)(1)(2)
� Prepaid 24.3 25.4
� Contract 74.7 76.8
� Blended 28.5 29.9
Total voice minutes (millions) 29,604 28,170
Vodafone live! active devices (�000) 4,097 2,113
3G devices (�000)(1) 2,250 511

2006 2005

Spain
Customers (�000s)(1) 13,521 11,472
Prepaid (%) 50.4 53
Activity level (%)(1) 94.3 94.6
Churn (%)(1) 20.9 21.9
Average monthly ARPU (€)(1)(2)
� Prepaid 15.1 15.1
� Contract 56.9 57.4
� Blended 35.6 34.5
Total voice minutes (millions) 23,835 17,793
Vodafone live! active devices (�000) 5,514 2,992
3G devices (�000)(1) 902 88

Edgar Filing: VODAFONE GROUP PUBLIC LTD CO - Form 20-F

97



2006 2005

United Kingdom
Customers (�000s)(1) 16,304 15,324
Prepaid (%) 61.1 61
Activity level (%)(1) 88.4 90.3
Churn (%)(1) 32.1 29.7
Average monthly ARPU (£)(1)(2)
� Prepaid 9.4 10.3
� Contract 45.7 47.4
� Blended 24.0 25.5
Total voice minutes (millions) 28,059 25,486
Vodafone live! active devices (�000) 4,181 3,443
3G devices (�000)(1) 1,033 190

2006 2005

US � Verizon Wireless
Customers (�000s)(1) 23,530 20,173
Churn (%)(1) 14.7 17.2
Average monthly ARPU ($)(1)(2)
� Blended 51.4 52.4
Acquistion and retention costs as a percentage of service revenue (%) 12.4 12.9

Notes:
(1) See page 49 for definitions.
(2) During the year ended 31 March 2006, the definition of an active customer was revised to one who either pays a monthly fee or has made or

received a chargeable event in the last three months. The information for the year ended 31 March 2005 has been restated using this
revised definition.
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Balance Sheet
Years ended 31 March

2006 2005 Change
£m £m %

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 69,118 97,148 (28.9)
Property, plant and equipment 13,660 17,442 (21.7)
Investments in associated undertakings 23,197 20,234 14.6
Other non-current assets 2,639 2,962 (10.9)

108,614 137,786 (21.2)
Current assets 7,532 9,411 (20.0)
Assets included in disposal group
held for sale 10,592 � �

Total assets 126,738 147,197 (13.9)

Total equity 85,312 113,648 (24.9)

Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings 16,750 13,190 27.0
Deferred tax liabilities 5,670 4,849 16.9
Other non-current liabilities 951 893 6.5

23,371 18,932 23.4

Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings 3,448 2,003 72.1
Current taxation liabilities 4,448 4,353 2.2
Other current liabilities 7,616 8,261 (7.8)

15,512 14,617 6.1

Liabilities included in disposal
group held for sale 2,543 � �

Total equity and liabilities 126,738 147,197 (13.9)

Non-current assets
Intangible assets
At 31 March 2006, the Group�s intangible assets were £69.1 billion, with goodwill comprising the largest element at £52.6 billion
(2005: £81.0 billion). The balance has decreased from £97.1 billion (£88.1 billion excluding discontinued operations) at 31 March
2005 mainly as a result of a £23.5 billion impairment charge in the 2006 financial year in respect of the carrying value of goodwill of
Germany, Italy and Sweden. Refer to note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on the impairment
losses. Other movements resulted from £4.7 billion of intangible assets arising on acquisitions in the 2006 financial year, £0.6
billion of additions, primarily in relation to computer software, £1.0 billion of exchange movements, partially offset by £1.6 billion of
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amortisation charges and £0.2 billion of disposals, mainly in relation to the goodwill related to Vodafone Sweden.

Property, plant and equipment
The most significant component of property, plant and equipment is network infrastructure, which is fundamental to the Group
being able to provide its services. Property, plant and equipment decreased from £17.4 billion (£12.9 billion excluding Japan) at 31
March 2005 to £13.7 billion at 31 March 2006 as a result of £3.4 billion of additions during the year and £0.9 billion of additions
arising on acquisition as well as £0.3 billion of foreign exchange movements, partially offset by £3.1 billion of depreciation charges
and £0.7 billion of disposals including £0.6 billion in relation to the sale of the Group�s operations in Sweden. At 31 March 2006,
network infrastructure assets of £10.1 billion (2005: £14.1 billion) represented 73.6% (2005: 80.8%) of total property, plant and
equipment.

Investments in associated undertakings
The Group�s investments in associated undertakings increased from £20.2 billion at31 March 2005 to £23.2 billion at 31 March
2006, mainly as a result of £2.4 billion from the Group�s share of the results of its associates after the deductions of interest, tax and
minority interest, and favourable exchange rate movements of £1.4 billion, offset by £0.8 billion of dividends received.

Other non-current assets
Other non-current assets mainly relates to other investments held by the Group, which totalled £2.1 billion at 31 March 2006
compared to £1.2 billion at 31 March 2005, with the movement representing an increase in the listed share price of China Mobile in
which the Group has an equity investment and foreign exchange movements, offset by a

£0.5 billion decrease in deferred tax assets, excluding discontinued operations � see non-current liabilities below.

Current assets
Current assets decreased to £7.5 billion at 31 March 2006 from £9.4 billion at 31 March 2005, mainly as a result of a £1.0 billion
reduction in cash and liquid investments and the reclassification of Vodafone Japan as discontinued operations.

Equity shareholders� funds
Total equity shareholders� funds decreased from £113.8 billion at 31 March 2005 to £85.4 billion at 31 March 2006. The decrease
comprises of the loss for the year of £21.9 billion, equity dividends of £2.8 billion, purchases of the Company�s own shares of £6.5
billion, a loss on the re-issue of treasury shares of £0.1 billion and £0.1 billion of other movements, partially offset by £0.4 billion of
own shares released on vesting of share awards, issue of new share capital of £0.2 billion, a £0.1 billion share-based payments
charge and £2.3 billion of other accumulated other recognised income and expense.

Non-current liabilities
Non-current liabilities increased to £23.4 billion at 31 March 2006 from £18.9 billion at 31 March 2005, mainly due to the increase in
borrowings, which is discussed further in �Liquidity and Capital Resources�. The deferred tax liability increased from £4.8 billion at 31
March 2005 to £5.7 billion at 31 March 2006, which together with the £0.5 billion decrease in deferred tax assets, arose primarily
from a net £0.4 billion in relation to acquisitions and disposals in the year, £0.6 billion additional tax charges to the income
statement and £0.2 billion of foreign exchange movements � refer to note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Non-current
liabilities also includes £0.1 billion (2005: £0.1 billion) in relation to the deficit on defined benefit pension schemes � refer to note 25
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Current liabilities
Current liabilities increased to £15.5 billion from £14.6 billion.

Equity Dividends
The table below sets out the amounts of interim, final and total cash dividends paid or, in the case of the final dividend for the 2006
financial year, proposed in respect of each financial year indicated both in pence per ordinary share and translated, solely for
convenience, into cents per ordinary share at the Noon Buying Rate on each of the respective payment dates for such interim and
final dividends.

Pence per ordinary share Cents per ordinary share

Year ended
31 March Interim Final Total Interim Final Total
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2002 0.7224 0.7497 1.4721 1.0241 1.1422 2.1663
2003 0.7946 0.8983 1.6929 1.2939 1.4445 2.7384
2004 0.9535 1.0780 2.0315 1.7601 1.9899 3.7500
2005 1.91 2.16 4.07 3.60 4.08 7.68
2006 2.20 3.87(1) 6.07 3.83 6.73(1) 10.56

Note:
(1) The final dividend for the year was proposed on 30 May 2006 and is payable on 4 August 2006 to holders of record as of 7 June 2006. This

dividend has been translated into US dollars at the Noon Buying Rate at 31 March 2006 for ADS holders, but will be payable in US dollars
under the terms of the deposit agreement.

The Company has historically paid dividends semi-annually, with a regular interim dividend in respect of the first six months of the
financial year payable in February and a final dividend payable in August. The Board expects that the Company will continue to pay
dividends semi-annually. In November 2005, the Board declared an interim dividend of 2.20 pence per share, representing a 15.2%
increase over last year�s interim dividend.

In considering the level of dividends, the Board takes account of the outlook for earnings growth, operating cash flow generation,
capital expenditure requirements, acquisitions and divestments, together with the amount of debt and share purchases.

Consistent with this, and developments to the Group�s strategy, the Board has decided to target a 60% dividend pay out ratio taking
effect for the 2006 financial year. The Board is therefore recommending a final dividend of 3.87 pence, representing a 79.2%
increase over last year�s final dividend and bringing the total dividend for the year to 6.07 pence, an increase of 49.1% on last year�s
total dividend. The dividend pay out ratio, being the declared interim and proposed final dividends per share as a percentage of
adjusted earnings per share from continuing operations, in respect of the 2006 financial year of 60%, compared favourably with a
pay-out ratio for the 2005 financial year of 45%. It is the intention to grow future dividends on an annual basis in line with underlying
earnings growth, maintaining dividends per share at approximately 60% of adjusted earnings per share.

Cash dividends, if any, will be paid by the Company in respect of ordinary shares in
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pounds sterling or, to holders of ordinary shares with a registered address in a country which has adopted the euro as its national
currency, in euro, unless shareholders wish to elect to continue to receive dividends in sterling, are participating in the Company�s
Dividend Reinvestment Plan, or have mandated their dividend payment to be paid directly into a bank or building society account in
the United Kingdom. In accordance with the Company�s Articles of Association, the sterling: euro exchange rate will be determined
by the Company shortly before the payment date.

The Company will pay the ADS Depositary, The Bank of New York, its dividend in US dollars. The sterling: US dollar exchange rate
for this purpose will be determined by the Company shortly before the payment date. Cash dividends to ADS holders will be paid by
the ADS Depositary in US dollars.

Contractual Obligations
A summary of the Group�s principal contractual financial obligations is shown below. Further details on the items included can be
found in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Payments due by period £m

Contractual obligations(1) Total <1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years >5 years

Borrowings(2) 28,101 4,308 6,175 7,373 10,245
Operating lease commitments(3) 3,644 654 956 742 1,292
Capital commitments(4) 813 813 � � �
Purchase commitments(5) 1,159 855 187 89 28
Telsim asset acquisition agreements 2,600 2,600 � � �

Total contractual cash obligations(1) 36,317 9,230 7,318 8,204 11,565

Notes:
(1) The above table of contractual obligations excludes commitments in respect of options over interests in Group businesses held by minority

shareholders (see �Option agreements and similar arrangements�) and obligations to pay dividends to minority shareholders (see �Dividends from
associated undertakings and dividends to minority interests�). Disclosures required by Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�)
Interpretation No. 45, �Guarantor�s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others�, are provided in note 31 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The table also excludes obligations under post employment benefit
schemes, details of which are provided in note 25 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The table also excludes contractual obligations
relating to the Group�s discontinued operations in Japan, which were disposed of on 27 April 2006.

(2) See note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
(3) See note 30 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
(4) Primarily related to network infrastructure.
(5) Predominantly commitments for handsets.

Contingencies
Details of the Group�s contingent liabilities are included in note 31 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

A number of Vodafone subsidiaries acquired 3G licences through auctions in 2000 and 2001. An appeal was filed by Vodafone
Group Services Limited on behalf of Vodafone Limited, along with appeals filed by other UK mobile network operators which were
granted a 3G licence, with the VAT and Duties Tribunal on 18 October 2003 for recovery of VAT on the basis that the amount of the
licence fee was inclusive of VAT. The amount claimed by Vodafone Limited is approximately £888 million. In August 2004, these
claims were referred, jointly, to the ECJ and a hearing took place on 7 February 2006. A decision by the ECJ is expected within the
next 12 to 15 months. The Group has not recognised any amounts in respect of this matter to date. In addition, the Group has
made a claim for recovery of VAT in relation to 3G licence fees in Portugal, the Netherlands, Germany and Ireland. The Group may
also pursue similar claims in certain other European jurisdictions.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash flows
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The major sources of Group liquidity for the 2006 financial year have been cash generated from operations, dividends from
associated undertakings, borrowings through short term and long term issuances in the capital markets and asset disposals. For
the year ended 31 March 2005, sources of Group liquidity were from cash generated from operations and dividends from
associates. The Group does not use off-balance sheet special purpose entities as a source of liquidity or for other financing
purposes.

The Group�s key sources of liquidity for the foreseeable future are likely to be cash generated from operations and borrowings
through long term and short term issuances in the capital markets, as well as committed bank facilities. Additionally, the Group has
a put option in relation to its interest in Verizon Wireless which, if exercised, could provide a material cash inflow. Please see
�Option agreements and similar arrangements� at the end of this section.

The Group�s liquidity and working capital may be affected by a material decrease in cash flow due to factors such as reduced
operating cash flow resulting from further possible business disposals, increased competition, litigation, timing of tax payments and
the resolution of outstanding tax issues, regulatory rulings, delays in development of new services and networks, inability to receive
expected revenue from the introduction of

new services, reduced dividends from associates and investments or dividend payments to minority shareholders. Please see the
section titled �Risk Factors, Trends and Outlook�, on pages 43 to 45. The Group anticipates a significant increase in cash tax
payments and associated interest payments over the next three years due to the resolution of long standing tax issues. The Group
is also party to a number of agreements that may result in a cash outflow in future periods. These agreements are discussed
further in �Option agreements and similar arrangements� at the end of this section.

Wherever possible, surplus funds in the Group (except in Albania, Romania and Egypt) are transferred to the centralised treasury
department through repayment of borrowings, deposits and dividends. These are then on-lent or contributed as equity to fund
Group operations, used to retire external debt or invested externally.

Decrease in cash in the year
During the 2006 financial year, the Group increased its net cash inflow from operating activities by 7.9% to £11,841 million,
including a 10.3% increase to £10,190 million from continuing operations. The Group generated £6,418 million of free cash flow
from continuing operations, a reduction of 2.6% on the previous financial year, and an additional £701 million from discontinued
operations. Free cash flow from continuing operations decreased from the prior financial year due to a reduction in the dividends
received from associated undertakings, principally Verizon Wireless, and an increase in capital expenditure which more than offset
the increase in the net cash inflow from operating activities.

The Group holds its cash and liquid investments in accordance with the counterparty and settlement risk limits of the Board
approved treasury policy. The main forms of liquid investments at 31 March 2006 were money market funds and bank deposits.

2006 2005

£m £m

Net cash flows from operating activities 11,841 10,979
� Continuing operations 10,190 9,240
� Discontinued operations 1,651 1,739
Taxation 1,682 1,578
Purchase of intangible fixed assets (690) (699)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (4,481) (4,279)
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 26 68

Operating free cash flow 8,378 7,647
Taxation (1,682) (1,578)
Dividends from associated undertakings 835 1,896
Dividends paid to minority shareholders in
subsidiary undertakings (51) (32)

Dividends from investments 41 19
Interest received 319 339
Interest paid (721) (744)

Free cash flow 7,119 7,547
� Continuing operations 6,418 6,592
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� Discontinued operations 701 955
Net cash outflow from acquisitions and disposals (3,587) (2,017)
Other cash flows from investing activities (56) 113
Equity dividends paid (2,749) (1,991)
Other cash flows from financing activities (1,555) (5,764)

Decrease in cash in the year (828) (2,112)

Capital expenditure
During the 2006 financial year, £4,481 million was spent on property, plant and equipment, an increase of 4.7% from the previous
financial year. From continuing operations, the amount spent increased to £3,634 million.

The cash outflow in intangible assets reduced from £699 million in the previous financial year to £690 million in the current financial
year, with the largest element being expenditure on computer software.

Dividends from associated undertakings and investments and dividends to minority shareholders
Dividends from the Group�s associated undertakings and investments are generally paid at the discretion of the board of directors or
shareholders of the individual operating
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companies and Vodafone has no rights to receive dividends, except where specified within certain of the companies� shareholders�
agreements, such as with SFR, the Group�s associated undertaking in France. Similarly, the Group does not have existing
obligations under shareholders� agreements to pay dividends to minority interest partners of Group subsidiaries, except as specified
below.

Included in the dividends received from associated undertakings and investments was an amount of £195 million received from
Verizon Wireless. Until April 2005, Verizon Wireless� distributions were determined by the terms of the partnership agreement
distribution policy and comprised income distributions and tax distributions. Since April 2005, tax distributions have continued and a
new distribution policy is expected to be set in the future by the Board of Representatives of Verizon Wireless. Current projections
forecast that tax distributions will not be sufficient to cover the US tax liabilities arising from the Group�s partnership interest in
Verizon Wireless until 2015 and, in the absence of additional distributions above the level of tax distributions during this period, will
result in a net cash outflow for the Group. Under the terms of the partnership agreement, the board of directors has no obligation to
provide for additional distributions above the level of the tax distributions. It is the expectation that Verizon Wireless will re-invest
free cash flow in the business and reduce indebtedness for the foreseeable future.

During the year ended 31 March 2006, cash dividends totalling £511 million were received from SFR in accordance with the
shareholders� agreement.

Verizon Communications Inc. (�Verizon Communications�) has an indirect 23.1% shareholding in Vodafone Italy and, under the
shareholders� agreement, can request dividends to be paid, provided that such dividends would not impair the financial condition or
prospects of Vodafone Italy including, without limitation, its credit rating. No dividends were proposed or paid by Vodafone Italy
during or since the year ended 31 March 2006 but a share purchase programme occurred during the financial year, further details
of which are provided on page 41.

Acquisitions and disposals
The Group invested a net £3,643 million in acquisition and disposal activities, including a net cash outflow of £56 million from the
purchase and disposal of investments, in the year to 31 March 2006. The acquisitions are described in more detail under �Business
Overview � History and Development of the Company�.

An analysis of the main transactions in the 2006 financial year, including the changes in the Group�s effective shareholding, is
shown below:

£m

Acquisitions:
Czech Republic (nil to 100%) and

Romania (20.1% to 100%)(1) 1,840

South Africa (35.0% to 49.9%)(1) 1,444
India (nil to 10.0%)(1) 849

Disposals:
Sweden (100% to nil) (658)

Other net acquisitions and disposals,
including investments 168

3,643

Note:

(1) Amounts are shown net of cash and cash
equivalents acquired.

On 17 March 2006, the Group announced an agreement to sell its 97.7% holding in Vodafone Japan to SoftBank. The transaction
completed on 27 April 2006 with the Group receiving cash of approximately ¥1.42 trillion (£6.9 billion), including the repayment of
intercompany debt of ¥0.16 trillion (£0.8 billion). In addition, the Group received non-cash consideration with a fair value of
approximately ¥0.23 trillion (£1.1 billion), comprised of preferred equity and a subordinated loan. SoftBank also assumed external
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debt of approximately ¥0.13 trillion (£0.6 billion).

Special distribution of £9 billion
On 17 March 2006, the Group stated that it will make a special distribution of approximately £6 billion in the 2007 financial year of
the £6.9 billion cash received following the completion of the sale of the Group�s interest in Vodafone Japan. Through targeting a
lower credit rating, the Group now plans to return a further £3 billion, resulting in a total distribution of approximately £9 billion.

This equates to 15p per ordinary share. Subject to shareholder approval, the method of distribution will be in the form of a B share
arrangement with a share consolidation, which will reduce the Company�s shares in issue. The B share arrangement provides for
shareholder flexibility as to when and how cash is received, thereby allowing income tax and capital gains management for some
shareholders. The Company will post a circular to shareholders, with full details of the B share arrangement and the consolidation,
on or around 13 June 2006.

The consolidation, which will replace existing ordinary shares with fewer new ordinary shares, is intended to maintain the share
price, subject to normal market movements, and, consequently, historic comparability. For non-US shareholders, the B shares will
be redeemed by default, with shareholders receiving a capital distribution. They may, however, elect for certain alternatives.
Non-US shareholders can elect to receive the 15 pence as a one off dividend or elect to receive the capital distribution over time at
pre-determined dates. Payment in respect of the initial redemption is intended to be made on 11 August 2006 and for any
shareholders electing to receive the one off 15 pence per B share dividend payment is also intended to be made on 11 August
2006. It is expected that US shareholders and American Depositary Receipt (�ADR�) holders will only be entitled to receive the return
as a one off dividend.

Share purchase programme
When considering how increased returns to shareholders can be provided in the form of share purchases, the Board reviews the
free cash flow, anticipated cash requirements, dividends, credit profile and gearing of the Group.

On 24 May 2005, the Board allocated £4.5 billion to the share purchase programme for the year to 31 March 2006, which was
subsequently increased to £6.5 billion. For the period from 1 April 2005 to 31 March 2006, the Company purchased 4,848 million
shares at a cost of £6.5 billion. The average share price paid, excluding transaction costs, was 133.37 pence, compared with the
average volume weighted price over the same period but excluding the period when shares could not be purchased, due to the
announcement of the discussions which led to the disposal of Vodafone Japan, of 133.87 pence. No shares have been purchased
since 31 March 2006. In addition to ordinary market purchases, the Company placed irrevocable purchase instructions prior to the
start of some of the close periods and in advance of quarterly KPI announcements.

At its AGM on 26 July 2005, the Company received shareholder approval to purchase up to 6.4 billion shares of the Company. This
approval will expire at the conclusion of the Company�s AGM on 25 July 2006. Shares can be purchased on market on the London
Stock Exchange at a price not exceeding 105% of the average middle market quotation for such shares on the five business days
prior to the date of purchase and otherwise in accordance with the rules of the Financial Services Authority. Purchases are only
made if accretive to adjusted earnings per share.

As a result of targeting a lower credit rating and the £9 billion special distribution, the Group has no current plans for further share
purchases or other one off shareholder returns.

Details of shares purchased under the programme are shown below:

Total
number of

shares
 Average purchased

price under Maximum
paid per publicly value of

Total share, announced shares
number of inclusive of share purchased

shares transaction purchase under the
purchased costs programme (1) programme(2)

Date of share purchase �000 Pence �000 £m

1 � 30 April 2005 321,000 139.33 321,000 4,053
1 � 23 May 2005 84,500 139.00 405,500 3,935
24 � 31 May 2005 110,000 139.49 515,500 3,782
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1 � 30 June 2005 508,500 136.80 1,024,000 3,086
1 � 10 July 2005 145,500 137.23 1,169,500 2,887
11 � 27 July 2005 225,700 144.32 1,395,200 2,561
28 � 31 July 2005 � � 1,395,200 2,561
1 � 31 August 2005 297,900 150.57 1,693,100 2,112
1 � 30 September 2005 273,900 151.21 1,967,000 1,698
1 � 31 October 2005 368,000 146.76 2,335,000 1,158
1 � 14 November 2005 71,500 150.83 2,406,500 3,050
15 � 30 November 2005 564,000 128.23 2,970,500 2,327
1 � 31 December 2005 362,500 126.49 3,333,000 1,868
1 � 9 January 2006 165,500 129.63 3,498,500 1,654
10 � 24 January 2006 504,000 124.99 4,002,500 1,024
25 � 31 January 2006 76,500 121.17 4,079,000 931
1 � 28 February 2006 411,000 119.84 4,490,000 439
1 � 31 March 2006 358,000 122.42 4,848,000 �

Total 4,848,000 134.07 4,848,000 �

Notes:
(1) No shares were purchased outside the publicly announced share purchase programmes.
(2) On 24 May 2005, the Company announced it was allocating £4.5 billion to the share purchase programme to cover the year to 31 March

2006, including those shares purchased between 1 April 2005 and 23 May 2005 under irrevocable purchase instructions. This superseded
the £4 billion programme announced in November 2004. On 15 November 2005, the Company announced that it was increasing the
allocation to £6.5 billion completing by March 2006.
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Treasury shares
The Companies Act 1985 permits companies to purchase their own shares out of distributable reserves and to hold shares with a
nominal value not to exceed 10% of the nominal value of their issued share capital in treasury. If shares in excess of this limit are
purchased they must be cancelled. Whilst held in treasury, no voting rights or preemption rights accrue and no dividends are paid
in respect of treasury shares. Treasury shares may be sold for cash, transferred (in certain circumstances) for the purposes of an
employee share scheme, or cancelled. If treasury shares are sold, such sales are deemed to be a new issue of shares and will
accordingly count towards the 5% of share capital which the Company is permitted to issue on a non pre-emptive basis in any one
year as approved by its shareholders at the AGM. The proceeds of any sale of treasury shares up to the amount of the original
purchase price, calculated on a weighted average price method, is attributed to distributable profits which would not occur in the
case of the sale of non-treasury shares. Any excess above the original purchase price must be transferred to the share premium
account.

Shares purchased are held in treasury in accordance with section 162 of the Companies Act 1985. The movement in treasury
shares during the financial year is shown below:

Number
million £m

1 April 2005 3,814 5,121
Repurchase of shares 4,848 6,500
Cancellation of shares (2,250) (3,053)
Re-issue of shares (279) (370)

31 March 2006 6,133 8,198

Vodafone Italy share purchase
On 19 April 2005, the board of directors of Vodafone Italy approved a proposal to buy back issued and outstanding shares for
approximately €7.9 billion (£5.4 billion), which was subsequently approved by the shareholders of Vodafone Italy. The buy back took
place in two tranches, the first on 24 June 2005 and the second on 7 November 2005. As a result, Vodafone received €6.1 billion
(£4.2 billion) and Verizon Communications received €1.8 billion (£1.2 billion). After the transaction, Vodafone and Verizon
Communications shareholdings in Vodafone Italy remained at approximately 77% and 23%, respectively. At 31 March 2006,
Vodafone Italy had net cash on deposit with Group companies of €2.3 billion (£1.6 billion).

Funding
The Group�s consolidated net debt position for continuing operations is as follows:

2006 2005
£m £m

Cash and cash equivalents (as presented in the
consolidated cash flow statement) 2,932 3,726

Bank overdrafts 18 43
Cash and cash equivalents for discontinued operations (161) �

Cash and cash equivalents (as presented in
the consolidated balance sheet) 2,789 3,769

Trade and other receivables(1) 310 408
Trade and other payables(1) (219) (79)
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Short-term borrowings (3,448) (2,003)
Long-term borrowings (16,750) (13,190)

(20,107) (14,864)

Net debt as extracted from the consolidated balance sheet (17,318) (11,095)
Net debt related to discontinued operations � 920

Net debt related to continuing operations (17,318) (10,175)

Note:
(1) Trade and other receivables and payables include certain derivative financial instruments (see notes 17 and 27).
Net debt increased to £17,318 million, from £10,175 million at 31 March 2005, principally as a result of the cash flow items noted
above, share purchases, equity dividend payments and £34 million of foreign exchange movements. This represented
approximately 24% of the Group�s market capitalisation at 31 March 2006 compared with 11% at 31 March 2005. Average net debt
at month end accounting dates over the 12 month period ended 31 March 2006 was £13,391 million, and ranged between £9,551
million and £17,318 million during the year.

Consistent with development of its strategy, the Group is now targeting low single A long term credit ratings from Moody�s, Fitch
Ratings and Standard & Poor�s having previously managed the capital structure at single A credit ratings. Credit ratings are not a
recommendation to purchase, hold or sell securities, in as much as ratings do not comment on market price or suitability for a
particular investor, and are subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organisation. Each rating should be
evaluated independently.

The Group�s credit ratings enable it to have access to a wide range of debt finance, including commercial paper, bonds and
committed bank facilities.

Commercial paper programmes
The Group currently has US and euro commercial paper programmes of $15 billion and £5 billion, respectively, which are available
to be used to meet short term liquidity requirements and which were undrawn at 31 March 2005. At 31 March 2006, $696 million
(£400 million) was drawn under the US commercial paper programme and $80 million (£46 million) and £285 million were drawn
under the euro commercial paper programme. The commercial paper facilities are supported by $10.9 billion (£6.3 billion) of
committed bank facilities, comprised of a $5.9 billion Revolving Credit Facility that matures on 24 June 2009 and a $5.0 billion
Revolving Credit Facility that matures on 22 June 2012. At 31 March 2006 and 31 March 2005, no amounts had been drawn under
either bank facility.

Bonds
The Group has a €15 billion Euro Medium Term Note programme, a $12 billion US shelf programme and a ¥600 billion Japanese
shelf programme, which are used to meet medium to long term funding requirements. At 31 March 2006, the total amounts in issue
under these programmes split by currency were $13.4 billion, £1.5 billion, €8.7 billion and ¥3 billion. In addition, the Group�s
discontinued operation in Japan had bonds in issue of ¥125 billion, which were transferred to SoftBank following completion of the
sale of Vodafone Japan.

In the year to 31 March 2006, bonds with a nominal value £5.2 billion were issued under the US Shelf and the Euro Medium Term
Note programme. The bonds issued during the year were:

US Shelf / Euro
Medium Term
Note (�EMTN�)

Date of bond issue Maturity of bond Currency Amount Million programme

8 August 2005 15 September 2015 USD 750 US Shelf
8 September 2005 8 September 2014 GBP 350 EMTN
29 November 2005 29 November 2012 EUR 750 EMTN
29 December 2005 29 June 2007 USD 1,850 US Shelf
29 December 2005 28 December 2007 USD 750 US Shelf
8 February 2006 17 July 2008 EUR 1,250 EMTN
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16 March 2006 28 December 2007 USD 750 US Shelf
16 March 2006 15 June 2011 USD 350 US Shelf
16 March 2006 15 June 2011 USD 750 US Shelf
16 March 2006 15 March 2016 USD 750 US Shelf

At 31 March 2006, the Group had bonds in issue with a nominal value of £15,389 million, including $207 million of bonds that were
assumed as part of the acquisition of MobiFon S.A. and Oscar Mobil a.s. on 31 May 2005, plus a further ¥125 billion bonds in the
Group�s discontinued operations in Japan.

On 7 June 2006, the Company agreed to issue €1 billion of bonds due on 13 January 2012 and €300 million of bonds due on 14 June
2016 under the Euro Medium Term Note programme. The bonds were issued on 14 June 2006.
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Committed facilities
The following table summarises the committed bank facilities available to the Group at 31 March 2006:

Committed Bank Facilities Amounts drawn

24 June 2004
$5.9 billion Revolving Credit Facility, maturing 24 June 2009. No drawings have been made against this facility. The facility

supports the Group�s commercial paperprogrammes and may
be used for general corporate purposes including acquisitions.

24 June 2005

$5.0 billion Revolving Credit Facility, maturing 22 June 2012. No drawings have been made against this facility. The facility
supports the Group�s commercial paperprogrammes and may
be used for general corporate purposes including acquisitions.

21 December 2005

¥259 billion Term Credit Facility, maturing 16 March 2011,
entered into by Vodafone Finance K.K. and guaranteed by the
Company.

The facility was drawn down in full on 21 December 2005. The
facility is available for general corporate purposes, although
amounts drawn must be on-lent to the Company.

Under the terms and conditions of the $10.9 billion committed bank facilities, lenders have the right, but not the obligation, to cancel
their commitments and have outstanding advances repaid no sooner than 30 days after notification of a change of control of the
Company. The facility agreements provide for certain structural changes that do not affect the obligations of the Company to be
specifically excluded from the definition of a change of control. This is in addition to the rights of lenders to cancel their commitment
if the Company has committed an event of default.

Substantially the same terms and conditions apply in the case of Vodafone Finance K.K.�s ¥259 billion term credit facility, although
the change of control provision is applicable to any guarantor of borrowings under the term credit facility. As of 31 March 2006, the
Company was the sole guarantor.

In addition, Vodafone Japan has a fully drawn bilateral facility totalling ¥8 billion (£39 million) which expires in January 2007 and
which was included in the sale of Vodafone Japan.

Furthermore, three of the Group�s subsidiary undertakings are funded by external facilities which are non-recourse to any member
of the Group other than the borrower, due to the level of country risk involved. These facilities may only be used to fund their
operations. Vodafone Egypt has a partly drawn (EGP250 million (£25 million)) syndicated bank facility of EGP900 million (£90
million) that fully expires in September 2007. On 1 April 2006 the undrawn EGP 650 million (£65 million) element of the facility
lapsed. Vodafone Albania has a fully drawn (€60 million (£42 million)) syndicated bank facility that expires at various dates up to and
including October 2012. Vodafone Romania has a fully drawn €200 million syndicated bank facility that expires at various dates up
to October 2010.

In aggregate, the Group has committed facilities of approximately £7,833 million, of which £6,362 million was undrawn and £1,471
million was drawn at 31 March 2006.

The Group believes that it has sufficient funding for its expected working capital requirements. Further details regarding the
maturity, currency and interest rates of the Group�s gross borrowings at 31 March 2006 are included in note 24 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Financial assets and liabilities
Analyses of financial assets and liabilities, including the maturity profile of debt, currency and interest rate structure, are included in
notes 18 and 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Details of the Group�s treasury management and policies are included
within note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Option agreements and similar arrangements
Potential cash inflows
As part of the agreements entered into upon the formation of Verizon Wireless, the Company entered into an Investment
Agreement with Verizon Communications, formerly Bell Atlantic Corporation, and Verizon Wireless. Under this agreement, dated 3
April 2000, the Company has the right to require Verizon Communications or Verizon Wireless to acquire interests in the Verizon
Wireless partnership from the Company with an aggregate market value of up to $20 billion during certain periods up to August
2007, dependent on the value of the Company�s 45% stake in Verizon Wireless. This represents a potential source of liquidity to the
Group.

Exercise of the option could have occurred in either one or both of two phases. The Phase I option expired in August 2004 without
being exercised. The Phase II option may be exercised during the periods commencing 30 days before and ending 30 days after
any one or more of 10 July 2006 and 10 July 2007. The Phase II option also limits the aggregate amount paid to $20 billion and
caps the payments under single exercises to $10 billion. Determination of the market value of the Company�s interests will be by
mutual agreement of the parties to the transaction or, if no such agreement is reached within 30 days of the valuation date, by
appraisal. If an initial public offering takes place and the common stock trades in a regular and active market, the market value of
the Company�s interest will be determined by reference to the trading price of common stock.

Potential cash outflows
In respect of the Group�s interest in the Verizon Wireless partnership, an option granted to Price Communications, Inc. by Verizon
Communications is exercisable at any time up to and including 15 August 2006. The option gives Price Communications, Inc. the
right to exchange its preferred limited partnership interest in Verizon Wireless of the East LP for either equity of Verizon Wireless (if
an initial public offering of such equity occurs), or common stock of Verizon Communications. If the exercise occurs, Verizon
Communications has the right, but not the obligation, to contribute the preferred interest to the Verizon Wireless partnership,
diluting the Group�s interest. However, the Group also has the right to contribute further capital to the Verizon Wireless partnership
in order to maintain its percentage partnership interest at the level just prior to the exercise of the option. Such amount is expected
to be $1.0 billion.

During the 2005 financial year, the Group sold 16.9% of Vodafone Egypt to Telecom Egypt, reducing the Group�s effective interest
to 50.1%. Both parties also signed a shareholder agreement setting out the basis under which the Group and Telecom Egypt would
each contribute a 25.5% interest in Vodafone Egypt to a newly formed company to be 50% owned by each party. Within this
shareholder agreement, Telecom Egypt was granted a put option over its entire interest in Vodafone Egypt giving Telecom Egypt
the right to put its shares back to the Group at fair market value. On 31 October 2005, the shareholder agreement between
Telecom Egypt and Vodafone expired and the associated rights and obligations contained in the shareholder agreement
terminated, including the aforementioned put option. However, the original shareholders agreement contained an obligation on both
parties to use reasonable efforts to renegotiate a revised shareholder agreement for their direct shareholding in Vodafone Egypt on
substantially the same terms as the original agreement, which may or may not lead to a new agreement containing a put option
under the terms described above. As of 31 March 2006, the parties have not agreed to abandon such efforts and as such, the
financial liability relating to the initial shareholder agreement has been retained in the Group�s balance sheet at 31 March 2006.

In respect of Arcor, the Group�s non-mobile operation in Germany, the capital structure provides all partners, including the Group,
the right to withdraw capital from 31 December 2026 onwards and this right in relation to the minority partners has been recognised
as a financial liability.

Off-balance sheet arrangements
The Group does not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined by the SEC. Please refer to notes 30 and 31 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the Group�s commitments and contingent liabilities.

Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk
A discussion of the Group�s financial risk management objectives and policies and the exposure of the Group to liquidity, market
and credit risk is included within note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Risk Factors
Regulatory decisions and changes in the regulatory environment could adversely affect the Group�s
business.
Because the Group has ventures in a large number of geographic areas, it must comply with an extensive range of requirements
that regulate and supervise the licensing, construction and operation of its telecommunications networks and services. In particular,
there are agencies which regulate and supervise the allocation of frequency spectrum and which monitor and enforce regulation
and competition laws which apply to the mobile telecommunications industry. Decisions by regulators regarding the granting,
amendment or renewal of licences, to the Group or to third parties, could adversely affect the Group�s future operations in these
geographic areas. The Group cannot provide any assurances that governments in the countries in which it operates will not issue
telecommunications licences to new operators whose services will compete with it. In addition, other changes in the regulatory
environment concerning the use of mobile phones may lead to a reduction in the usage of mobile phones or otherwise adversely
affect the Group. Additionally, decisions by regulators and new legislation could affect the pricing for, or adversely affect the
revenue from, the services the Group offers. Further details on the regulatory framework in certain countries and regions in which
the Group operates, and on regulatory proceedings can be found in �Regulation� on pages 21 to 24.

Increased competition may reduce market share or revenue.
The Group faces intensifying competition. Competition could lead to a reduction in the rate at which the Group adds new customers
and to a decrease in the size of the Group�s market share as customers choose to receive telecommunications services, or other
competing services, from other providers. Examples include, but are not limited to, competition from internet-based services and
MVNOs.

The focus of competition in many of the Group�s markets continues to shift from customer acquisition to customer retention as the
market for mobile telecommunications has become increasingly penetrated. Customer deactivations are measured by the Group�s
churn rate. There can be no assurance that the Group will not experience increases in churn rates, particularly as competition
intensifies. An increase in churn rates could adversely affect profitability because the Group would experience lower revenue and
additional selling costs to replace customers, although such costs would have a future revenue stream to mitigate the impact.

Increased competition has also led to declines in the prices the Group charges for its mobile services and is expected to lead to
further price declines in the future. Competition could also lead to an increase in the level at which the Group must provide
subsidies for handsets. Additionally, the Group could face increased competition should there be an award of additional licences in
jurisdictions in which a member of the Group already has a licence.

Delays in the development of handsets and network compatibility and components may hinder the
deployment of new technologies.
The Group�s operations depend in part upon the successful deployment of continuously evolving mobile telecommunications
technologies. The Group uses technologies from a number of vendors and makes significant capital expenditures in connection
with the deployment of such technologies. There can be no assurance that common standards and specifications will be achieved,
that there will be inter-operability across Group and other networks, that technologies will be developed according to anticipated
schedules, that they will perform according to expectations or that they will achieve commercial acceptance. The introduction of
software and other network components may also be delayed. The failure of vendor performance or technology performance to
meet the Group�s expectations or the failure of a technology to achieve commercial acceptance could result in additional capital
expenditures by the Group or a reduction in profitability.

Expected benefits from integration may not be realised.
The One Vodafone programme represents the Group�s principal plan to achieve integration across the Group�s operating
companies, particularly in Europe, and is designed to maximise the benefits of Vodafone�s scale and scope. The programme is
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premised on six core initiatives, further details of which can be found on pages 18 to 19. The Group has previously stated publicly
that it expects to realise operational revenue benefits by the year ending 31 March 2008. These expected benefits have been
formulated by management on the assumption that all of the core initiatives which comprise the One Vodafone programme
generate the results anticipated and that the Group is able to take advantage of its size and exploit the associated economies of
scale to their fullest extent. Management considers these targeted revenue enhancements set out on pages 18 to 19 to be
achievable, although no assurance can be given that the full extent of the anticipated benefits of the One Vodafone programme will
be realised. In addition, the ability to deliver tangible business benefits from the convergence of the Group�s IT systems could be
compromised by the technical complexity of such a process or other difficulties associated with converging multiple systems
architectures.

Changes in assumptions underlying the carrying value of certain Group assets could result in impairment.
Vodafone completes a review of the carrying value of its assets annually, or more frequently where the circumstances require, to
assess whether those carrying values can be supported by the future cash flows derived from such assets. This review examines
the continued appropriateness of the assumptions in respect of highly uncertain matters upon which the carrying values of certain
of the Group�s assets are based. This includes an assessment of discount rates and long term growth rates, future technological
developments and timing and quantum of future capital expenditure, as well as several factors which may affect revenues and
profitability identified within other Risk Factors in this section such as intensifying competition, pricing pressures, regulatory
changes and the timing for introducing new products or services. Due to the Group�s substantial carrying value of goodwill under
IFRS and licences under US GAAP, the revision of any of these assumptions to reflect current or anticipated changes in operations
or the financial condition of the Group could lead to an impairment in the carrying value of certain assets in the Group. Whilst
impairment does not impact reported cash flows, it does result in a non-cash charge on the income statement, and thus no
assurance can be given that any future impairments would not affect the Company�s reported distributable reserves and therefore
its ability to make distributions to its shareholders or repurchase its shares. See �Critical Accounting Estimates �Impairment Reviews�
on page 26.

The Group�s business would be adversely affected by the non-supply of equipment and support services by
a major supplier.
Companies within the Group source their mobile network infrastructure and related support services from third party suppliers. The
removal from the market of one or more of these third party suppliers would adversely affect the Group�s operations and could
result in additional capital expenditures by the Group.

The Company�s strategic objectives may be impeded by the fact that it does not have a controlling interest
in some of its ventures.
Some of the Group�s interests in mobile licences are held through entities in which it is a significant but not controlling owner. Under
the governing documents for some of these partnerships and corporations, certain key matters such as the approval of business
plans and decisions as to the timing and amount of cash distributions require the consent of the partners. In others, these matters
may be approved without the Company�s consent. The Company may enter into similar arrangements as it participates in ventures
formed to pursue additional opportunities. Although the Group has not been materially constrained by the nature of its mobile
ownership interests, no assurance can be given that its partners will not exercise their power of veto or their controlling influence in
any of the Group�s ventures in a way that will hinder the Group�s corporate objectives and reduce any anticipated cost savings or
revenue enhancement resulting from these ventures.

Expected benefits from investment in networks, licences and new technology may not be realised.
The Group has made substantial investments in the acquisition of licences and in its mobile networks, including the roll out of 3G
networks. The Group expects to continue to make significant investments in its mobile networks due to increased usage and the
need to offer new services and greater functionality afforded by new or evolving telecommunications technologies. Accordingly, the
rate of the Group�s capital expenditures in future years could remain high or exceed that which it has experienced to date.

Please see �Business Overview � Licences and network infrastructure� on pages 14 to 15 for more information on expected
expenditure in connection with the roll out of 3G services. There can be no assurance that the introduction of new services will
proceed according to anticipated schedules or that the level of demand for new services will justify the cost of setting up and
providing new services. Failure or a delay in the completion of networks and the launch of new services, or increases in the
associated costs, could have a material adverse effect on the Group�s operations.

The Group may experience a decline in revenue or profitability notwithstanding its efforts to increase
revenue from the introduction of new services.
As part of its strategy to increase usage of its networks, the Group will continue to offer new services to its existing customers and
seek to increase non-voice service revenue as a percentage of total service revenue. However, the Group may not be able to
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introduce commercially these new services, or may experience significant delays due to problems such as the availability of new
mobile handsets or higher than anticipated prices of new handsets. In addition, even if these services are introduced in accordance
with expected time schedules, there is no assurance that revenue from such services will increase ARPU or maintain profit
margins.
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The Group�s business and its ability to retain customers and attract new customers may be impaired by
actual or perceived health risks associated with the transmission of radiowaves from mobile telephones,
transmitters and associated equipment.
Concerns have been expressed in some countries where the Group operates that the electromagnetic signals emitted by mobile
telephone handsets and base stations may pose health risks at exposure levels below existing guideline levels and may interfere
with the operation of electronic equipment. In addition, as described under the heading �Legal Proceedings� in note 31 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, several mobile industry participants, including the Company and Verizon Wireless, have had
lawsuits filed against them alleging various health consequences as a result of mobile phone usage, including brain cancer. While
the Company is not aware that such health risks have been substantiated, there can be no assurance that the actual, or perceived,
risks associated with radiowave transmission will not impair its ability to retain customers and attract new customers, reduce mobile
telecommunications usage or result in further litigation. In such event, because of the Group�s strategic focus on mobile
telecommunications, its business and results of operations may be more adversely affected than those of other companies in the
telecommunications sector.

Trend Information
The growth in the mobile telecommunications industry in terms of customers, revenue and cash flows has been substantial over the
past decade. Vodafone believes that the mobile industry will continue to experience growth, although as the markets in which the
Group operates mature, the rate of growth will depend on the demand for enhanced voice and data products and services and the
amount of voice and data traffic moving from fixed networks to mobile networks. The most significant current trends which are
expected to impact the Group are:

Increasing penetration rates and competition between network operators for customers
For the Group�s operations which operate in less penetrated markets, the Group expects customer growth to be the principal source
of revenue growth. Gaining new customers depends on many factors, including network coverage and quality, customer
satisfaction, product offerings and handset range but a key factor is often the pricing of handsets and tariffs. In general, as
penetration rates rise in a market, competition intensifies as operators invest more in retaining their existing customers whilst
offering incentives to potential new customers. These competitive pressures, along with new mobile users who generally spend
less than existing users, exert a downward pressure on ARPU and result in increased acquisition and retention costs. The Group
anticipates that this trend will continue, though it will endeavour to offset the impact by usage stimulation campaigns, new product
offerings and leveraging the Group�s scale and scope.

In markets with high penetration rates, the Group expects usage stimulation and new products and services to be the main drivers
of revenue growth. Building on the success of recent campaigns in many of the Group�s markets, bundled offerings are expected to
expand to provide better value to customers and encourage increased use of the Group�s services. Such stimulation initiatives are
expected to increase ARPU in the medium and longer term as higher usage more than offsets the reduced average revenue per
minute or per message. The Group also expects that technology innovation will lead to the improved integration of PC�s and laptops
with mobile services and provide opportunities for the Group to expand its product offering, resulting in a larger market for its
services.

A number of national regulators are considering allocating additional spectrum or offering new licences for the provision of mobile
telecommunications services. If the additional spectrum or new licences are acquired by new or existing competitors, the
competitive pressures in the local market may increase.

Impact of new competitors
New service providers, or MVNOs, in a number of markets in which the Group operates are increasing the competitive pressures in
certain market segments with low cost offerings. Certain national regulators require, or have stated their intention to require,
network operators to provide network access to such service providers. The Group expects that in markets in which new service
providers have a significant competitive impact, ARPU is likely to reduce and this competition may result in the need for the Group
to invest further amounts in customer retention.

Downward pressure on termination rates from regulatory action
In recent years, action by NRA�s has led to reductions in the income the Group receives for terminating calls from fixed or other
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mobile networks and, similarly, reductions in the cost charged by other operators for connecting a call on their fixed or mobile
network. Vodafone expects such regulatory pressure to persist for the foreseeable future.

Development of and demand for data services
Since the Group�s introduction of data service offerings, revenue from these services has increased each year, although there can
be no assurance that this will continue to be the case. With continued growth in the use of data services as more customers utilise
3G services, including video calling and full track music downloads, the Vodafone Mobile Connect data card, new business focused
offerings and the recent launch of 3G broadband, the Group expects continued growth in non-messaging data service revenue and
for this revenue to increase as a percentage of total service revenue over time.

Benefits of regional scale and scope
As the world�s leading international mobile telecommunications company, the Group is able to benefit from its regional scale and
scope. The One Vodafone initiatives (see pages 18 to 19) are targeted at maximising the future value of these benefits.

Impact of convergence and disruptive technologies
The emergence of new technologies, which enable core and radio access networks to be increasingly based on internet protocols,
is likely to provide the Group with opportunities to reduce costs and target the replacement of customers� fixed line phone services.
However, they will also provide opportunities for new competitors to enter the telecommunications services market. Vodafone
believes it is well placed to take advantage of these opportunities, as demonstrated by the launch of Vodafone Zuhause in
Germany.

Depreciation expense
Depreciation expense is driven largely by capital expenditure on building and upgrading the Group�s networks. Capital expenditure
on network equipment has increased in recent years with the construction of 3G networks. As network equipment generally has an
expected useful life of between three and ten years, the resulting depreciation expense in the medium term is likely to be higher
than in the current financial year. The One Vodafone initiatives are expected to reduce capital expenditure, and hence depreciation,
relative to revenue in the longer term.

Seasonality
The Group�s financial results and cash flows have not, historically, been subject to significant seasonal trends between the first and
second half of the financial year, although there are a number of offsetting trends.

Traditionally, the Christmas period sees a higher volume of customer connections, contributing to higher equipment and connection
revenue in the second half of the financial year. Ongoing airtime revenue also demonstrates signs of seasonality, with revenue
generally lower during February, which is a shorter than average month, and revenue from roaming charges higher during the
summer months as a result of increased travel by customers.

There is no assurance that these trends will continue in the future. For additional considerations related to these trends, please see
�Risk Factors� in this section.
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2007 financial year
While we are delivering on cost reduction, revenue stimulation and emerging market growth in the shorter term, the potential
benefits from serving our customers total telecommunications needs will materialise over a longer timeframe.

For the year ahead, we expect operating conditions to remain challenging, with a continued intense competitive environment and
further regulatory pressure, but nevertheless see continued growth in Group revenue.

We are anticipating higher customer investment, pricing pressures and further termination rate reductions to impact growth in
adjusted operating profit; however, initiatives to deliver further cost efficiencies are expected to mitigate this effect.

Group capitalised fixed asset additions are expected to be in the range of £4.2 billion to £4.6 billion, which is higher than the 2006
financial year due to the effect of recently completed acquisitions and disposals and the Group’s rollout of HSDPA.

Free cash flow is expected to be in the range of £4.0 billion to £4.5 billion after an estimated

£1.2 billion of tax payments, including associated interest, in respect of the potential unfavourable resolution of a number of long
standing tax issues. The Group currently forecasts a further significant increase in cash tax and associated interest payments in the
2008 financial year, including a potentially material amount related to the CFC litigation which could be paid should the litigation be
resolved unfavourably in that year. Further information on the CFC litigation is provided in note 31 in the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

The Group has previously indicated that in the three year period ending 31 March 2009, it expects a number of long standing tax
issues to be resolved. The Group estimates that tax payments of approximately £5 billion could be made over that period, together
with associated interest costs, including a potentially material amount relating to CFC litigation.

The section entitled “Business Overview – Global Services – One Vodafone” on pages 18 to 19 provides additional outlook
statements in relation to the expected future benefits of One Vodafone initiatives on cash flow, capital expenditure and operating
expenditure.
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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This document contains �forward-looking statements� within the meaning of the US Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995
with respect to the Group�s financial condition, results of operations and businesses and certain of the Group�s plans and objectives.
In particular, such forward-looking statements include statements with respect to Vodafone�s expectations as to launch and roll out
dates for products, services or technologies offered by Vodafone; intentions regarding the development of products and services
introduced by Vodafone or by Vodafone in conjunction with initiatives with third parties; the ability to integrate all operations
throughout the Group in the same format and on the same technical platform and the ability to be operationally efficient; the
development and impact of new mobile technology; anticipated benefits to the Group of the One Vodafone programme; the results
of Vodafone�s brand awareness and brand preference campaigns; growth in customers and usage, including improvements in
customer mix; future performance, including turnover, average revenue per user (�ARPU�), cash flows, costs, capital expenditures
and margins, non-voice services and their revenue contribution; share purchases; the rate of dividend growth by the Group or its
existing investments; expectations regarding the Group�s access to adequate funding for its working capital requirements; expected
effective tax rates and expected tax payments; the ability to realise synergies through cost savings, revenue generating services,
benchmarking and operational experience; future acquisitions, including increases in ownership in existing investments and
pending offers for investments; future disposals; contractual obligations; mobile penetration and coverage rates; the impact of
regulatory and legal proceedings involving Vodafone; expectations with respect to long-term shareholder value growth; Vodafone�s
ability to be the mobile market leader, overall market trends and other trend projections.

Forward-looking statements are sometimes, but not always, identified by their use of a date in the future or such words as
�anticipates�, �aims�, �could�, �may�, �should�, �expects�, �believes�, �intends�, �plans� or �targets�. By their nature, forward-looking statements are
inherently predictive, speculative and involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that
will occur in the future. There are a number of factors that could cause actual results and developments to differ materially from
those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to, the following:

� changes in economic or political conditions in markets served by operations of the Group that would adversely affect the
level of demand for mobile services;

� greater than anticipated competitive activity, from both existing competitors and new market entrants, including MVNOs,
which could require changes to the Group�s pricing models, lead to customer churn and make it more difficult to acquire new
customers and reduce profitability;

� the impact of investment in network capacity and the deployment of new technologies, or the rapid obsolescence of existing
technology;

� slower than expected customer growth and reduced customer retention;

� changes in spending patterns of existing customers;

� the possibility that new products and services, including mobile internet platforms, 3G, Vodafone live!, Vodafone Radio DJ
and other products and services, will not be commercially accepted or perform according to expectations or that vendors�
performance in marketing these technologies will not meet the Group�s requirements;

� the Group�s ability to win 3G licence allocations;

� the Group�s ability to realise expected synergies and benefits associated with 3G technologies;

� a lower than expected impact of GPRS, 3G, Vodafone live!, Vodafone Radio DJ and other new or existing products, services
or technologies on the Group�s future revenue, cost structure and capital expenditure outlays;

� the ability of the Group to harmonise mobile platforms and delays, impediments or other problems associated with the roll
out and scope of 3G technology, Vodafone live!, Vodafone Radio DJ and other new or existing products, services or
technologies in new markets;
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� the ability of the Group to offer new services and secure the timely delivery of high quality, reliable GPRS and 3G handsets,
network equipment and other key products from suppliers;

� the Group�s ability to develop competitive data content and services that will attract new customers and increase average
usage;

� future revenue contributions of both voice and non-voice services;

� greater than anticipated prices of new mobile handsets;

� changes in the costs to the Group of or the rates the Group may charge for terminations and roaming minutes;

� the Group�s ability to achieve meaningful cost savings and revenue improvements as a result of its One Vodafone initiative;

� the ability to realise benefits from entering into partnerships for developing data
and internet services and entering into service franchising and brand licensing;

� the possibility that the pursuit of new, unexpected strategic opportunities may have a negative impact on the Group�s financial
performance;

� developments in the Group�s financial condition, earnings and distributable funds and other factors that the Board takes into
account in determining the level of dividends;

� any unfavourable conditions, regulatory or otherwise, imposed in connection with pending or future acquisitions or disposals
and the integration of acquired companies in the Group�s existing obligations;

� the risk that, upon obtaining control of certain investments, the Group discovers additional information relating to the
businesses of that investment leading to restructuring charges or write-offs or other negative implications;

� changes in the regulatory framework in which the Group operates, including possible action by regulators in markets in which
the Group operates or by the EU regulating rates the Group is permitted to charge;

� the impact of legal or other proceedings against the Group or other companies in the mobile telecommunications industry;

� the possibility that new marketing or usage stimulation campaigns or efforts and customer retention schemes are not an
effective expenditure;

� the possibility that the Group�s integration efforts do not reduce the time to market for new products or improve the Group�s
cost position;

� loss of suppliers or disruption of supply chains;

� the Group�s ability to satisfy working capital requirements through borrowing in capital markets, bank facilities and operations;

� changes in exchange rates, including particularly the exchange rate of pounds sterling to the euro and the US dollar;

� changes in statutory tax rates and profit mix which would impact the weighted average tax rate;

� changes in tax legislation in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates;

� final resolution of open issues which might impact the effective tax rate; and

� timing of tax payments relating to the resolution of open issues.
Furthermore, a review of the reasons why actual results and developments may differ materially from the expectations disclosed or
implied within forward-looking statements can be found under �Risk Factors, Trends and Outlook � Risk Factors� on pages 43 to 44.
All subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or any member of the Group or any persons
acting on their behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the factors referred to above. No assurances can be given that the
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forward-looking statements in this document will be realised. Neither Vodafone nor any of its affiliates intends to update these
forward-looking statements.
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Non-GAAP Information

Presentation of Adjusted Operating Profit
The Group presents operating profit excluding impairment losses and non-recurring amounts related to
business acquisitions and disposals for the Group and the Group�s reported business segments, being
mobile telecommunications and other operations. The Group believes that it is both useful and necessary
to report these measures for the following reasons:

� these measures are used by the Group for internal performance analysis;

� the presentation by the Group�s reported business segments of these measures facilitates comparability with other companies,
although the Group�s measures may not be comparable with similarly titled profit measurements reported by other companies;
and

� it is useful in connection with discussion with the investment analyst community and debt rating agencies.
Reconciliation of these measures to the closest equivalent GAAP measure, operating (loss)/profit, is provided in note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Organic Growth
The Group believes that �organic growth�, which is not intended to be a substitute, or superior to, reported growth, provides useful
and necessary information to investors and other interested parties for the following reasons:

� it provides additional information on underlying growth of the business without the effect of factors unrelated to the operating
performance of the business;

� it is used by the Group for internal performance analysis; and

� it facilitates comparability of underlying growth with other companies, although the term �organic� is not a defined term under
IFRS, or US GAAP, and may not, therefore, be comparable with similarly titled measures reported by other companies.

Reconciliation of organic growth to reported growth is shown below:

Impact of

Organic
Impact of
foreign acquisitions Reported

growth exchange
and

disposals growth
% % % %

Mobile telecommunications
Voice revenue 5.3 0.6 2.2 8.1
Non-voice revenue � Messaging 10.6 0.4 2.1 13.1

� Data 60.4 (0.4) 1.2 61.2
Total service revenue 7.2 0.5 2.2 9.9
Acquisition and retention revenue 2.3 0.8 (0.2) 2.9
Total revenue 6.7 0.5 2.1 9.3
Interconnect costs 7.2 0.7 2.5 10.4
Group revenue 7.5 0.5 2.0 10.0
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Reported
Impact of

impairment

Impact of Impact of growth in
losses and

non-recurring
Reported
growth

Organic foreign acqusitions
in

non-GAAP
amounts related to

business
in

equivalent

growth exchange
and

disposals measure
acquisition and

disposals
GAAP

measure(2)
% % % % % %

Adjusted operating profit
Mobile telecommunications profit(1) 10.3 1.1 � 11.4 (290.2) (278.8)
Total operating profit(1) 11.4 1.0 0.1 12.5 (291.3) (278.8)

Notes:
(1) Before impairment losses and non-recurring amounts related to business acquisitions and disposals.
(2) Closest equivalent GAAP measure is operating (loss)/profit.

Cash Flow Measures
In presenting and discussing the Group�s reported results, free cash flow and operating free cash flow are calculated and presented
on the basis of methodologies other than in accordance with IFRS. The Group believes that it is both useful and necessary to
communicate free cash flow to investors and other interested parties, for the following reasons:

� free cash flow allows the Company and external parties to evaluate the Group�s liquidity and the cash generated by the Group�s
operations. Free cash flow does not include items determined independently of the ongoing business, such as the level of
dividends, and items which are deemed discretionary, such as cash flows relating to acquisitions and disposals or financing
activities. In addition, it does not necessarily reflect the amounts which the Group has an obligation to incur. However, it does
reflect the cash available for such discretionary activities, to strengthen the balance sheet or to provide returns to shareholders
in the form of dividends or share purchases;

� free cash flow facilitates comparability of results with other companies, although the Group�s measure of free cash flow may not
be directly comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies;

� it is used by management for planning, reporting and incentive purposes; and

� it is useful in connection with discussion with the investment analyst community and debt rating agencies.
The Group believes that the presentation of operating free cash flow is useful and necessary for investors and other interested
parties as it provides the quantitative basis for the cash flow targets of the One Vodafone initiatives outlined on pages 18 to 19.
This measure may not be directly comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies.

A reconciliation of net cash inflow from operating activities, the closest equivalent GAAP measure, to operating free cash flow and
free cash flow, is provided in �Performance � Financial Position and Resources � Liquidity and Capital Resources � Cash Flows� on
page 39.
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Non-GAAP Information
continued

Net Debt
In presenting and discussing the Group�s indebtedness and liquidity position, net debt is calculated. There is no definition of net
debt within IFRS. The Group believes that it is both useful and necessary to communicate net debt to investors and other interested
parties, for the following reasons:

� net debt allows the Company and external parties to evaluate the Group�s overall indebtedness and liquidity position;

� net debt facilitates comparability of indebtedness and liquidity with other companies, although the Group�s measure of net debt
may not be directly comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies;

� it is used by management for planning and reporting purposes; and

� it is used in discussions with the investment analyst community and the debt rating agencies.
A reconciliation of short-term and long-term borrowings, the closest equivalent GAAP measures, to net debt is shown on page 41.

Presentation of Other Revenue in Discussion of Trading Results
The discussion of the trading results of the Group and principal markets on pages 30 to 37 presents the cost of sales related to
acquisition and retention costs, net of revenue attributable to these activities. The Group believes that this basis of presentation
provides useful information for investors for the following reasons:

� it provides trends in net subsidies with respect to the acquisition and retention of customers; and

� it facilitates comparability of results with other companies operating in the mobile telecommunications business. This
performance indicator is commonly used in the mobile telecommunications industry and by Vodafone management to compare
net subsidies provided to acquire and retain customers to prior periods and internal forecasts. �Net acquisition costs� and �Net
retention costs� as used in the trading results are defined on page 49.

Reconciliation of �Net other revenue� to the closest equivalent GAAP measure, revenue, and �Net acquisition costs� and �Net retention
costs� to their closest equivalent GAAP measure, gross acquisition and retention costs, are shown below:

Mobile
Other
Mobile

telecommunications Germany Italy Spain UK Operations
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Year ended 31 March 2006:
Net other revenue 532 114 15 6 135 137
Acquisition and retention revenue 1,724 246 178 374 345 583

Other revenue 2,256 360 193 380 480 720
Total service revenue 25,881 5,394 4,170 3,615 4,568 8,530

Revenue 28,137 5,754 4,363 3,995 5,048 9,250

Year ended 31 March 2005:
Net other revenue 546 122 14 2 177 110
Acquisition and retention revenue 1,647 242 168 296 390 554

Other revenue 2,193 364 182 298 567 664
Total service revenue 23,547 5,320 4,091 2,963 4,498 6,973
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Revenue 25,740 5,684 4,273 3,261 5,065 7,637

Year ended 31 March 2006:
Net acquisition costs 1,541 366 78 274 380 443
Net retention costs 1,444 349 93 249 395 358
Acquisition and retention revenue 1,724 246 178 374 345 583

Gross acquisition and retention costs 4,709 961 349 897 1,120 1,384

Year ended 31 March 2005:
Net acquisition costs 1,446 348 71 246 388 393
Net retention costs 1,234 330 74 172 391 267
Acquisition and retention revenue 1,647 242 168 296 390 554

Gross acquisition and retention costs 4,327 920 313 714 1,169 1,214

Other
Certain of the statements within the section titled �Chief Executive�s Review� on pages 8 to 11 and the section titled �One Vodafone�,
on pages 18 to 19 contain forward-looking non-GAAP financial information for which at this time there is no comparable GAAP
measure and which at this time cannot be quantitatively reconciled to comparable GAAP financial information.

Certain of the statements within the section titled �Risk Factors, Trends and Outlook� on pages 43 to 45, contain forward-looking
non-GAAP financial information which at this time cannot be quantitatively reconciled to comparable GAAP financial information.
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Definition of Terms

The definition of terms used throughout the performance section is detailed below. These terms are not uniformly defined by all
companies in the Group�s industry. Accordingly, such measures may not be comparable with similarly titled measures and
disclosures by other companies.

3G broadband A technology which enables data transmission at speeds of up to two megabits per second.

3G device A handset or device capable of accessing 3G data services.

Acquired intangibles
amortisation

Amortisation relating to intangible assets identified and recognised separately in respect of a business
combination in excess of the intangible assets recognised by the acquiree prior to acquisition.

Active customer A customer who either pays a monthly fee or has made or received a chargeable event in the last three
months. The active customers are expressed as a percentage of the closing customer base. Contract
and prepaid activity is reported separately.

ARPU Total revenue excluding handset revenue and connection fees divided by the weighted average number
of customers during the period.

Capitalised fixed asset
additions

This measure includes the aggregate of capitalised property, plant and equipment additions and
capitalised software costs.

Churn Total gross customer disconnections in the period divided by the average total customers in the period.

Controlled and jointly
controlled networks

The networks include the Group�s mobile operating subsidiaries and joint ventures. Measures for
controlled and jointly controlled networks include 100% for subsidiaries and the Group�s proportionate
share for joint ventures.

Customer A customer is defined as a Subscriber Identity Module (�SIM�), or in territories where SIMs do not exist, a
unique mobile telephone number, which has access to the network for any purpose (including data only
usage) except telemetric applications. Telemetric applications include, but are not limited to, asset and
equipment tracking, mobile payment and billing functionality (for example, vending machines and meter
readings) and include voice enabled customers whose usage is limited to a central service operation (for
example, emergency response applications in vehicles). SIM information is derived from local operating
company billing systems.

Data revenue Data revenue includes all non-voice service revenue excluding messaging.

Depreciation and other
amortisation

This measure includes the profit or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment.

EBITDA Adjusted operating profit before depreciation and amortisation.

Interconnect costs A charge paid by Vodafone to other fixed line or mobile operators when a Vodafone customer calls a
customer connected to a different network.

Messaging revenue Messaging revenue comprises revenue from providing SMS and MMS services including wholesale
messaging revenue, revenue from the use of messaging services by Vodafone customers roaming away
from their home network and customers visiting the local network.
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Net acquisition costs The total of connection fees, trade commissions and equipment costs, net of related revenue, relating to
new customer connections. This performance indicator is commonly used in the mobile
telecommunications industry and by Vodafone management to compare net subsidies provided to
acquire customers to prior periods and internal forecasts. Management believes that this measure
provides useful information for investors regarding trends in net subsidies to acquire customers for
mobile telecommunications services from period to period.

Net retention costs The total of trade commissions, loyalty scheme and equipment costs, net of related revenue, relating to
customer retention and upgrade. This performance indicator is commonly used in the mobile
telecommunications industry and by Vodafone management to compare net subsidies provided to retain
customers to prior periods and internal forecasts. Management believes that this measure provides
useful information for investors regarding trends in net subsidies to retain customers for mobile
telecommunications services from period to period.

Organic growth The percentage movements in organic growth are presented to reflect operating performance on a
comparable basis. Where an entity, being a subsidiary, joint venture or associated undertaking, was
newly acquired or disposed of in the current or prior period, the Group adjusts, under organic growth
calculations, the results for the current and prior period to remove the amount the Group earned in both
periods as a result of the acquisition or disposal of subsidiary or associated undertakings. Where the
Group increases, or decreases, its ownership interest in a joint venture or associated undertaking in the
current or prior period, the Group�s results for the prior period are restated at the current period�s
ownership level. Further adjustments in organic calculations exclude the effect of exchange rate
movements by restating the prior period�s results as if they had been generated at the current period�s
exchange rates and excludes the amortisation of acquired intangible assets.

Proportionate
customers

The proportionate customer number represents the number of mobile customers in ventures which the
Group either controls or invests, based on the Group�s ownership in such ventures.

Purchased licence
amortisation

Amortisation relating to capitalised licence and spectrum fees purchased directly by the Group, and such
fees recognised by an acquiree prior to acquisition.

Service revenue Service revenue comprises all revenue related to the provision of ongoing services including, but not
limited to, monthly access charges, airtime usage, roaming, incoming and outgoing network usage by
non-Vodafone customers and interconnect charges for incoming calls.

Termination rate A per minute charge paid by a telecommunications network operator when a customer makes a call to
another mobile or fixed line network operator.

Vodafone live! active
device

A handset or device equipped with the Vodafone live! portal which has made or received a chargeable
event in the last month.

VOIP Voice over internal protocol is the routing of voice calls over the internet or through another IP based
network.

WiFi WiFi refers to underlying technology of wireless local area networks which enable a user, with WiFi
devices, to connect to the internet in range of a WiFi access point.
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Board of Directors and Group Management

Directors and Senior Management
The business of the Company is managed by its board of directors (�the Board�). Biographical details of the directors and senior
management at the date of this report are as follows:

Directors
Chairman
1. Lord MacLaurin of Knebworth, DL, aged 69, joined the Board in January 1997 and became Chairman in July 1998. He is
Chairman of the Nominations and Governance Committee. Lord MacLaurin was Chairman of Tesco Plc from 1985 to 1997 and has
been a director of Enterprise Oil Plc, Guinness Plc, National Westminster Bank Plc and Whitbread Plc. He is also a non-executive
director of the investment bank The Evolution Group Plc and a member of the Supervisory Board of Heineken NV. Lord MacLaurin
will retire from the Board at the conclusion of the Company�s AGM on 25 July 2006. Upon his retirement Lord MacLaurin will
become an advisor to the Company and Chairman of The Vodafone Group Foundation.

Deputy Chairman and senior independent director
2. Paul Hazen, aged 64, has been a member of the Board since June 1999 and became Deputy Chairman and senior independent
director in May 2000. He is a member of the Nominations and Governance Committee. Paul Hazen became a director of AirTouch
Communications Inc. in April 1993. In 2001, he retired as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Wells Fargo & Company and its
principal subsidiary, Wells Fargo Bank, NA. He is Chairman of KKR Financial Corp and Accel-KKR and is also a director of
Safeway, Inc., Willis Group Holdings Limited and Xstrata AG. Paul Hazen will retire from the Board after the Company�s AGM on 25
July 2006.

Executive Directors
3. Arun Sarin, Chief Executive, aged 51, became a member of the Board in June 1999. He was appointed Chief Executive in July
2003 and is a member of the Nominations and Governance Committee. Arun Sarin joined Pacific Telesis Group in San Francisco in
1984 and has served in many executive positions in his 20 year career in telecommunications. He was a director of AirTouch
Communications Inc. from July 1995 and was President and Chief Operating Officer from February 1997 to June 1999. He was
Chief Executive Officer for the Vodafone United States and Asia Pacific region until 15 April 2000, when he became a
non-executive director. He has served as a director of The Gap, Inc., The Charles Schwab Corporation and Cisco Systems, Inc.,
and is a non-executive director of the Court of the Bank of England.

4. Sir Julian Horn-Smith, Deputy Chief Executive, aged 57, has been a member of the Board since June 1996. Previously the
Group Chief Operating Officer, Sir Julian was appointed Deputy Chief Executive in January 2005. Since then, he has been
responsible for Business Development, which includes delivering Vodafone�s product and services portfolio to Vodafone�s affiliates
and Partner Networks and expanding and consolidating Vodafone�s footprint. He is a director of China Mobile (Hong Kong) Limited
and several of the Group�s overseas operating companies, including Chairman of the Supervisory Boards of Vodafone Deutschland
GmbH and Vodafone D2 GmbH. Sir Julian is also a non-executive director of Lloyds TSB Group plc, Smiths Group plc and Sage
Group PLC. Sir Julian will retire from the Board at the conclusion of the AGM on 25 July 2006 and he will become Chairman of
Sage Group PLC on 1 August 2006.

5. Thomas Geitner, Chief Executive Officer, New Businesses, aged 51, was appointed to this role on 1 May 2006. New
Businesses will focus on the delivery of new revenue streams beyond pure mobile. He was appointed to the Board in May 2000
during which time he established and managed Global Products and Services. He was responsible for the single Vodafone brand,
Vodafone live! and Vodafone Wireless Office and the partner networks franchise. In July 2003, he was appointed Chief Technology
Officer responsible for the rollout of 3G, the consolidation of data centres and service platform operations and the establishment of
the Global Supply Chain organisation. Prior to joining the Group, he was a member of the Management Board of RWE AG.

6. Andy Halford, Chief Financial Officer, aged 47, joined the Board in July 2005. Andy joined Vodafone in 1999 as Financial
Director for Vodafone Limited, the UK operating company, and in 2001 he became Financial Director for Vodafone�s Northern
Europe, Middle East and Africa Region. In 2002, he was appointed Chief Financial Officer of Verizon Wireless in the US and is
currently a member of the Board of Representatives of The Verizon Wireless partnership. Prior to joining Vodafone, he was Group
Finance Director at East Midlands Electricity Plc. Andy holds a bachelors degree in Industrial Economics from Nottingham
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University and is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Non-executive directors
7. Sir John Bond, aged 64, was appointed to the Board in January 2005 and is a member of the Nominations and Governance
and Remuneration Committees. Sir John Bond is a non-executive director of Ford Motor Company. He retired from the position of
Group Chairman of HSBC Holdings plc on 26 May 2006, after 45 years of service. Other previous roles include Chairman of HSBC
Bank plc and director of The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation and HSBC North America Holdings Inc. Previous
non-executive directorships include the London Stock Exchange, Orange plc, British Steel plc and the Court of the Bank of
England. Sir John will succeed Lord MacLaurin as Chairman of the Company on conclusion of the AGM on 25 July 2006.

8. Dr Michael Boskin, aged 60, became a member of the Board in June 1999 on completion of the merger with AirTouch
Communications Inc. and is Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee. Dr Boskin was a
director of AirTouch Communications Inc. from August 1996 to June 1999. He has been a Professor of Economics at Stanford
University since 1971 and was Chairman of the President�s Council of Economic Advisers from February 1989 until January 1993.
Dr Boskin is President and CEO of Boskin & Co., an economic consulting company, and is also a director of Exxon Mobil
Corporation, Shinsei Bank Limited and Oracle Corporation.
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9. Lord Broers, aged 67, joined the Board in January 1998 and is a member of the Audit Committee and the Nominations and
Governance Committee. He is President of the Royal Academy of Engineering and a former Vice-Chancellor of Cambridge
University. He spent many years with IBM, in senior roles within the research and development function, and is a Fellow of the
Royal Society, the Institute of Electrical Engineers and the Institute of Physics. Lord Broers is also a Foreign Associate of the US
National Academy of Engineering, a trustee of the British Museum and Chairman of the House of Lords Science and Technology
Select Committee. He chairs The Vodafone Group Foundation and the Company�s UK pension trustee company.

10. John Buchanan, aged 62, has been a member of the Board since April 2003. He is a member of the Audit Committee and,
solely for the purposes of relevant legislation, is the Board�s appointed financial expert on that Committee. He retired from the board
of directors of BP Plc in 2002 after six years as Group Chief Financial Officer and executive director following a wide-ranging career
with the company. He was a member of the United Kingdom Accounting Standards Board from 1997 to 2001. He is Chairman of
Smith & Nephew plc and a non-executive director of AstraZeneca PLC and BHP Billiton. John Buchanan will succeed Paul Hazen
as the Deputy Chairman and senior independent director after the Company�s AGM on 25 July 2006.

11. Penny Hughes, aged 46, has been a member of the Board since September 1998 and is a member of the Audit Committee.
She has particular expertise in marketing and has developed experience in many human resource areas, including leadership
development, motivation and retention. She is President of the Advertising Association, a member of the advisory committee of
Bridgepoint Capital Limited and a non-executive director of Reuters Group PLC, Scandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB and The Gap,
Inc. Penny Hughes was President of Coca-Cola Great Britain and Ireland, and has been a non-executive director of Next Plc,
Trinity Mirror Plc and The Body Shop Plc. She will retire from the Board after the Company�s AGM on 25 July 2006.

12. Anne Lauvergeon, aged 46, joined the Board in November 2005 and is a member of the Audit Committee. She is Chairman of
the Executive Board of AREVA, the leading French energy company, having been appointed to that role in July 2001. She started
her professional career in 1983 in the iron and steel industry and in 1990 she was named Adviser for Economic International Affairs
at the French Presidency and Deputy Chief of its Staff in 1991. In 1995, she became a Partner of Lazard Frères & Cie,
subsequently joining Alcatel Telecom as Senior Executive Vice President in March 1997. She was responsible for international
activities and the Group�s industrial shareholdings in the energy and nuclear fields. In 1999, she was appointed Chairman and CEO
of COGEMA. Anne Lauvergeon is currently also Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Safran and a non-executive director of
Total and Suez.

13. Professor Jürgen Schrempp, aged 61, has been a member of the Board since May 2000 and is a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nominations and Governance Committee. He is former Chairman of the Board of Management
of DaimlerChrysler and one of the principal architects of Daimler-Benz�s merger with Chrysler in 1998. He became Chairman of
Daimler-Benz in 1995. He is a non-executive director of the South African Coal, Oil and Gas Corporation (SASOL) and Compagnie
Financière Richemont SA, Switzerland. Professor Schrempp is Chairman Emeritus of the Global Business Coalition on HIV/AIDS.
He has received numerous awards and has also been recognised for his civic leadership and charitable contributions. Amongst
other distinctions, he is Commander of the French Legion of Honor and holds South Africa�s highest civilian award, the Order of
Good Hope, conferred upon him by President Nelson Mandela.

14. Luc Vandevelde, aged 55, joined the Board in September 2003 and is Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. He is
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Carrefour SA and a director of Société Générale. He is the Founder and Managing Director
of Change Capital Partners LLP, a private equity fund. Luc Vandevelde was formerly Chairman of Marks & Spencer Group Plc and
Chief Executive Officer of Promodes, and he has held senior European and international roles with Kraft General Foods.

15. Philip Yea, aged 51, became a member of the Board in September 2005 and is a member of the Remuneration Committee. He
is the Chief Executive Officer of 3i Group plc, having been appointed to that role in July 2004. Prior to joining 3i, he was Managing
Director of Investcorp and, from 1997 to 1999, the Group Finance Director of Diageo plc following the merger of Guinness plc,
where he was Finance Director, and Grand Metropolitan plc. He has previously held non-executive roles at HBOS plc and
Manchester United plc.

Appointed since 31 March 2006
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Anthony Watson, aged 61, was appointed to the Board on 1 May 2006, having retired from his role as Chief Executive of Hermes
Pensions Management Limited, a position he had held since 2002. Previously he was Hermes� Chief Investment Officer, having
been Managing Director of AMP Asset Management and the Chief International Investment Officer of Citicorp Investment
Management from 1991 until joining Hermes in 1998. He is Chairman of Marks & Spencer Pension Trust Ltd, the Strategic
Investment Board in Northern Ireland and also a non-executive director of Hammerson Group Plc and Witan Investment Trust Plc.
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continued

Senior Management
Members of the Executive Committee who are not also executive directors are regarded as senior managers of the Company.

Executive Committee
Chaired by Arun Sarin, this committee focuses on the Group�s strategy, financial structure and planning, succession planning,
organisational development and Group-wide policies. The Executive Committee membership comprises the Executive Directors,
details of whom are shown on pages 50 to 51, and the senior managers who are listed below:

Brian Clark, Group Human Resources Director, aged 57, was appointed to this position in April 2005. He joined Vodafone in 1997
and, before his current position, was Chief Executive, Asia Pacific Region. Prior to joining Vodafone, he was Managing Director and
Chief Executive Officer of Telkom SA Limited, South Africa.

Paul Donovan, Chief Executive Officer, EMAPA (Central Europe, Middle East, Asia Pacific and Affiliates), aged 47, was appointed
to this position on 1 May 2006. He joined Vodafone in 1999 as Managing Director � Commercial, was appointed Chief Executive of
Vodafone Ireland in 2001 and became Chief Executive Officer, Other Vodafone Subsidiaries in January 2005, managing fourteen
of Vodafone�s controlled entities. He has over fifteen years experience in the telecommunications and IT industries and has held
senior roles at BT, One2One and Optus Communications and, prior to that, marketing roles at the Mars Group, Coca Cola and
Schweppes Beverages.

Warren Finegold, Chief Executive, Global Business Development, aged 49, was appointed to this position and joined the
Executive Committee on 24 April 2006. He was previously a Managing Director of UBS Investment Bank and head of its technology
team in Europe. He is responsible for Business Development, M&A and Partner Networks.

Alan Harper, Group Strategy and Business Integration Director, aged 49, joined Vodafone in 1995 as Group Commercial Director
and he subsequently became Managing Director of Vodafone UK. He was appointed to his current position in July 2000. Prior to
joining the Group, he held the post of Business Strategy Director with Mercury One2One and senior roles with Unitel and STC
Telecoms. He is also a member of the Vodafone D2 GmbH Supervisory Board and Chairman of the Vodafone UK Foundation

Simon Lewis, Group Corporate Affairs Director, aged 47, joined Vodafone in November 2004. He previously held senior roles at
Centrica Plc including Managing Director, Europe and Group Director of Communications and Public Policy. Prior to that he was
Director of Corporate Affairs at NatWest Group and the Head of Public Relations at SG Warburg plc. He was President of the
Institute of Public Relations in 1997 and is a Visiting Professor at the Cardiff School of Journalism. In 1998, he was seconded to
Buckingham Palace for two years as the first Communications Secretary to the Queen. He is a Fulbright Commissioner and a
trustee of The Vodafone Group Foundation.

Tim Miles, Global Chief Technology Officer, aged 48, was appointed to this position on 1 April 2006. He joined Vodafone New
Zealand in 2001 as Director of Business Markets and was appointed Managing Director of Vodafone New Zealand in 2002. In April
2005, he joined Vodafone UK as Chief Executive Officer before moving to his present role. He has over twenty years� experience in
the IT and telecommunications industry. Prior to joining Vodafone, he was Vice President for Global Industries, Unisys Corporation,
USA and, before that, held executive positions with Data General and IBM.

Bill Morrow, Chief Executive Officer, Europe, aged 46, was appointed to this position on 1 May 2006 after ten years with the
Vodafone Group. Over the last ten years, he has held various positions, including President of Vodafone Japan, Chief Executive of
Vodafone UK and President of Japan Telecom. He has twenty-six years of experience in the telecommunications industry, holding
senior leadership roles in the USA, Asia and Europe. Bill Morrow is widely recognised for operational performance lifts, technology
management and company restructuring.

Frank Rovekamp, Global Chief Marketing Officer, aged 51, was appointed to this position and joined the Executive Committee on
1 May 2006. He joined Vodafone four years ago as Marketing Director and a Member of the Management Board of Vodafone
Netherlands and later moved to Vodafone Germany as Chief Marketing Officer and a member of the Management Board. Before
joining Vodafone, Frank held roles as President and Chief Executive Officer of Beyoo and Chief Marketing Officer with KLM Royal
Dutch Airlines.
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Stephen Scott, Group General Counsel and Company Secretary, aged 52, was appointed Group General Counsel and Company
Secretary in 1991, prior to which he was employed in the Racal Group legal department, having moved into industry in 1980 from
private law practice in London. He is a director of the Company�s UK pension trustee company and of ShareGift (the Orr Mackintosh
Foundation Limited) and is a director and trustee of LawWorks (the Solicitors Pro Bono Group Limited).

Strategy Board
The Strategy Board meets two or three times per year to discuss strategy. This is attended by Executive Committee members and
the Chief Executive Officers of the major operating companies and other selected individuals based on Strategy Board topics.

Other Board and Executive Committee members
The following members also served on the Board or the Executive Committee during the 2006 financial year:

Peter Bamford was an executive director until 7 March 2006.

Ken Hydon was an executive director until he retired on 26 July 2005.

Sir David Scholey CBE was a non-executive director until he retired on 26 July 2005.

Pietro Guindani, Chief Executive Italy, was a member of Executive Committee until 1 May 2006.

Fritz Joussen, Chief Executive Germany, was a member of Executive Committee until 1 May 2006.

Jurgen von Kuczkowski was a member of the Executive Committee until he retired on 30 September 2005.

Shiro Tsuda, Executive Chairman and Chairman of the Board, Vodafone K.K., was an Executive Committee member until the
completion of the sale of the Japanese business on 27 April 2006.

Phil Williams was a member of the Executive Committee until he retired on 31 July 2005.
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Corporate Governance

Introduction
Statement of corporate governance policy
The Board of directors of the Company is committed to high standards of corporate governance, which it considers are critical to
business integrity and to maintaining investors� trust in the Company. The Group expects all its directors and employees to act with
honesty, integrity and fairness. The Group will strive to act in accordance with the laws and customs of the countries in which it
operates; adopt proper standards of business practice and procedure; operate with integrity; and observe and respect the culture of
every country in which it does business.
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The Combined Code
The Company�s ordinary shares are listed in the United Kingdom on the London Stock Exchange. As such, the Company is
required to make a disclosure statement concerning its application of the principles of and compliance with the provisions of the
revised Combined Code on corporate governance (the �Combined Code�). For the year ended 31 March 2006, the Board confirms
that the Company has been in compliance with the provisions of section 1 of the Combined Code. The disclosures provided below
are nevertheless intended to provide an explanation of the Company�s corporate governance policies and practices.

US listing requirements
The Company�s ADSs are listed on the NYSE and the Company is, therefore, subject to the rules of the NYSE as well as US
securities laws and the rules of the SEC. The NYSE requires US companies listed on the exchange to comply with the NYSE�s
corporate governance rules but foreign private issuers, such as the Company, are exempt from most of those rules. However,
pursuant to NYSE Rule 303A.11, the Company is required to disclose a summary of any significant ways in which the corporate
governance practices it follows differ from those required by the NYSE for US companies. A summary of such differences is set out
below.

The Company has established a Disclosure Committee with responsibility for reviewing and approving controls and procedures
over the public disclosure of financial and related information, and other procedures necessary to enable the Chief Executive and
Chief Financial Officer to provide their Certifications of the Annual Report on Form 20-F that is filed with the SEC.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (US) requires the Company to annually assess and make public statements about
the quality and effectiveness of its internal controls over financial reporting. As a non-US company, Vodafone is first required to
report on its compliance with section 404 for the year ended 31 March 2007. Management�s report must describe conclusions about
the effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting based on management�s evaluation as of the end of the
Company�s most recent fiscal year.

The Company has established a Steering Committee to provide strategic direction to the Company�s section 404 compliance efforts
and a Programme Management Office which monitors progress and provides detailed guidance to the compliance teams that have
been set up in the Group�s subsidiaries and central functions. The Company�s Audit Committee also plays an active role in
monitoring these efforts. The Audit Committee receives progress updates at each of its meetings as well as a bi-annual status
presentation from the Programme Management Office. The Company�s external auditors have been consulted throughout the
project and will continue to be involved as the Company finalises its review.

The Company has reviewed the structure and operation of its �entity level� control environment: the overarching structure of review
and monitoring essential to the management of its business.

Each of the Company�s subsidiaries and central functions has ensured that the relevant processes and controls are documented to
appropriate standards, taking into account the guidance provided by the US Public Company Accounting Oversight Board�s Auditing
Standard No. 2 and subsequent SEC Staff Questions and Answers related to the standard. The approach taken has been to
identify the key financial reporting processes so that, in aggregate, the Company has reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of its financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements.

The Company is making satisfactory progress on the work required to enable it to report on its compliance with section 404 at 31
March 2007.

The Company has also adopted a corporate Code of Ethics for senior executive, financial and accounting officers, separate from
and additional to its Business Principles, described below. A copy of this code is available on the Group�s website at
www.vodafone.com.

Differences from New York Stock Exchange corporate governance practices
Independence
The NYSE rules require that a majority of the Board must be comprised of independent directors and the rules include detailed
tests that US companies must use for determining independence. The Combined Code requires a company�s board of directors to
assess and make a determination as to the independence of its directors. While the Board does not explicitly take into
consideration the NYSE�s detailed tests, it has carried out an assessment based on the requirements of the Combined Code and
has determined in its judgement that all of the non-executive directors are independent within those requirements. As at the date of
this Annual Report, the Board comprised the Chairman, four executive directors and eleven non-executive directors.
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Committees
Under NYSE rules, US companies are required to have a nominating and corporate governance committee and a compensation
committee, each composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter that addresses the Committees� purpose and
responsibilities. The Company�s Nominations and Governance Committee and Remuneration Committee have terms of reference
and composition that comply with the Combined Code requirements. The Nominations and Governance Committee is chaired by
the Chairman of the Board, and its other members are non-executive directors of the Company and the Chief Executive. The
Remuneration Committee is composed entirely of non-executive directors whom the Board has determined to be independent. The
Company�s Audit Committee is composed entirely of non-executive directors whom the Board has determined to be independent
and who meet the requirements of Rule 10A-3 of the Securities Exchange Act. The Company considers that the terms of reference
of these committees, which are available on its website at www.vodafone.com, are generally responsive to the relevant NYSE rules
but may not address all aspects of these rules.

Corporate governance guidelines
Under NYSE rules, US companies must adopt and disclose corporate governance guidelines. Vodafone has posted its statement
of compliance with the Combined Code on its website at www.vodafone.com. The Company also has adopted a Group
Governance Manual which provides the first level of the framework within which its businesses operate. The manual is a reference
for Chief Executives and their teams and applies to all directors and employees. The Company considers that its corporate
governance guidelines are generally responsive to, but may not address all aspects of, the relevant NYSE rules.

Vodafone Group Plc Annual Report 2006 53

Edgar Filing: VODAFONE GROUP PUBLIC LTD CO - Form 20-F

136



Back to Contents

Corporate Governance
continued

Business principles
In addition to the formal requirements of the Listing Authorities and Stock Exchanges described above, the Group has developed
and implemented its own Business Principles which define its relationships with all of its stakeholders, govern how Vodafone
conducts its day-to-day business and represents the additional commitments the Group makes to its stakeholders. These can be
found on the Group�s website at www.vodafone.com.

The Business Principles apply to all subsidiary companies in the Group. Chief Executives are responsible for ensuring application
of the Business Principles within their business. Vodafone also promotes the Business Principles to its joint venture companies,
associated undertakings, business partners and third parties.

Every employee is expected to act in accordance with the Business Principles. A confidential email facility has been established for
employees to report any concerns.

The Group tracks the implementation of its Business Principles through its internal audits.

Directors and Organisation
Board composition
The Company�s Board consists of 16 directors, 12 of whom served throughout the 2006 financial year. At 31 March 2006, in
addition to the Chairman, Lord MacLaurin, there were four executive directors and ten non-executive directors. The Deputy
Chairman, Paul Hazen, is the nominated senior independent director and his role includes being available for approach or
representation by directors or significant shareholders who may feel inhibited from raising issues with the Chairman. He is also
responsible for conducting an annual review of the performance of the Chairman and, in the event it should be necessary,
convening an annual meeting of the non-executive directors.

Philip Yea, Anne Lauvergeon and Anthony Watson joined the Board as non-executive directors on 1 September 2005, 1 November
2005 and 1 May 2006 respectively. Peter Bamford ceased to be a member of the Board on 7 March 2006. Lord MacLaurin, Sir
Julian Horn-Smith, Paul Hazen and Penny Hughes will retire on conclusion of the Company�s AGM on 25 July 2006. Sir John Bond
will become the Chairman of the Company following the retirement of Lord MacLaurin and John Buchanan will succeed Paul Hazen
as the Deputy Chairman and senior independent director. The Company considers all of its present non-executive directors to be
fully independent. The executive directors are Arun Sarin (Chief Executive), Sir Julian Horn-Smith, Thomas Geitner and Andy
Halford.

The following table shows directors� attendance at meetings during the 2006 financial year:

Nominations and
Audit Governance Remuneration

Board Committee Committee Committee

Number of meetings
during the year
to 31 March 2006 8 5 3 5

Lord MacLaurin 8 2(1)
Paul Hazen 8 1 2
Arun Sarin 8 3
Sir Julian Horn-Smith 8
Peter Bamford(2) 7
Thomas Geitner 8
Andy Halford(3) 6
Ken Hydon(4) 2
Sir John Bond 7 2 4
Dr Michael Boskin 8 5(1)(5) 5
Lord Broers 7 5 1
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John Buchanan 7 5
Penny Hughes 8 4 2
Anne Lauvergeon(6) 3 1
Sir David Scholey(4) 2 1
Professor Jürgen Schrempp 8 2 5
Luc Vandevelde 7 4(1)(7)
Philip Yea(8) 6 2

Notes:
(1) Committee Chairman.
(2) Peter Bamford ceased to be a member of the Board on 7 March 2006.
(3) Andy Halford joined the Board on 26 July 2005 and from then until 31 March 2006 there were six Board meetings.
(4) Ken Hydon and Sir David Scholey retired from the Board on conclusion of the AGM on 26 July 2005.
(5) Dr Michael Boskin succeeded Paul Hazen as Chairman of the Audit Committee during the year.
(6) Anne Lauvergeon joined the Board on 1 November 2005 and from then until 31 March 2006 there were four Board meetings.
(7) Luc Vandevelde succeeded Penny Hughes as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee during the year.
(8) Philip Yea joined the Board on 1 September 2005 and from then until 31 March 2006 there were six Board meetings.
In addition to regular Board meetings, there are a number of other meetings to deal with specific matters. Directors unable to attend
a Board meeting because of another engagement, as was the case for a number of directors in the year, are nevertheless provided
with all the papers and information relevant for such meeting and are able to discuss issues arising in the meeting with the
Chairman or the Chief Executive.

Re-election of Directors
Although not required by the Articles, in the interests of good corporate governance, the directors have resolved that they will all
submit themselves for annual re-election at the AGM. Accordingly, at the AGM to be held on 25 July 2006, other than Lord
MacLaurin, Sir Julian Horn-Smith, Paul Hazen and Penny Hughes who are retiring at the conclusion of the AGM, all the directors
will be retiring and, being eligible and on the recommendation of the Nominations and Governance Committee, will offer
themselves for re-election.

Performance evaluation
Performance evaluation of the Board, its Committees and individual directors takes place on an annual basis and is conducted
within the terms of reference of the Nominations and Governance Committee with the aim of improving individual contributions, the
effectiveness of the Board and its Committees and the Group�s performance. The Chairman leads the assessment of the Chief
Executive and the non-executive directors, the Chief Executive undertakes the performance reviews for the executive directors and
the senior independent director conducts the review of the performance of the Chairman. Each Board Committee undertakes a
review of its own work and, in relation to the performance of the Board, each director is required to complete a comprehensive
questionnaire, the results of which are analysed and discussed by the Nominations and Governance Committee prior to the
presentation of recommendations to the Board. The evaluation process is designed to cover Board processes, the structure and
capability of the Board, strategic alignment, Board dynamics and the skills brought to the Board by each director. A series of
questionnaires has also been developed to facilitate the evaluation processes for each Board Committee.
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The evaluations found the performance of each director to be effective and concluded that the Board provides the effective
leadership and control required for a listed company. The Nominations and Governance Committee confirmed to the Board that the
contributions made by the directors offering themselves for re-election at the AGM in July 2006 continued to be effective and the
Company should support their re-election.

Information and professional development
Each member of the Board has immediate access to a dedicated online team room and can access monthly information including
actual financial results, reports from the executive directors in respect of their areas of responsibility and the Chief Executive�s
report which deals, amongst other things, with investor relations, giving Board members an opportunity to develop an
understanding of the views of major investors. These matters are discussed at each Board meeting. From time to time, the Board
receives detailed presentations from non-Board members on matters of significance or on new opportunities for the Group.
Financial plans, including budgets and forecasts, are regularly discussed at Board meetings. The non-executive directors
periodically visit different parts of the Group and are provided with briefings and information to assist them in performing their
duties. The non-executive directors and the Chairman regularly meet without executives present.

The Board is confident that all its members have the knowledge, ability and experience to perform the functions required of a
director of a listed company. On appointment, all directors are provided with appropriate training and guidance as to their duties,
responsibilities and liabilities as a director of a public and listed company and also have the opportunity to discuss organisational,
operational and administrative matters with the Chairman, the Chief Executive and the Company Secretary. When considered
necessary, more formal training is provided.

Matters for the Board
The Board has a formal schedule of matters specifically referred to it for decision, including:

� the approval of Group commercial strategy;

� Group strategic and long-term plans;

� major capital projects;

� approving annual budgets and operating plans;

� devising and reviewing the Group�s corporate governance structure;

� Group financial structure (including tax and treasury policy);

� approving statutory accounts and shareholder communications;

� Group risk management; and

� material contracts not in the ordinary course of business.
This schedule is reviewed periodically. It was last formally reviewed and updated by the Nominations and Governance Committee
in January 2004 and its proposals were subsequently approved by the Board. Its currency and continued validity were assessed as
part of the performance evaluations conducted in the 2006 financial year described earlier in this Report. The agendas for Board
meetings are initially developed by the Chief Executive and the Company Secretary and are finalised by the Chairman. The
directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary and, both as a group and individually, are entitled to
take independent professional advice at the cost of the Company on matters relating to the proper discharge of their
responsibilities.

Executive Management
The executive directors, together with certain other Group functional heads and regional chief executives, meet 12 times a year as
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the Executive Committee under the chairmanship of the Chief Executive. The Executive Committee is responsible for the
day-to-day management of the Group�s businesses, the overall financial performance of the Group in fulfilment of strategy, plans
and budgets and Group capital structure and funding. It also reviews major acquisitions and disposals.

Committees of the Board
The standing Board Committees are the Audit Committee, the Nominations and Governance Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. The composition and terms of reference of these committees are published on the Group�s website at
www.vodafone.com. The Secretary to these standing Board Committees is the Company Secretary or his nominee.

The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is comprised of financially literate members having the necessary ability and experience to understand
financial statements. Solely for the purpose of fulfilling the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Combined Code, the
Board

has designated John Buchanan, who is an independent non-executive director, satisfying the independence requirements of Rule
10A-3 of the US Securities Exchange Act 1934, as its financial expert on the Audit Committee. Further details of John Buchanan
can be found in �Board of Directors and Group Management�.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required, amongst other things, to oversee the relationship with the external
auditors, to review the Company�s preliminary results announcement, interim results and annual financial statements, to monitor
compliance with statutory and listing requirements for any exchange on which the Company�s shares are quoted, to review the
scope, extent and effectiveness of the activity of the Group Internal Audit Department, to engage independent advisers as it
determines is necessary and to perform investigations.

The Audit Committee reports to the Board on the quality and acceptability of the Company�s accounting policies and practices,
including without limitation, critical accounting policies and practices. The Audit Committee also plays an active role in monitoring
the Company�s compliance efforts for section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and receives progress updates at each of its meetings
as well as a bi-annual status presentation from the Programme Management Office.

At least twice a year, the Audit Committee meets separately with the external auditors and the Group Audit Director without
management being present. Further details on the oversight of the relationships with the external auditors can be found under
�Auditors� and the �Report from the Audit Committee� which are set out on page 57.

The Nominations and Governance Committee
The Nominations and Governance Committee, which provides a formal and transparent procedure for the appointment of new
directors to the Board, generally engages external consultants to advise on prospective Board appointees. This year, the
Committee recommended the appointment of three further non-executive directors. Detailed role profiles were agreed by the
Committee before external search consultants were engaged to prepare a shortlist of potentially suitable candidates. Only after a
rigorous interview process were the appointments recommended to the Board.

The Committee also reviewed the Group�s succession plans, directed the performance evaluations described earlier in this Annual
Report, discussed matters of corporate governance and assessed the independence of non-executive directors prior to reporting to
the Board.

The Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is responsible to the Board for the assessment and recommendation of policy on executive
remuneration and packages for individual executive directors. The Committee has regular private sessions without executive
directors present. Further information on the Committee�s activities is contained in the �Board�s Report to Shareholders on Directors�
Remuneration�.

Statement on Internal Control
Introduction
The Board has established procedures that implement in full the Turnbull Guidance, �Internal Control: Guidance for Directors on the
Combined Code�, for the year under review and to the date of approval of the Annual Report. These procedures, which are subject
to regular review, provide an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group.
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Responsibility
The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal control. A sound system of internal control is designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The process of managing the risks associated with social, environmental and ethical impacts
is also discussed under �Corporate Responsibility and Environmental Issues�, on pages 59 to 60.

Control structure
The Board sets the policy on internal control that is implemented by management. This is achieved through a clearly defined
operating structure with lines of responsibility and delegated authority. The Executive Committee, chaired by the Chief Executive,
manages this on a day-to-day basis.

The Group�s brand essence, which encapsulates the Group�s commitment to integrity and continuous improvement, in combination
with the Group�s Business Principles, sets the tone of the Group and reflects the control consciousness of management.

Written policies and procedures have been issued which clearly define the limits of delegated authority and provide a framework for
management to deal with areas of
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significant business risk. These policies and procedures are reviewed and, where necessary, updated at Executive Committee
meetings.

Control Environment
The Group�s operating procedures include a comprehensive system for reporting information to the directors. This system is
properly documented and regularly reviewed.

Budgets are prepared by subsidiary management and subject to review by both regional management and the directors. Forecasts
are revised on a quarterly basis and compared against budget. When setting budgets and forecasts, management identifies,
evaluates and reports on the potential significant business risks.

The Executive Committee and the Board review management reports on the financial results and key operating statistics.

Emphasis is placed on the quality and abilities of the Group�s employees with continuing education, training and development
actively encouraged through a wide variety of schemes and programmes. The Group has adopted a set of values to act as a
framework for its people to exercise judgement and make decisions on a consistent basis.

Directors are appointed to associated undertakings and joint ventures and attend the board meetings and review the key financial
information of those undertakings. Clear guidance is given to those directors on the preparation that should take place before these
board meetings and their activity at the board meeting. It is the Group�s policy, where possible, that its auditors are appointed as
auditors of associated companies and joint ventures.

The acquisition of any business requires a rigorous analysis of the financial implications of the acquisition and key performance
figures. A sensitivity analysis takes place of the key assumptions made in the analysis. Post investment appraisals of the Group�s
investments are conducted on a periodic and timely basis.

The Board reviews a half-yearly report detailing any significant legal actions faced by Group companies.

The Executive Committee monitors legal, environmental and regulatory matters and approves appropriate responses or
amendments to existing policy.

Monitoring and review activities
There are clear processes for monitoring the system of internal control and reporting any significant control failings or weaknesses
together with details of corrective action.

A formal annual confirmation is provided by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer of each Group company certifying
the operation of their control systems and highlighting any weaknesses. Regional management, the Audit Committee and the
Board review the results of this confirmation.

The Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer undertake a review of the quality and timeliness of disclosures that includes
formal annual meetings with the operating company or regional chief executives and the Disclosure Committee.

The Group Internal Audit Department, reporting directly to the Audit Committee, undertakes periodic examination of business
processes on a risk basis and reports on controls throughout the Group.

Reports from the external auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, on certain internal controls and relevant financial reporting matters, are
presented to the Audit Committee and management.

Review of Effectiveness
The directors, the Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer consider that any controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. The
Group�s management is required to apply judgement in evaluating the risks facing the Group in achieving its objectives, in
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determining the risks that are considered acceptable to bear, in assessing the likelihood of the risks concerned materialising, in
identifying the company�s ability to reduce the incidence and impact on the business of risks that do materialise and in ensuring the
costs of operating particular controls are proportionate to the benefit.

The directors, the Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer confirm that they have reviewed the effectiveness of the system
of internal control and the disclosure controls and procedures through the monitoring process set out above, which as noted
separately on page 55 does not include any statement of compliance with section 404

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and are not aware of any significant weakness or deficiency in the Group�s system of internal control.
The directors, the Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures and, based on that evaluation, have concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures are effective as at the end
of the period covered by this Annual Report.

During the period covered by this Annual Report, there were no changes in the Company�s internal control over financial reporting
that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the effectiveness of the internal controls over financial
reporting.

Relations with Shareholders
The Company is committed to communicating its strategy and activities clearly to its shareholders and, to that end, maintains an
active dialogue with investors through a planned programme of investor relations activities. The investor relations programme
includes formal presentations of full year and interim results and quarterly statements on key performance indicators. The
Company holds briefing meetings with its major institutional shareholders in the UK, the US and in Continental Europe, after the
interim results and preliminary announcement, to ensure that the investing community receives a balanced and complete view of
the Group�s performance and the issues faced by the Group. Telecommunications analysts are invited to presentations of the
financial results and senior executives across the business attend relevant meetings and conferences throughout the year. During
the year, the Company hosts investors and analysts sessions at which senior management from its largest operating subsidiaries,
its largest joint venture and certain associated undertakings deliver presentations which provide an overview of each of the
individual businesses. The Company, through its Investor Relations team, responds to enquiries from shareholders. The Chief
Executive and the Chief Financial Officer meet regularly with institutional investors and analysts, who also have access to the
Chairman if they so require, to discuss business performance.

The principal communication with private investors is through the provision of the Annual Review and Summary Financial
Statement, the interim results and the AGM, an occasion which is attended by all the Company�s directors and at which all
shareholders present are given the opportunity to question the Chairman and the Board as well as the Chairmen of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nominations and Governance Committees. A summary presentation of results and development plans is also
given by the Chairman at the AGM before dealing with the formal business of the meeting. The AGM is broadcast live on the
Group�s website, www.vodafone.com, and a recording of the webcast can subsequently be viewed on the website. All substantive
resolutions at the Company�s AGMs are decided on a poll. The poll is conducted by the Company�s Registrars and scrutinised by
Electoral Reform Services. The proxy votes cast in relation to all resolutions are disclosed to those in attendance at the meeting
and the results of the poll are published on the Company�s website and announced via the regulatory news service. Financial and
other information is made available on the Company�s website, www.vodafone.com, which is regularly updated.

Political Donations
At the AGM on 26 July 2005, the Board sought and obtained shareholders� approval to enable the Group to make donations to EU
Political Organisations or incur EU Political Expenditure, under the relevant provisions of the Political Parties, Elections and
Referendums Act 2000 (�the Act�). The approval given restricted such expenditure to an aggregate limit of £100,000 in the period of
12 months following the date of the AGM.

The Group has made no political donations during the year.

At this year�s AGM, to be held on 25 July 2006, the directors propose to seek a renewal of shareholders� approval for a period of
three years (until the AGM in 2009). The amount of the approval for each year until the AGM in 2009 will again be restricted to an
aggregate amount of £100,000 (£50,000 in respect of donations to EU Political Organisations and £50,000 in respect of EU
Political Expenditure).

Although the directors are seeking shareholders� approval for the next three years, as with previous annual approvals, the Group
has no intention of changing its current policy and practice of not making political donations and will not do so without the specific
endorsement of shareholders. The Board seeks the approval on a precautionary basis, to avoid any possibility of unintentionally
breaching the Act.
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Directors� Indemnities
The Companies (Audit Investigations and Community Enterprise) Act 2004 came into force on 6 April 2005 and, amongst other
things, changed the provisions of Section 310 of the Companies Act 1985 to give companies the power to extend indemnities to
directors against liability to third parties (excluding criminal and regulatory penalties) and to pay directors� legal costs as incurred
provided that they are reimbursed to the Company if the individual is convicted or, in an action brought by the Company, judgment
is given against the director. Accordingly, the Company sought and obtained
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shareholder approval at the AGM in July 2005 to amend its Memorandum and Articles of Association to give it authority to provide
funding for directors� defence costs. Following that approval, the Company indemnified its directors and will indemnify new directors
to the extent permitted by legislation.

Auditors
Following a recommendation by the Audit Committee and, in accordance with section 384 of the Companies Act 1985, a resolution
proposing the re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as auditors to the Company will be put to the AGM.

In their assessment of the independence of the auditors and in accordance with the US Independence Standards Board Standard
No. 1, �Independence Discussions with Audit Committees�, the Audit Committee receives in writing details of relationships between
Deloitte & Touche LLP and the Company that may have a bearing on their independence and receives confirmation that they are
independent of the Company within the meaning of the securities laws administered by the SEC.

In addition, the Audit Committee pre-approves the audit fee after a review of both the level of the audit fee against other
comparable companies, including those in the

telecommunications industry, and the level and nature of non-audit fees, as part of its review of the adequacy and objectivity of the
audit process.

In a further measure to ensure auditor independence is not compromised, policies have been adopted to provide for the
pre-approval by the Audit Committee of all permitted non-audit services by Deloitte & Touche LLP. Should there be an immediate
requirement for permitted non-audit services to be provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP which have not been pre-approved by the
Audit Committee, the policies provide that the Group Audit Director will consult with the Chairman of the Audit Committee for
pre-approval.

In addition to their statutory duties, Deloitte & Touche LLP are also employed where, as a result of their position as auditors, they
either must, or are best placed to, perform the work in question. This is primarily work in relation to matters such as shareholder
circulars, Group borrowings, regulatory filings and business acquisitions and disposals. Other work is awarded on the basis of
competitive tender.

During the year, Deloitte & Touche LLP and its affiliates charged the Group�s subsidiary undertakings £4 million (2005: £4 million)
for audit services and a further £4 million (2005: £3 million) for non-audit assignments. An analysis of these fees can be found in
note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Report from the Audit Committee
The composition of the Audit Committee is shown in the table on page 54 and its terms of reference are discussed under
�Committees of the Board � The Audit Committee�.

During the year ended 31 March 2006, the principal activities of the Committee were as follows:

Financial statements
The Committee considered reports from the Chief Financial Officer and the Group Financial Controller on the half-year and annual
financial statements. It also considered reports from the external auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, on the scope and outcome of the
annual audit.

The financial statements were reviewed in the light of these reports and the results of that review reported to the Board.
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Risk management and internal control
The Committee reviewed the process by which the Group evaluated its control environment, its risk assessment process and the
way in which significant business risks were managed. It also considered the Group Audit department�s reports on the effectiveness
of internal controls, significant frauds and any fraud that involved management or employees with a significant role in internal
controls.

The Committee also reviewed and approved arrangements by which staff could, in confidence, raise concerns about possible
improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. This was achieved through using existing reporting procedures and a
web site with a dedicated anonymous email feature.

External auditors
The Committee reviewed the letter from Deloitte & Touche LLP confirming their independence and objectivity. It also reviewed and
pre-approved the scope of non-audit services provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP to ensure that there was no impairment of
independence.

The Committee pre-approved the scope and fees for audit services provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP and confirmed the wording
of the recommendations put by the Board to the shareholders on the appointment and retention of the external auditors.

Private meetings were held with Deloitte & Touche LLP to ensure that there were no restrictions on the scope of their audit and to
discuss any items the auditors did not wish to raise with management present.

Internal audit
The Committee engaged in discussion and review of the Group Audit Department�s audit plan for the year, together with its
resource requirements. Private meetings were held with the Group Audit Director.

Audit Committee effectiveness
The Audit Committee conducts a formal review of its effectiveness annually and concluded this year that it was effective and able to
fulfil its terms of reference.

Dr Michael Boskin
On behalf of the Audit Committee
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Vodafone employs approximately 60,000 people worldwide, with a goal to recruit, develop and retain the most talented, motivated
people that are well aligned with the Vodafone brand essence. The Company aims to do this by providing a good, safe working
environment, treating people with respect and offering attractive incentives and opportunities. Training and development
programmes help employees to develop their skills and experience and to reach their full potential, benefiting themselves and the
Company.

Employee Involvement
The Board�s aim is to ensure that Vodafone people understand the Group�s strategic goals and the mutual obligations of working in
a high performing, values-based organisation.

Vodafone�s values continue to provide a common way of doing things and are implicit in all that the Group does for and with its
shareholders, customers and employees. During the year, Vodafone launched a major employee engagement initiative to bring
alive the essence of the Vodafone brand. �Red, Rock Solid, Restless� is the cornerstone to changing the culture of the Group by
inspiring the behaviour of employees in their interactions with customers and other stakeholders.

The Board places a high priority on effective employee communications to create a dialogue with the Group�s people. In addition to
the more traditional channels, the Group increasingly uses its own products and services, such as SMS and audio based
messaging, and is currently trialling 3G video based internal communications media in some local markets. This is the natural next
step in the evolution of VTV, the Group�s successful intranet based business television service.

The Chief Executive and other members of the executive management team continue to host the �Talkabout� programme, which
aims to visit each of the Group�s local operating companies every year. In the �Talkabout� sessions, the executive team use the
opportunity to discuss the Group�s strategic goals with as wide an audience of Vodafone people as possible, listening to their views
and talking about the issues that matter most to them, as well as exchanging ideas about how Vodafone can serve its customers as
a single, global team.

All of these initiatives are supported and enhanced by a comprehensive range of award winning in-house publications for effectively
sharing information with employees on key performance indicators for the business. The Vodafone intranet was recently included
by Nielsen Norman Research in their authoritative list as one of the ten best intranets in the world.

Vodafone�s success is driven by the passion and effort of the Group�s employees. In return, Vodafone values employees� opinions
on improving the performance of the Group. Within European subsidiaries, employee representatives meet annually with members
of the executive management team in the Vodafone European Employee Consultative Council to discuss the performance and
prospects of the Group and significant trans-national issues.

In 2005, Vodafone carried out its second biennial Employee Survey to measure the levels of employee satisfaction and
engagement. 89% of employees from 17 countries, including Japan, took part to inform the Company on its progression on the key
issues highlighted by the first survey in 2003.

The results showed that Vodafone employees had responded more positively in 2005 than in 2003. Specific results indicated that
the overwhelming majority of employees are proud to work for Vodafone, understand the importance of Vodafone�s values, know
the results expected of them in their jobs and have a good understanding of Vodafone�s strategic goals and priorities. The number
of employees agreeing with the statement �I am proud to work for Vodafone� was equal to the high performance norm for companies
on the Fortune list of �Most Admired Companies�.

Vodafone is focused on continually improving and, as a result, the Company has identified three areas to be addressed through
co-ordinated global and local action:

� To take a genuine interest in employees and their development, by taking a more proactive approach to developing
employees, with a specific emphasis on coaching and feedback. This area will be supported by the global launch of a
performance management process in the next financial year and the launch of selected functional �Academies� which focus on
the professional and skills development offered to employees;
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� To improve the Group�s understanding of the underlying customer focus issues in each market and identify improvements in
the service offered. Meeting customers� requirements remains at the heart of the business and will continue to differentiate
Vodafone from our competition; and

� To develop practical global frameworks and guidelines to help employees effectively manage change within the business.
The next Employee Survey is scheduled to take place in the 2007 financial year.

Employment Policies
The Group�s employment policies are consistent with the principles of the United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights
and the International Labour Organisation Core Conventions and are developed to reflect local legal, cultural and employment
requirements. High standards are maintained wherever the Group operates, as Vodafone aims to ensure that the Group is
recognised as an employer of choice. Employees at all levels and in all companies are encouraged to make the greatest possible
contribution to the Group�s success. The Group considers its employee relations to be good.

Equal Opportunities
Vodafone does not condone unfair treatment of any kind and operates an equal opportunities policy for all aspects of employment
and advancement, regardless of race, nationality, sex, age, marital status, disability or religious or political belief. In practice, this
means that the Group is able to select the best people available for positions on the basis of merit and capability, making the most
effective use of the talents and experience of people in the business, providing them with the opportunity to develop and realise
their potential.

The Disabled
The directors are conscious of the special difficulties experienced by people with disabilities. Every effort is made to ensure ready
access to the Group�s facilities and services and a range of products has been developed for people with special needs. In addition,
disabled people are assured of full and fair consideration for all vacancies for which they offer themselves as suitable candidates
and efforts are made to meet their special needs, particularly in relation to access and mobility. Where possible, modifications to
workplaces have been made to provide access and, therefore, job opportunities for the disabled. Every effort is made to continue
the employment of people who become disabled via the provision of additional facilities, job design and the provision of appropriate
training.

Health, Safety and Wellbeing
The health, safety and wellbeing of the Group�s customers, employees and others who could be affected by its activities are of
paramount importance to Vodafone and the Group applies rigorous standards to all of its operations.

The health and safety management in each operating company is audited annually and the results are submitted in a report for
discussion by the Board. The Group�s annual global health and safety audit has shown a consistent rise in scores every year since
inception in 2002. New standards, policies and a health and safety management system have been implemented, with an increase
in consultation, participation and best practice sharing by health and safety professionals from the operating companies. These will
be further developed in the next financial year.
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Corporate Responsibility and Environmental Issues

Corporate Responsibility
Vodafone sees corporate responsibility (�CR�) as the process of understanding the expectations of stakeholders in the Group and
taking appropriate action to meet those expectations where they are realistic and legitimate. Stakeholders include customers,
investors, employees, suppliers, the communities where the Group operates and where networks are based, governments and
regulators and representatives of civil society.

CR is relevant across all aspects of business strategy and is encapsulated in the Group�s strategic goal of being a responsible
business. The Executive Committee, chaired by the Chief Executive, receives regular information on CR and the Director of
Corporate Responsibility provides an annual report to the Board. All mobile operating companies have a representative on their
management boards with responsibility for CR. For purposes of this section of the Annual Report, all mobile operating companies
refers to the Group�s mobile operating subsidiaries and the Group�s joint venture in Italy, with the exception of the newly acquired
operations in Czech Republic and Romania and the Swedish operations which were disposed of in the year. The CR impact of the
Japanese operations has been included in the information presented in this section, reflecting the Group�s responsibility for its
impact throughout the 2006 financial year. Systems for data collection on corporate responsibility and environmental issues are
being put in place for the 2007 financial year for the Czech Republic and Romania.

CR is at the heart of Vodafone�s values and is clearly linked to one of the Group�s four passions, Passion for the world around us.
Vodafone�s approach to business is underpinned by the Business Principles which cover, amongst other things, environment,
employees, individual conduct and community and society. The Business Principles are available on
www.vodafone.com/responsibility/businessprinciples and are communicated to employees in a number of ways, including induction
processes, websites and briefings. In the 2006 financial year, CR matters were included within the Group�s development
programme for directors and senior managers.

Vodafone aims to integrate CR into the business and this is being reflected in governance, policy, process and reporting. For
example, CR is integrated into Vodafone�s risk management processes such as the formal annual confirmation provided by each
mobile operating company detailing the operation of their controls system, as outlined on page 55.

CR performance is closely monitored and reports are provided to most mobile operating company boards on a regular basis. This
has driven demonstrable performance improvement and is valuable in benchmarking.

These processes are supported by stakeholder engagement, which seeks to provide a clear understanding of expectations of
performance. The Group engages with stakeholders in a variety of different ways. For example, during the financial year, meetings
relating to CR issues were held with 15 investors; a quantitative perception survey was carried out with 146 opinion leaders
(including academics, non governmental organisations and policy makers) in 11 European countries and face to face meetings
were held with non governmental organisations and opinion formers. This process of stakeholder engagement helps to ensure
Vodafone is aware of the issues relevant to the business and that it is focused on the priority areas. This is covered in more detail
in the Company�s CR Report for the 2006 financial year, which can be found at www.vodafone.com/responsibility.

Vodafone has maintained last year�s level of independent assessment and assurance of the CR programme and performance data.
The scope of work for the Group�s auditors includes a review of certain environmental, community and health and safety
performance data across the business, the progress achieved against commitments set in the 2005 financial year, as well as to
review the management and reporting of CR matters against the requirements of the assurance standard AA1000 AS, issued by
AccountAbility. This identifies, in all material respects, whether reporting reflects the material CR issues of the Group as defined by
the standard, whether processes are in place to ensure a complete understanding of the issues, and whether Vodafone is
responding adequately to identified stakeholders� expectations. The assurance statement is published in the Company�s CR Report.

Over the last year, progress has been made in responding to the Group�s stakeholders� expectations. The most significant
developments are summarised below and further details are provided in the Company�s CR Report and on
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www.vodafone.com/responsibility. In addition to the Company�s CR Report, ten mobile operating subsidiaries have produced their
own CR reports.

Vodafone is included in the FTSE4Good and Dow Jones Sustainability Index.

Socially inclusive products
Vodafone is working to improve people�s access to mobile communications and is developing products and services that support
health and personal security and use secure mobile messaging to facilitate micro-finance in developing countries. In February
2006, Vodafone announced a commitment of £5 million over a period of four years to the Group�s Social Investment Fund. The fund
facilitates the development of commercially viable products and services with high social value, particularly those that increase
accessibility. Examples of initiatives during the year include:

� The Vodafone Speaking Phone with screen reader software for the blind and visually impaired, has been fully launched in six
markets and test launched in one other. An assessment of the availability of handsets with accessibility features and an
investigation into the compatibility of hearing aids and mobile phones have been completed.

� A mobile micro-finance platform called M-pesa has been trialled in Kenya, with support from the UK Department for
International Development. The payment platform is being used to enable customers without local bank infrastructure to
move money between accounts and to make remittances.

Parental controls
Two mobile operating companies have implemented parental control tools to enable customers to protect their children by
restricting access to adult oriented wap and internet sites. A further three mobile operating companies have launched access
controls for Vodafone live!

Group guidelines on premium rate subscription services have been developed. The guidelines recommend that mobile operating
companies require providers of premium rate subscription services to advertise clearly and send a confirmation text to customers
when they sign up explaining applicable charges and clearly stating how to opt out.

Earning the trust of customers
Vodafone values its long-term reputation with customers. Several issues are key to maintaining customers� trust, including the
clarity of the pricing, marketing communications and the way Vodafone handles the confidentiality of customers� communications
and personal information.

During the year, two major initiatives that provide clearer and easier to understand costs for customers were launched:

� Vodafone Passport offers clearer pricing for international roaming, with a one off connection fee per call. Vodafone Passport
won the 2006 GSM Association award for �Best Roaming Product or Service�. To date, over 6 million customers have
subscribed to Vodafone Passport.

� For the Vodafone Mobile Connect data card tariffs, which offer high speed internet connection to laptops, a monthly roaming
bundle was developed to make roaming costs more predictable.

In November 2005, Vodafone adopted a group wide privacy policy that covers the collection, storage and use of our customers�
personal information. The policy is overseen by a Privacy Steering Group, a cross functional body made up of senior management,
and requires the appointment of a Privacy Officer by each Vodafone mobile operating company with day-to-day responsibility for
compliance. An overview of Vodafone�s Privacy Policy is available at www.vodafone.com/responsibility.

The programme of responsible marketing and advertising continued, shifting the focus from control to awareness raising. Upheld
complaints received by advertising regulatory bodies were monitored throughout the markets. Most of these related to price claims
and clarity.

Supply chain
The Group continues to implement Vodafone�s Code of Ethical Purchasing (�CEP�), which sets out environmental and labour
standards for suppliers.

� Corporate responsibility is one of six pillars in Vodafone�s overall Supplier Performance Management system.

� Over 80% of purchasing managers and staff from across the Group have received training on the CEP.
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� A risk based approach has been introduced across the Group to prioritise which suppliers require further assessment for
compliance against the CEP. In the 2006 financial year, over 600 suppliers have been reviewed for risk and over 80
suppliers have completed a self assessment process. 15 site evaluations have been completed.

Vodafone continues to work with other information and communication technology companies to develop a common approach to
managing CR in the supply chain.
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Socio-economic potential of mobiles
Following on from research published in the 2005 financial year on the broader impact of mobile telecommunications in Africa, the
Group commissioned and published research into the impact of mobile phones in healthcare. The study demonstrated how existing
voice and text message applications could increase productivity, improve patient health and enable greater access to health
services in the developed and developing world. Further information is available at www.vodafone.com/healthcare.

Social investment
The Vodafone Group Foundation and family of local foundations have continued to implement a programme of grant making
activity. In the 2006 financial year, the process of establishing new local foundations in the Czech Republic and Albania was
initiated.

During the year ended 31 March 2006, the Company made cash charitable donations of £24.0 million to The Vodafone Group
Foundation. In addition, Group operating companies donated a further £10.0 million to local Vodafone Foundations and a further
£6.9 million directly to a variety of causes. These donations total £40.9 million and include donations of £2.5 million made as
required by the terms of certain network operating licences. More details regarding the activities of The Vodafone Group
Foundation and local Vodafone Foundations can be found in the Company�s CR Report for the 2006 financial year.

Environmental Issues
The Group continues to monitor and manage the impact of its activities on the environment and is committed to minimising adverse
impacts in an appropriate manner. Over the last 12 months, progress has been made across a series of projects that address
environmental issues, including mobile phones, masts and health; responsible network deployment; energy use and efficiency; and
the reuse and recycling of equipment.

Mobile phones, masts and health
Vodafone supports research, aligned to World Health Organisation (�WHO�) priorities, to resolve scientific uncertainty relating to
mobile phones, masts and health, and is committed to reducing public concern by making objective information widely available to
stakeholders and by engaging in open, transparent dialogue.

In the 2006 financial year, the Group engaged with a wide range of external and internal stakeholders through surveys, guidelines
(consistent with WHO advice), Vodafone websites and other existing forms of communications, to promote a consistent and high
level of understanding on the subject. Vodafone also led the industry on the introduction of bodyworn testing of all handsets sold in
Europe. This involves testing exposure to RF (Radio Frequency) fields not only to the head but to other parts of the body.

Please also refer to note 31 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

Responsible network deployment
Vodafone�s mobile services rely on a network of base stations that transmit and receive calls. The Group recognises that network
roll out can cause concern to communities, usually about the visual impact of base stations or health issues concerning RF fields.
This year, Vodafone was found in breach of planning regulations relating to 46 mast sitings. Fines levied by regulatory bodies or
Courts in relation to offences under environmental law or regulations were approximately £63,000. To address these challenges,
Vodafone began implementing a Group policy and guidelines on responsible network deployment. These set out consistent
standards for all mobile operating companies on legal compliance, environmental impact, RF emissions, site planning and
selection, communication and consultation, and landlord relationships.

Energy use and efficiency
A consequence of the Group�s business growth is increasing energy demand to run the network. This is Vodafone�s most significant
environmental impact and limiting the Group�s contribution to climate change is a priority. In partnership with equipment
manufacturers, Vodafone is improving the energy efficiency of the network so that data and voice can be transmitted with greater
efficiency. In the 2006 financial year:

� Energy use increased 23% to 3,198 GWh, equating to 1.31 million tonnes of carbon dioxide.
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� There has been a 22% increase from the previous year in the amount of renewable energy used by the Group and this has
resulted in 12% of total grid energy being sourced from renewables. Vodafone has also trialled onsite renewable energy
technologies including the use of hydrogen fuel cells, wind generators and solar power.

Reuse and recycling
Mobile phones, accessories and the networks on which they operate require upgrading, replacement and decommissioning. Whilst
Vodafone does not manufacture mobile phones or equipment, the Group is committed to working closely with suppliers to improve
the sustainability of mobiles and network equipment. Waste management involves minimisation, reuse and recycling before waste
disposal. The following were achieved during the year:

� 1.37 million phones have been collected for reuse and recycling and collection programmes are in place in 15 mobile
operating companies.

� Initiatives have been launched to raise awareness and encourage recycling. These include offering incentives for customers
and promoting handset recycling with corporate customers and employees.

� 97% of network equipment waste was sent for reuse or recycling.

Environmental Performance Indicators
2006(1) 2005(1)

Number of mobile operating subsidiaries undertaking independent RF field monitoring 15 14
Total energy use (GWh) (direct and indirect) 3,198 2,600
Total carbon dioxide emissions (millions of tonnes) 1.31 1.2
% of energy sourced from renewables 12 11
Number of phones collected for reuse and
   recycling (million) 1.37 1.27
% network equipment waste sent for reuse or recycling 97 96

Note:
(1) These performance indicators were calculated using actual or estimated data collected by the Group�s mobile operating companies. The

data is sourced from invoices, purchasing requisitions, direct data measurement and estimations where required. The carbon dioxide
emissions figure is calculated using the Kwh/CO2 conversion factor for the electricity provided by the national grid and for other energy
sources in each operating company. The data collection and reporting process is within the assurance undertaken by Deloitte & Touche LLP
on the Company�s CR Report. The data for the 2005 financial year excludes newly acquired operations in the Czech Republic and Romania
and operations in Sweden that were sold during 2006. It includes the Group�s joint venture in Italy and the discontinued operation in Japan.
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Board�s Report to Shareholders on Directors� Remuneration

Dear Shareholder
Since the introduction of the current Executive Remuneration Policy in 2002 (the �Policy�), the Remuneration Committee has
conducted annual reviews to ensure that the Policy continues to serve the Company and shareholders. Following my appointment
as Chairman of the Committee, we have undertaken a review again this year.

As a result of this year�s review, the Remuneration Committee has concluded that the existing Policy remains appropriate but
wishes to make three minor changes. These are as follows:

� the deferred bonus scheme will be extended to members of the Executive Committee based outside of the UK, and the
mechanics amended in light of recent US tax legislation;

� we have considered the weighting of performance shares and options within our long term incentives, and will place a
greater weighting on performance shares for 2006 awards, thus increasing the emphasis on total shareholder return
performance; and

� dividends will be accrued on performance shares awarded from 2006 and transferred as shares on the vesting of awards, to
increase the alignment of executive and shareholder interests.

The key principles of the Policy, which are being maintained, are:

� the expected value of total remuneration will be benchmarked against the relevant market;

� a high proportion of total remuneration will be delivered through performance related payments;

� performance measures will be balanced between absolute financial measures and sector comparative measures to achieve
maximum alignment between executive and shareholder objectives;

� the majority of performance related remuneration will be provided in the form of equity; and

� share ownership requirements will be applied to executive directors.
The Committee continues to monitor how well incentive awards made in previous years align with the Company�s performance. The
Policy continues to work well and forecast rewards are commensurate with actual performance. I am confident that the Policy
continues to align executives� interests with the interests of shareholders, whilst enabling the Company to engage a high calibre
team to successfully lead the Company. I hope that we receive your support at the AGM on 25 July 2006.

Luc Vandevelde
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
30 May 2006

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is comprised to exercise independent judgement and consists only of independent non-executive
directors. Luc Vandevelde (Chairman), Sir John Bond, Dr Michael Boskin and Professor Jürgen Schrempp continue as members.
Philip Yea joined the Committee on 1 January 2006. The Chief Executive and Chairman are invited to attend meetings of the
Remuneration Committee, other than when their own remuneration is being discussed.
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The Remuneration Committee met on five occasions during the year. The Committee appointed and received advice from Towers
Perrin (market data and advice on market practice and governance) and Kepler Associates (performance analysis and advice on
performance measures and market practice) and received advice from the Group Human Resources Director and the Group
Compensation and Benefits Director. The advisers also provided advice to the Company on general human resource and
compensation related matters.

Remuneration Policy
The Policy was approved by shareholders in July 2002. The Policy is set out below:

The overriding objective of the Policy on incentives is to ensure that Vodafone is able to attract, retain and motivate
executives of the highest calibre essential to the successful leadership and effective management of a global company at the
leading edge of the telecommunications industry. To achieve this objective, Vodafone, from the context of its UK domicile,
takes into account both the UK regulatory framework, including best practice in corporate governance, shareholder views,
political opinion and the appropriate geographic and nationality basis for determining competitive remuneration, recognising
that this may be subject to change over time as the business evolves.

The total remuneration will be benchmarked against the relevant market. Vodafone is one of the largest companies in Europe
and is a global business; Vodafone�s policy will be to provide executive directors with remuneration generally at levels that are
competitive with the largest companies in Europe. A high proportion of the total remuneration will be awarded through
performance related remuneration, with phased delivery over the short, medium and long term. For executive directors,
approximately 80% of the total expected remuneration will be performance related. Performance measures will be balanced
between absolute financial measures and sector comparative measures to achieve maximum alignment between executive
and shareholder objectives.

All medium and long term incentives are delivered in the form of Vodafone shares and options. Executive directors are
required to comply with share ownership guidelines.

The structure of remuneration for executive directors under the Policy (excluding pensions) is illustrated below:

The Policy�s key objective is to ensure that there is a strong linkage between pay and performance. This is achieved by
approximately 80% of the total package (excluding pensions) being delivered through performance-linked short, medium and long
term incentive plans. Therefore, the only guaranteed payment to executive directors is their base salary.

The Remuneration Committee selects performance measures for incentive plans that provide the greatest degree of alignment with
the Company�s strategic goals and that are clear and transparent to both directors and shareholders. The performance measures
adopted incentivise both operational performance and share price growth.
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Board�s Report to Shareholders on Directors� Remuneration
continued

Each element of the reward package focuses on supporting different Company objectives, which are illustrated below:

Purpose Performance Measure(s)

Base salary � Reflects competitive market � Individual contribution
level, role and individual
achievement

Annual � Motivates achievement of � Adjusted operating profit
deferred annual business KPIs � Free cash flow
share bonus � Provides incentive to co-invest � Total service revenue

� Motivates achievement of � Customer satisfaction
medium term KPIs � Adjusted EPS growth on share

� Aligns with shareholders deferral

Share options � Incentivise earnings growth � Adjusted EPS growth
and share price growth

� Aligns with shareholders

Performance � Incentivise share price and �Relative Total Shareholder
shares dividend growth Return (�TSR�)

� Aligns with shareholders
The principles of the Policy are cascaded, where appropriate, to executives below Board level as set out below:

Cascade of policy to Executive Committee

Base salary Set against national market

Annual Deferred Target bonus level competitive in local market,
Share Bonus payout conditional on business performance

relevant to individual executive

Opportunity to defer bonus to be extended to
Executive Committee members based overseas
in 2006

Long Term Incentive Annual awards of performance shares and share
options with performance conditions

Report on Executive Directors� Remuneration for the 2006
Financial Year and Subsequent Periods
Total remuneration levels
In accordance with the Policy, the Company benchmarks total remuneration levels against other large European domiciled
companies, using externally provided pay data. Total remuneration for these purposes means the sum of base salary and short,
medium and long term incentives. The European focus was selected because Europe continues to be Vodafone�s major market and
the Company is one of the top ten companies in Europe by market capitalisation. The competitive data is used as one input to
determine the remuneration level of the Chief Executive and Board. The Committee also takes into account other factors, including
personal and Company performance, in determining the target remuneration level.
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Components of executive directors� remuneration
Executive directors receive base salary, short and medium term incentive (annual deferred share bonus), long term incentives
(performance shares and share options) and pension benefits. Vesting of all incentives is dependent on the achievement of
performance targets that are set by the Remuneration Committee prior to the awards being granted.

Base salary
Salaries are reviewed annually and adjustments may be made to reflect competitive national pay levels, the prevailing level of
salary reviews of employees within the Group, changes in responsibilities and Group and individual performance. External
remuneration consultants provide data about market salary levels and advise the Committee accordingly. Pension entitlements are
based only on base salary.

Incentive awards
Short and medium term incentive: annual deferred share bonus
The purpose of the annual deferred share bonus is to focus and motivate executive directors to achieve annual business KPIs that
will further the Company�s medium term objectives. Awards made in July 2003 under the Vodafone Group Short Term Incentive
Plan (�STIP�) vested in July 2005. Details of STIP awards are given in the table on page 66.

The Company has reviewed the current STIP in light of changes to US tax legislation and will make future awards under the
Vodafone Global Incentive Plan Rules approved by shareholders in 2005. This will enable the plan to be operated for members of
the Executive Committee based overseas. Whilst the mechanics of the plan will change, the quantum of awards will remain the
same.

The STIP comprises two elements: a base award and an enhancement award. Release of both elements after three years is
dependent upon the continued employment of the participant.

Base award
The base award is earned by achievement of one year KPI linked performance targets and is delivered in the form of shares. The
target base award level for the 2006 financial year was 100% of salary with a maximum of 200% of salary available for exceptional
performance. From 2006, the base award will be deferred into shares, net of tax.

The Remuneration Committee reviews and sets the base award performance targets on an annual basis, taking into account
business strategy. The performance measures for the 2006 financial year relate to adjusted operating profit, total service revenue,
free cash flow and customer delight. Each element is weighted according to the responsibilities of the relevant director. For the
Chief Executive, in the 2006 financial year, the adjusted operating profit target was 30% of the total, total service revenue 35%, free
cash flow 20% and customer satisfaction 15%, and the payout achieved was 118.7%. The targets are not disclosed, as they are
commercially sensitive. For the 2007 financial year, no changes will be made to the performance measures or weightings. More
information on Company performance against KPIs in the 2006 financial year can be found in �Key Performance Indicators� on page
29.

The Group may, at its discretion, pay a cash sum of up to the value of the base award in the event that an executive director
declines the share award. In these circumstances, the executive director will not be eligible to receive the enhancement award or
any cash alternative.

Enhancement award
An enhancement award of 50% of the number of shares comprised in the pre-tax base award is earned by achievement of a
subsequent two year EPS performance target following the initial twelve month period. For awards made in the 2006 financial year,
which will vest in July 2007, the performance measure related to growth in adjusted EPS. Three quarters of the enhancement
award will vest for achievement of EPS growth of 11% rising to full vesting for achievement of EPS growth of 16% over the two
year performance period.

Long term incentives
Awards of performance shares and share options were made to executive directors following the 2005 AGM on 26 July 2005. The
awards for the 2006 financial year will be also be made following the AGM.

Awards in the 2006 financial year were made under the Vodafone Group Plc 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan. Awards of
performance shares and options in the 2007 financial year will be made under the Vodafone Global Incentive Plan.
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Awards are delivered in the form of ordinary shares of the Company. All awards are made under plans that incorporate dilution
limits as set out in the Guidelines for Share Incentive Schemes published by the Association of British Insurers. The current
estimated dilution from subsisting awards, including executive and all-employee share awards, is approximately 2.6% of the
Company�s share capital at 31 March 2006 (2.4% as at 31 March 2005).

Performance shares
Performance shares are awarded annually to executive directors. Vesting of the performance shares depends upon the Company�s
relative TSR performance. TSR measures the change in value of a share and reinvested dividends over the period of
measurement. The Company�s TSR performance is compared to that of other companies in the FTSE Global Telecommunications
index as at the date of grant, over a three-year performance period.

In the 2006 financial year, the Chief Executive received an award of performance shares with a face value of two times base salary;
the Deputy Chief Executive and other executive directors one and a half times their base salary.

Performance shares will vest only if the Company ranks in the top half of the ranking table; maximum vesting will only occur if the
Company is in the top 20%. Vesting is also conditional on underlying improvement in the performance of the Company. Awards will
vest to the extent that the performance condition has been satisfied at the end of the three-year performance period. To the extent
that the performance target is not met, the awards will be forfeited. The following chart shows the basis on which the performance
shares will vest:
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For awards made in the 2007 financial year, dividend equivalents will be awarded at vesting. Initial award levels will be adjusted to
take into account the increased expected value of awards and the proportion of dividend equivalents transferred will reflect TSR
performance achievement.

Previously disclosed performance share awards granted in the 2003 financial year vested in the 2006 financial year. Details are
given in the table on page 67.

Share options
Share options are granted annually to executive directors. The exercise of share options is subject to the achievement of a
performance condition set prior to grant. The Remuneration Committee determined that the most appropriate performance
measure for awards relating to the 2006 financial year was absolute growth in adjusted EPS. One quarter of the option award will
vest for achievement of EPS growth of 8% p.a. rising to full vesting for achievement of EPS growth of 16% p.a. over the
performance period. In setting this target the Remuneration Committee has taken the internal long range plan and market
expectations into account. The Remuneration Committee has decided that for the 2007 financial year grants, the performance
range will be 5% � 10% p.a. The following chart illustrates the basis on which share options granted in the 2006 financial year will
vest:

Options have a ten year term and will vest after three years, subject to performance achievement. To the extent that the
performance target is not met, the options will lapse. Re-testing of performance is not permitted.

The price at which shares can be acquired on option exercise will be no lower than the market value of the shares on the day prior
to the date of grant of the options. Therefore, scheme participants only benefit if the share price increases and vesting conditions
are achieved.

In July 2005, the Chief Executive received an award of options with a face value of six and a half times base salary; the Deputy
Chief Executive and the other executive directors five times their base salary.

Illustration
To help shareholders understand the value of the package provided to the Chief Executive, the following illustration demonstrates
that in order to gain value from the incentive plans, considerable shareholder value must be created.

For example, if the Company�s share price increases by over 50% from 127.0 pence to approximately 190.0 pence, the Company�s
value increases by £42 billion, and there was a 50% vesting of long term incentives, the Chief Executive would have a pre-tax gain
of approximately £4 million, representing less than a hundredth of 1% of the total increase in shareholder value.

Measurement of performance under IFRS
From 1 April 2005, the Company has prepared its financial statements under IFRS. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the impact of the introduction of IFRS for incentive scheme purposes, to ensure that EPS performance achievement is measured
on a consistent basis and that the introduction of the new standard does not advantage or disadvantage participants. For the
schemes affected, EPS under IFRS is adjusted to reflect UK GAAP measurement so that performance may be measured on a
consistent basis. In each case, an independent auditor is requested to review and verify the achievement level.

Share ownership guidelines
Executive directors participating in long term incentive plans must comply with the Company�s share ownership guidelines. These
guidelines, which were first introduced in 2000, require the Chief Executive to have a shareholding in the Company of four times
base salary and other executive directors to have a shareholding of three times base salary.

It is intended that these ownership levels will be attained within five years from the director first becoming subject to the guidelines
and be achieved through the retention of shares awarded under incentive plans.
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Pensions
The Chief Executive, Arun Sarin, is provided with a defined contribution pension arrangement to which the Company contributes
30% of his base salary. The contribution is currently held in a notional fund outside the Company pension scheme.

During the 2006 financial year, Sir Julian Horn-Smith, Peter Bamford, and Andy Halford, being UK based directors, were
contributing members of the Vodafone Group Pension Scheme, which is a UK defined benefit scheme approved by the Inland
Revenue. The scheme provides a benefit of two-thirds of pensionable salary after a minimum of 20 years� service. The normal
retirement age is 60, but directors may retire from age 55 with a pension proportionately reduced to account for their shorter service
but with no actuarial reduction. Where directors� benefit levels are restricted by Inland Revenue limits, the Company made
contributions to the defined contribution Vodafone Group Funded Unapproved Retirement Benefit Scheme (�FURBS�).

Sir Julian Horn-Smith has elected to receive his pension from 6 April 2006, prior to his actual retirement from the Company, in
accordance with the new UK pension rules effective from April 2006. Sir Julian is planning to retire at the end of the 2006 AGM and
the Committee authorised a pension allowance of 30% of base salary for four months until he steps down from the Board.

Thomas Geitner is entitled to a defined benefit pension of 40% of salary from a normal retirement age of 60. On early retirement,
the pension may be reduced if he has accrued less than 10 years of Board service.

All the plans referred to above provide benefits in the event of death in service.

Further details of the pension benefits earned by the directors in the year ended 31 March 2006 can be found on page 66.
Liabilities in respect of the pension schemes in which the executive directors participate are funded to the extent described in note
25 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, �Post employment benefits�.

A-Day proposals
As a result of the new UK legislation affecting the taxation of pensions, the Company has reviewed the pension arrangements it
provides to UK based executives. From April 2006, executives participating in UK pension arrangements may choose to continue
membership of the Vodafone Group Pension Scheme or opt out and instead receive a non-pensionable cash allowance.
Participation in an Inland Revenue approved defined contribution plan or a non-pensionable cash allowance will be provided in
place of the current FURBS arrangement.

All-employee share incentive schemes
Global All Employee Share Plan
As in the 2005 financial year, the Remuneration Committee has approved that an award of shares based on the achievement of
performance conditions be made to all employees in the Vodafone Group. The 2006 award will be made on 3 July 2006. These
awards have a dilutive effect of approximately 0.03%.

Sharesave
The Vodafone Group 1998 Sharesave Scheme is an Inland Revenue approved scheme open to all UK permanent employees.
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The maximum that can be saved each month is £250 and savings plus interest may be used to acquire shares by exercising the
related option. The options have been granted at up to a 20% discount to market value. UK based executive directors are eligible to
participate in the scheme and details of their participation are given in the table on page 68.

Share Incentive Plan
The Vodafone Share Incentive Plan (�SIP�) is an Inland Revenue approved plan open to all UK permanent employees. Eligible
employees may contribute up to £125 each month and the trustee of the plan uses the money to buy shares on their behalf. An
equivalent number of shares is purchased with contributions from the employing company. UK based executive directors are
eligible to participate in the SIP and details of their share interests under these plans are given in the table on page 69.

Non-executive directors� remuneration
The remuneration of non-executive directors is periodically reviewed by the Board, excluding the non-executive directors. Basic fee
levels were increased in April 2005 to reflect directors� considerably increased workload and the increased complexity of managing
an international group. The fees payable are as follows:

Fees payable from 1 April 2005

£�000

Chairman 510
Deputy Chairman and Senior Independent Director 130
Basic Non-Executive Director fee 95
Chairmanship of Audit Committee 20
Chairmanship of Remuneration Committee 15
Chairmanship of Nominations and Governance Committee 10

In addition, an allowance of £6,000 is payable each time a non-Europe based non-executive director is required to travel to attend
Board and Committee meetings, to reflect the additional time commitment involved.

Details of each non-executive director�s remuneration are included in the table on page 65.

Non-executive directors do not participate in any incentive or benefit plans. The Company does not provide any contribution to their
pension arrangements. The Chairman is entitled to the provision of a fully expensed car or car allowance.

Service contracts and appointments of directors
Executive directors
The Remuneration Committee has determined that, after an initial term that may be of up to two years� duration, executive directors�
contracts should thereafter have rolling terms and be terminable on no more than one year�s notice. All current executive directors�
contracts have an indefinite term (to normal retirement date) and one year notice periods. No payments should normally be payable
on termination other than the salary due for the notice period and such entitlements under incentive plans and benefits that are
consistent with the terms of such plans.

All the UK based executive directors have, whilst in service, entitlement under a long term disability plan from which two-thirds of
base salary, up to a maximum benefit determined by the insurer, would be provided until normal retirement date. In the event of
disability, Thomas Geitner would receive his normal retirement pension based on his accrued service.

Sir Julian Horn-Smith
Sir Julian Horn-Smith, the Company�s Deputy Chief Executive, will retire from the Company following the AGM on 25 July 2006. Sir
Julian will be entitled to subsisting awards, pro-rated for both time and performance, in accordance with the standard rules of each
incentive plan in which he participates. Sir Julian will receive a pension in line with the standard rules of the plan in which he
participates, described in more detail in �Pensions� on page 63. The Remuneration Committee agreed that he would be offered the
opportunity to purchase his company car on leaving the Company. No severance payment will be payable to him.
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Peter Bamford
Peter Bamford left the Company on 1 April 2006 and will receive salary and compensation for loss of office in accordance with his
legal entitlement. The total payment is in the order of £1.25 million, including pension contribution. He will receive his annual bonus
for the 2006 financial year and the Remuneration Committee has exercised discretion to allow him access to long term incentive
awards, pro-rated for time and performance.

Fees retained for non-executive directorships in other companies
Some executive directors hold positions in other companies as non-executive directors. The fees received in respect of the 2006
financial year and retained by directors were as follows:

Fees retained by the

individual in the

Company in which non- 2006 financial year

executive directorship is held £�000(1)

Arun Sarin Bank of England 5.0
Thomas Geitner Singulus Technologies AG 61.9
Sir Julian Horn-Smith(2) Smiths Group plc 50.0

LloydsTSB Group plc 74.0
Sage Group plc 3.4

Ken Hydon(3) Reckitt Benckiser plc 20.0
Tesco PLC 18.5

Notes:
(1) Fees were retained in accordance with Company policy.
(2) An option over 400,000 shares was granted to Sir Julian in November 2005 by China Mobile (Hong Kong) Limited for his duties as

non-executive director, which are held for the benefit of the Company and will lapse on his retirement.
(3) Fees retained in the period to 26 July 2005.
Chairman and non-executive directors
In December 2005, the Company announced that Lord MacLaurin, the Company�s Chairman, will retire from the Company following
the AGM on 25 July 2006. Lord MacLaurin will receive fees in accordance with his service contract until the end of the 2006
calendar year. The Company has entered into an agreement with Lord MacLaurin that he will provide advisory services to the
Company for a period of three years following his retirement. During this period he will receive an annual fee of £125,000, which he
has advised the Company he intends to donate to charity.

In December 2005, Sir John Bond accepted the invitation of the Board to be appointed as Chairman of the Company following the
2006 AGM. As Chairman, he will receive a fee of £475,000 per annum. The appointment is indefinite and may be terminated by
either party on one year�s notice.

Non-executive directors, including the Deputy Chairman, are engaged on letters of appointment that set out their duties and
responsibilities. The appointment of non-executive directors may be terminated without compensation.

The terms and conditions of appointment of non-executive directors are available for inspection by any person at the Company�s
registered office during normal business hours and at the AGM (for 15 minutes prior to the meeting and during the meeting).

Philip Yea, Anne Lauvergeon and Tony Watson were appointed to the Board as non-executive directors with effect from 1
September 2005, 1 November 2005 and 1 May 2006 respectively, and hold office on the same terms as other non-executive
directors.

TSR performance
The following chart shows the performance of the Company relative to the FTSE100 index and the FTSE Global
Telecommunications index, which are the most relevant indices for the Company.

Graph provided by Towers Perrin and calculated according to a methodology that is compliant with the requirements of Schedule 7A of the
Companies Act. Data Sources: FTSE and Datastream
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Note: Performance of the Company shown by the graph is not indicative of vesting levels under the Company�s various incentive plans.
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Audited Information
 Remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2006
The remuneration of the directors serving during the year ended 31 March 2006 was as follows:

Salary/fees Incentive schemes Benefits Total

2006 2005 2006(1) 2005 2006(2) 2005 2006 2005
£�000 £�000 £�000 £�000 £�000 £�000 £�000 £�000

Chairman
Lord MacLaurin 520 485 � � 57 32 577 517

Deputy Chairman
Paul Hazen(3) 173 130 � � � � 173 130

Chief Executive
Arun Sarin 1,254 1,175 1,424 1,148 54 183 2,732 2,506

Executive directors
Peter Bamford 804 771 908 663 48 37 1,760 1,471
Thomas Geitner 734 679 851 665 148 37 1,733 1,381
Andy Halford 342 � 396 � 16 � 754 �
Sir Julian Horn-Smith 1,022 970 1,169 966 48 34 2,239 1,970
Ken Hydon 253 779 264 776 91 30 608 1,585

Non-executive directors
Sir John Bond 95 21 � � � � 95 21
Dr Michael Boskin(3) 144 85 � � � � 144 85
Lord Broers 95 85 � � � � 95 85
John Buchanan 95 85 � � � � 95 85
Penny Hughes 100 95 � � � � 100 95
Anne Lauvergeon 40 � � � � � 40 �
Sir David Scholey 32 85 � � � � 32 85
Professor Jürgen Schrempp 95 85 � � � � 95 85
Luc Vandevelde 105 85 � � � � 105 85
Philip Yea 55 � � � � � 55 �

Former directors(4) � 191 � � 1,283 229 1,283 420

5,958 5,806 5,012 4,218 1,745 582 12,715 10,606

Notes:
(1) These figures are the cash equivalent value of the base share awards under the Vodafone Group Short Term Incentive Plan applicable

to the year ended 31 March 2006. These awards are in relation to the performance achievements against targets in adjusted operating
profit, total service revenue, free cash flow and customer delight for the 2006 financial year.

(2) Benefits principally comprise cars and private health and disability insurance. Thomas Geitner relocated from Germany to the UK during
the 2006 financial year. The benefits figure disclosed includes relocation expenses and a monthly allowance to reflect the higher cost of
living in the UK.

(3) Fees include allowances paid in respect of a non-executive director based outside of Europe to reflect the additional time commitment
involved when required to travel to attend Board and Committee meetings.

(4) Under the terms of an agreement, Sam Ginn, a former director of the Company, provides consultancy services to the Group and was
entitled to certain benefits. The estimated value of the benefits received by him in the year to 31 March 2006 was £29,852. During the
year, the agreement was terminated by mutual agreement. Mr Ginn received a payment of $2.23m (£1.25m) as compensation for
benefits for the outstanding term.
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The aggregate compensation paid by the Company to its collective senior management(1) for services for the year ended 31 March
2006, is set out below. The aggregate number of senior management as at 31 March 2006 was ten, the same number as at 31
March 2005.

2006 2005
£�000 £�000

Salaries and fees 4,555 2,972
Incentive schemes(2) 5,155 2,875
Benefits 3,125 1,066

12,835 6,913

Notes:
(1) Aggregate compensation for senior management is in respect of those individuals who were members of the Executive Committee during the

year ended 31 March 2006, other than executive directors and reflects compensation paid from date of appointment to the Executive
Committee, to 31 March 2006 or date of leaving, where applicable.

(2) Comprises the incentive scheme information for senior management on an equivalent basis to that disclosed for directors in the table at the top
of this page. Details of share incentives awarded to directors and senior management are included in footnotes to �Short term incentives� and
�Long term incentives� on pages 66 and 67.
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Pensions
Pension benefits earned by the directors serving during the year ended 31 March 2006 were:

Employer
Transfer

value allocation/
Change in
transfer of change in

contribution
to

Total
accrued Change in

value over
year

Change in
accrued

accrued
benefit to defined

benefit at
accrued
benefit

Transfer
value at

Transfer
value at less member

benefit in
excess

net of
member contribution

31 March
2006

(1) over the
year

(1) 31 March
2005(1)

31 March
2006

(2)

contributions of inflation contributions plans
Name of Director £�000 £�000 £�000 £�000 £�000 £�000 £�000 £�000

Arun Sarin � � � � � � � 360.0
Peter Bamford 30.8 3.5 348.8 529.9 177.4 2.8 44.2 202.4
Thomas Geitner 115.8 23.1 1,163.2 1,971.4 808.2 20.6 350.7 �
Andy Halford 13.3 2.3 110.1 182.8 69.0 2.0 23.7 73.6
Sir Julian
Horn-Smith 605.2 57.1 9,090.3 13,231.0 4,106.2 42.3 890.0 �

Ken Hydon(3) 516.6 10.4 10,241.1 12,637.2 2,396.1 � � 79.2

Notes:
(1) The accrued pension benefits earned by the directors are those which would be paid annually on retirement, based on service to the end of the

year, at the normal retirement age. The increase in accrued pension excludes any increase for inflation.
(2) The transfer values have been calculated on the basis of actuarial advice in accordance with the Faculty and Institute of Actuaries� Guidance

Note GN11. No director elected to pay additional voluntary contributions. The transfer values disclosed above do not represent a sum paid or
payable to the individual director. Instead they represent a potential liability of the pension scheme.

(3) Ken Hydon reached 60 years of age on 3 November 2004 and retired from the Company following the AGM on 26 July 2005. In accordance
with the standard rules of the scheme, he received an immediate pension based on his accrued benefit without actuarial reduction or any
enhancement. From 1 December 2004, Ken Hydon accrued a cash allowance equivalent to 30% of his base salary, which ceased on leaving
the Company.

In respect of senior management, the Group has made aggregate contributions of £829,582 into pension schemes. The Company�s
proposals in light of the changes in pension legislation are detailed under �Pensions� on page 63.

Directors� interests in the shares of the Company
Short term incentives
Conditional awards of ordinary shares made to executive directors under the STIP, and dividends on those shares paid under the
terms of the Company�s scrip dividend scheme and dividend reinvestment plan, are shown below. STIP shares which vested and
were sold or transferred during the year ended 31 March 2006 are also shown below.

Shares conditionally Shares conditionally

awarded during the
awarded during the

year
Total

interest year as base award
as enhancement

shares Shares sold or transferred

in STIP at
in respect of STIP

awards
in respect of STIP

awards during the year in respect
1 April
2005

for the 2005
financial year

for the 2005
financial year of the 2003 financial year

(1) Total interest in STIP as at 31 March
2006

Value at Value at In respect of Number Number of
Total

number
date of
award

(2)(3) date of
award

((3) In respect
of enhancement of base enhancement

Total
value

(4)
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of shares Number £�000 Number £�000
base

awards shares
award
shares shares £�000

Arun Sarin 1,520,600 840,498 1,148 420,249 574 � � 1,854,231 927,116 3,352
Peter
Bamford 1,958,447 � � � � 704,311 352,155 601,320 300,661 1,087

Thomas
Geitner 329,205 285,453 390 142,726 195 219,470 109,735 285,453 142,726 516

Andy
Halford 565,211 � � � � 181,941 90,971 194,866 97,433 352

Sir Julian
Horn-Smith 1,324,070 � � � � 882,713 441,357 � � �

Ken Hydon 1,081,324 � � � � 720,883 360,441 � � �

Notes:
(1) Shares in respect of the STIP awards for the 2003 financial year were transferred on 1 July 2005.
(2) Previously disclosed within directors� emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2005.
(3) Value at date of award is based on the price of the Company�s ordinary shares on 1 July 2005 of 136.25p.
(4) The value at 31 March 2006 is calculated using the closing middle market price of the Company�s ordinary shares at 31 March 2006 of 120.5p.
The aggregate number of shares conditionally awarded during the year as base award and enhancement shares to the Company�s
senior management, other than executive directors, is 514,603. For a description of the performance and vesting conditions, see
�Short and medium term incentive: annual deferred share bonus� on page 62.
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Long term incentives
Performance shares
Conditional awards of ordinary shares made to executive directors under the Vodafone Group Long Term Incentive Plan and
Vodafone Group Plc 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan, and dividends on those shares paid under the terms of the Company�s
scrip dividend scheme and dividend reinvestment plan, are shown below. Long Term Incentive shares that vested and were sold or
transferred during the year ended 31 March 2006 are also shown below:

Shares sold
or

Shares
Shares

forfeited in
transferred

in

Total interest in
added during

the
respect of
awards

respect of
awards

Long Term
Incentives

2006 financial
year for the 2003, for the 2003,

at 1 April 2005
or

Shares conditionally
awarded

through
dividend

2004 and
2005

2004 and
2005

Total interest in long
term

date of
appointment

(1) during the 2006 financial
year reinvestment

financial
years

financial
years

incentives at 31 March
2006

Value at
date of
award

(2)

Number
Total
value

(4)

Number Number £�000 Number Number(3) Number(3) of shares £�000

Arun Sarin 3,861,669 1,717,120 2,494 � � � 5,578,789 6,722
Peter Bamford 2,934,630 876,532 1,273 15,609 592,145 492,367 2,742,259 3,304
Thomas Geitner 2,429,377 811,127 1,178 11,949 453,321 376,934 2,422,198 2,919
Andy Halford 514,616 539,975 784 3,110 118,013 98,126 841,562 1,014
Sir Julian
Horn-Smith 3,717,872 1,117,080 1,623 20,387 773,413 643,092 3,438,834 4,144

Ken Hydon 2,948, 684 � � 15,609 592,145 788,719 � �

Notes:
(1) Restricted share awards under the Vodafone Group Long Term Incentive Plan and Vodafone Group Plc 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan.
(2) The value of awards under the Vodafone Group Plc 1999 Long Term Incentive Plan is based on the price of the Company�s ordinary shares on

26 July 2005 of 145.25p.
(3) Shares in respect of awards for the 2003 financial year were sold or transferred on 1 July 2005 and 19 August 2005. The closing middle market

price of the Company�s ordinary shares on 1 July 2005, the date of vesting, was 136.25p.
(4) The value at 31 March 2006 is calculated using the closing middle market price of the Company�s ordinary shares at 31 March 2006 of 120.5p.
(5) All employees, including Executive Directors with the exception of those retiring in the 2006 financial year, received an award of 320 shares on

1 July 2005, under the Global All Employee Share Plan. The awards vest after two years and are not subject to performance conditions.
The aggregate number of shares conditionally awarded during the year to the Company�s senior management is 3,192,815 shares.
For a description of the performance and vesting conditions see �Long term incentives� on pages 62 to 63. In some cases local
performance conditions attach to the awards.

Share options
The following information summarises the directors� options under the Vodafone Group Plc Savings Related Share Option Scheme,
the Vodafone Group 1998 Sharesave Scheme, the Vodafone Group Plc Executive Share Option Scheme and the Vodafone Group
1998 Company Share Option Scheme, all of which are HM Revenue and Customs approved schemes. The table also summarises
the directors� options under the Vodafone Group Plc Share Option Scheme, the Vodafone Group 1998 Executive Share Option
Scheme, the AirTouch Communications, Inc. 1993 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan and the Vodafone Group Plc 1999 Long Term
Stock Incentive Plan, which are not HM Revenue and Customs approved. No other directors have options under any of these
schemes. Only under the Vodafone Group 1998 Sharesave Scheme may shares be offered at a discount in future grants of
options. For a description of the performance and vesting conditions see �Long term incentives� on pages 62 to 63.
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Options held
at

1 April 2005
Options
granted

Options
exercised

Options
lapsed

Weighted
average

or date of
during the

2006
during the

2006
during the

2006
Options held

at
exercise
price at

Earliest
date

appointment
(1) financial

year
financial

year
financial

year
31 March

2006
31 March

2006 from which Latest

Number Number Number Number Number Pence exercisable
expiry
date

Arun Sarin(2)(3) 20,704,987 5,711,292 � � 26,416,279 152.5 Jun 2000 Jul 2015

Peter Bamford 19,073,022 2,915,424 4,350,652 2,053,776 15,584,018 148.5 Jul 2002 Mar
2007

Thomas Geitner 17,334,854 2,697,882 � 1,635,776 18,396,960 140.5 Jul 2003 Jul 2015
Andy Halford 921,485 1,796,003 13,395 � 2,704,093 147.6 Jul 2002 Jul 2015
Sir Julian
Horn-Smith 23,332,869 3,715,505 � 1,847,776 25,200,598 134.9 Jul 2002 Jul 2015

Ken Hydon 18,717,166 � 8,338,371 7,280,782 3,098,013 213.9 Jul 2002 Jul 2006

100,084,383 16,836,106 12,702,418 12,818,110 91,399,961

Notes:
(1) The weighted average exercise price of options over shares in the Company granted during the year and listed above is 145.25 pence. The

earliest date from which they are exercisable is July 2008 and the latest expiry date is 25 July 2015. For a description of the performance and
vesting conditions see �Long term incentives� on pages 62 to 63.

(2) Some of the options held by Arun Sarin are held in the form of ADSs, each representing ten ordinary shares of the Company, which are traded
on the New York Stock Exchange. The number of ADSs over which Arun Sarin holds options is 625,000.

(3) The terms of the share options granted over 6,250,000 shares in 1999 to Arun Sarin allow exercise until the earlier of the date on which he
ceases to be a director of the Company and the seventh anniversary of the respective dates of grant.

(4) In accordance with the terms of the plan rules, options granted to Ken Hydon became exercisable on retirement, being pro-rated for both time
and performance.

The aggregate number of options granted during the year to the Company�s senior management, other than executive directors, is
10,454,900. The weighted average exercise price of the options granted to senior management during the year is 145.24 pence.
The earliest date from which they are exercisable is July 2008 and the latest expiry date is 25 July 2015.

Vodafone Group Plc Annual Report 2006 67

Edgar Filing: VODAFONE GROUP PUBLIC LTD CO - Form 20-F

169



Back to Contents

Board�s Report to Shareholders on Directors� Remuneration
continued

Further details of options outstanding at 31 March 2006 are as follows:

Exercisable: Market price Exercisable: Option price

greater than option price(1) greater than market price(1) Not yet
exercisable

Weighted
average Latest Weighted

average Latest Weighted
average

Earliest date
from

Options
held exercise price expiry

date Options held exercise price expiry
date Options held exercise price which

exercisable
Number Pence Number Pence Number Pence

Arun
Sarin(2) � � � 6,250,000 236.3 Jul-06 20,166,279 126.5 Jul-06

Peter
Bamford � � � 3,307,713 207.2 Mar-07 12,276,305 132.7 Jul-06

Thomas
Geitner 3,507,178 97.0 Aug-12 3,259,679 209.3 Jul-11 11,630,103 134.4 Jul-06

Andy
Halford 94,444 90.0 Jul-12 344,800 214.6 Jul-11 2,264,849 139.8 Jul-06

Sir Julian
Horn-Smith 5,753,505 97.0 Aug-12 3,701,990 201.7 Jul-11 15,745,103 133.1 Jul-06

Ken Hydon � � � 3,098,013 213.9 Jul-06 � � �

9,355,127 19,962,195 62,082,639

Notes:
(1)Market price is the closing middle market price of the Company�s ordinary shares at 31 March 2006 of 120.5p.
(2)Some of Arun Sarin�s options are in respect of American Depositary Shares, each representing ten ordinary shares in the Company, which are

traded on the New York Stock Exchange. The number and option price have been converted into the equivalent amounts for the Company�s
ordinary shares.

The Company�s register of directors� interests (which is open to inspection at the Company�s registered office) contains full details of
directors� shareholdings and options to subscribe. These options by exercise price were:

Options held
at

1 April 2005 Options
granted

Options
exercised

Options
lapsed

or date of during the
2006

during the
2006

during the
2006

Options held
at

Option
price appointment(1) financial

year financial year financial
year

31 March
2006

Pence Number Number Number Number Number

Vodafone Group Plc Share Option Scheme
(Unapproved � 1988) 155.90 855,000 � � 855,000 �

Vodafone Group 1998 Company Share Option
Scheme (Approved) 255.00 502,500 � � � 502,500

Vodafone Group 1998 Executive Share Option
Scheme (Unapproved) 282.30 1,131,000 � � � 1,131,000

Vodafone Group Plc Savings Related Share
Option Scheme (1988) 70.92 63,521 � 40,185 � 23,336

Vodafone Group 1998 Sharesave Scheme 95.30 16,710 � � � 16,710
108.84 8,705 � � � 8,705

Vodafone Group Plc 1999 Long Term Stock
Incentive Plan 90.00 94,444 � � � 94,444
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97.00 17,935,197 � 8,674,514 � 9,260,683
119.00 20,794,632 � 1,079,081 2,246,855 17,468,696
119.25 23,119,811 � 2,908,638 831,039 19,380,134
145.25 � 16,836,106 � �16,836,106
151.56 2,000,400 � � � 2,000,400
157.50 16,943,043 � � 2,342,112 14,600,931
236.34(2) 6,250,000 � � � 6,250,000
291.50 10,369,420 � � 6,543,104 3,826,316

100,084,383 16,836,106 12,702,418 12,818,110 91,399,961

Notes:
(1) Includes options held by Andy Halford as at 26 July 2005 on appointment to the Board
(2)These share options are in respect of American Depositary Shares, each representing ten ordinary shares in the Company, which are traded on

the New York Stock Exchange. The number and option price have been converted into the equivalent amounts for the Company�s ordinary
shares.

Details of the options exercised by directors of the Company in the year ended 31 March 2006 are as follows:

Options Market price
exercised at date of Gross
during the

year Option price exercise pre-tax gain

Number Pence Pence £�000

Peter Bamford 13,395 70.9 152.0 10.9
Andy Halford 13,395 70.9 152.0 10.9

26,790 21.8

Note:
The aggregate gross pre-tax gain made on the exercise of share options in the
2006 financial year by the Company�s above directors was £21,721 (2005:
£3,076,276). The closing middle market price of the Company�s shares at 31
March 2006 was 120.5p, its highest closing price in the 2006 financial year
having been 155.0 pence and its lowest closing price having been 109.0 pence.
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Beneficial interests
The directors� beneficial interests in the ordinary shares of the Company, which includes interests in the Vodafone Group Profit
Sharing Scheme and the Vodafone Share Incentive Plan, but which excludes interests in the Vodafone Group Share Option
Schemes, the Vodafone Group Short Term Incentive or in the Vodafone Group Long Term Incentives, are shown below:

1 April 2005 or date

26 May 2006 31 March
2006 of appointment

Lord MacLaurin 92,495 92,495 92,495
Paul Hazen 360,900 360,900 360,900
Arun Sarin(1) 4,932,560 4,932,560 4,832,560
Thomas Geitner 451,556 451,556 417,700
Andy Halford(2) 108,293 107,895 91,336
Sir Julian Horn-Smith 1,829,385 1,828,987 1,818,257
Sir John Bond 134,423 134,423 34,423
Dr Michael Boskin 212,500 212,500 212,500
Lord Broers 20,483 20,483 19,819
John Buchanan 208,124 208,124 104,318
Penny Hughes 22,500 22,500 22,500
Anne Lauvergeon(3) 31,000 31,000 �
Professor Jürgen Schrempp 10,000 10,000 10,000
Luc Vandevelde 20,000 20,000 20,000
Philip Yea(3) 70,000 70,000 �

Notes:
(1)Arun Sarin also has a non-beneficial interest as the trustee of two family trusts, each holding 5,720 shares.
(2)Andy Halford was appointed to the Board on 26 July 2005.
(3)Non-executive directors appointed to the Board as follows: Anne Lauvergeon: 1 November 2005, Philip Yea: 1 September 2005.
Changes to the interests of the directors of the Company in the ordinary shares of the Company during the period from 1 April 2006
to 26 May 2006 relate to shares acquired either through Vodafone Group Personal Equity Plans or the Vodafone Share Incentive
Plan. As at 31 March 2006, and during the period from 1 April 2006 to 26 May 2006, no director had any interest in the shares of
any subsidiary company.

Other than those individuals included in the table above who were Board members at 31 March 2006, members of the Group�s
Executive Committee, as at 31 March 2006, had an aggregate beneficial interest in 2,078,326 ordinary shares of the Company. At
26 May 2006, Executive Committee members at that date had an aggregate beneficial interest in 2,079,522 ordinary shares of the
Company, none of whom had an individual beneficial interest amounting to greater than 1% of the Company�s ordinary shares.

Interests in share options of the Company at 26 May 2006
At 26 May 2006, there had been no change to the directors� interests in share options from 31 March 2006.

Other than those individuals included in the table above, at 26 May 2006, members of the Group�s Executive Committee at that date
held options for 34,714,916 ordinary shares at prices ranging from 48.3 pence to 293.7 pence per ordinary share, with a weighted
average exercise price of 141.60 pence per ordinary share exercisable at dates ranging from July 1999 to July 2015, and options
for 172,669 ADSs at prices ranging from $13.65 to $45.3359 per ADS, with a weighted average exercise price of $26.6056 per
ADS, exercisable at dates ranging from July 2001 to July 2013.

Lord MacLaurin, Paul Hazen, Sir John Bond, Dr Michael Boskin, Lord Broers, John Buchanan, Penny Hughes, Anne Lauvergeon,
Professor Jürgen Schrempp, Luc Vandevelde and Philip Yea held no options at 26 May 2006.

Edgar Filing: VODAFONE GROUP PUBLIC LTD CO - Form 20-F

172



Directors� interests in contracts
None of the current directors had a material interest in any contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiary
undertakings was a party during the financial year.

Luc Vandevelde
On behalf of the Board
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Directors� Statement of Responsibility

United Kingdom company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss of the
Group for that period. In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:

� select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
� make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
� state whether the Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted for use in the

EU;
� for the Company Financial Statements, state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed; and
� prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company and the

Group will continue in business.
The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Company and the Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for the system of internal control, for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and, hence, for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

Disclosure of Information to Auditors
Having made the requisite enquiries, so far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information (as defined by Section
234ZA of the Companies Act 1985) of which the Company�s auditors are unaware, and the directors have taken all the steps they
ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company�s auditors are
aware of that information.

Going Concern
After reviewing the Group�s and Company�s budget for the next financial year, and other longer term plans, the directors are
satisfied that, at the time of approving the financial statements, it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements.

By Order of the Board

Stephen Scott
Secretary
30 May 2006
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Consolidated Income Statement for the years ended 31 March

2006 2006 2005

Note $m £m £m

Revenue 3 51,048 29,350 26,678
Cost of sales (29,689) (17,070) (15,800)

Gross profit 21,359 12,280 10,878
Selling and distribution expenses (3,263) (1,876) (1,649)
Administrative expenses (5,941) (3,416) (2,856)
Share of result in associated undertakings 14 4,223 2,428 1,980
Impairment losses 10 (40,900) (23,515) (475)
Other income and expense 26 15 �

Operating (loss)/profit 3,4 (24,496) (14,084) 7,878
Non-operating income and expense (3) (2) (7)
Investment income 5 614 353 294
Financing costs 5 (1,948) (1,120) (880)

(Loss)/profit before taxation (25,833) (14,853) 7,285
Tax on (loss)/profit 6 (4,140) (2,380) (1,869)

(Loss)/profit for the financial year from continuing operations (29,973) (17,233) 5,416
(Loss)/profit for the financial year from discontinued operations 29 (7,980) (4,588) 1,102

(Loss)/profit for the financial year (37,953) (21,821) 6,518

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders (38,118) (21,916) 6,410
Minority interests 165 95 108

(37,953) (21,821) 6,518

(Loss)/earnings per share
From continuing operations:
Basic 8 (48.11)¢ (27.66)p 8.12p
Diluted 8 (48.11)¢ (27.66)p 8.09p

From continuing and discontinued operations:
Basic 8 (60.89)¢ (35.01)p 9.68p
Diluted 8 (60.89)¢ (35.01)p 9.65p
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Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
for the years ended 31 March

2006 2006 2005

Note $m £m £m

Gains on revaluation of available-for-sale investments, net of tax 1,226 705 106
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 2,599 1,494 1,488
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes, net of tax (52) (30) (79)
Asset revaluation surplus 28 195 112 �
Transfer to the income statement on disposal of foreign operations 63 36 �

Net income recognised directly in equity 4,031 2,317 1,515
(Loss)/profit for the financial year (37,953) (21,821) 6,518

Total recognised income and expense relating to the year (33,922) (19,504) 8,033

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders (34,101) (19,607) 7,958
Minority interests 179 103 75

(33,922) (19,504) 8,033

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

The unaudited US dollar amounts are prepared on the basis set out in note 1.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet at 31 March

2006 2006 2005

Note $m £m £m

Non-current assets
Goodwill 9 91,497 52,606 80,999
Other intangible assets 9 28,719 16,512 16,149
Property, plant and equipment 11 23,759 13,660 17,442
Investments in associated undertakings 14 40,346 23,197 20,234
Other investments 15 3,686 2,119 1,181
Deferred tax assets 6 244 140 1,184
Post employment benefits 25 33 19 12
Trade and other receivables 17 628 361 585

188,912 108,614 137,786

Current assets
Inventory 16 517 297 440
Taxation recoverable 14 8 38
Trade and other receivables 17 7,718 4,438 5,164
Cash and cash equivalents 18 4,851 2,789 3,769

13,100 7,532 9,411

Assets included in disposal group held for sale 29 18,423 10,592 �

Total assets 220,435 126,738 147,197

Equity
Called up share capital 19 7,244 4,165 4,286
Share premium account 21 91,216 52,444 52,284
Own shares held 21 (14,259) (8,198) (5,121)
Additional paid-in capital 21 174,194 100,152 100,081
Capital redemption reserve 21 223 128 �
Accumulated other recognised income and expense 22 7,114 4,090 1,781
Retained losses 23 (117,152) (67,356) (39,511)

Total equity shareholders� funds 148,580 85,425 113,800

Minority interests (197) (113) (152)

Total equity 148,383 85,312 113,648
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Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings 24 29,133 16,750 13,190
Deferred tax liabilities 6 9,862 5,670 4,849
Post employment benefits 25 209 120 136
Provisions for liabilities and charges 26 461 265 319
Trade and other payables 27 984 566 438

40,649 23,371 18,932

Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings:
Third parties 24 5,340 3,070 861
Related parties 24 657 378 1,142

Current taxation liabilities 7,736 4,448 4,353
Trade and other payables 27 13,005 7,477 8,033
Provisions for liabilities and charges 26 242 139 228

26,980 15,512 14,617

Liabilities included in disposal group held for sale 29 4,423 2,543 �

Total equity and liabilities 220,435 126,738 147,197

The Consolidated Financial Statements were approved by the Board of directors on 30 May 2006 and were signed on its behalf by:

Arun Sarin
Chief Executive

Andy Halford
Chief Financial Officer

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. The unaudited US dollar amounts are
prepared on the basis set out in note 1.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the years ended 31 March

2006 2006 2005
Note $m £m £m

Net cash flows from operating activities 29, 32 20,595 11,841 10,979

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of interests in subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures, net of cash
acquired (7,280) (4,186) (2,461)
Disposal of interests in subsidiary undertakings, net of cash disposed 1,042 599 444
Purchase of intangible assets (1,200) (690) (699)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (7,794) (4,481) (4,279)
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 45 26 68
Purchase of investments (99) (57) (19)
Disposal of investments 2 1 22
Loans to businesses sold or acquired businesses held for sale � � 110
Dividends received from associated undertakings 1,452 835 1,896
Dividends received from investments 71 41 19
Interest received 555 319 339

Net cash flows from investing activities 29 (13,206) (7,593) (4,560)

Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of ordinary share capital and reissue of treasury shares 619 356 115
Net movement in short-term borrowings 1,231 708 �
Proceeds from the issue of long-term borrowings 9,142 5,256 �
Repayment of borrowings (2,385) (1,371) (1,824)
Loans repaid to associated undertakings (82) (47) (2)
Purchase of treasury shares (11,230) (6,457) (4,053)
Equity dividends paid (4,781) (2,749) (1,991)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders in subsidiary undertakings (89) (51) (32)
Interest paid (1,254) (721) (744)

Net cash flows from financing activities 29 (8,829) (5,076) (8,531)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,440) (828) (2,112)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 18 6,481 3,726 5,809
Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents 59 34 29

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 18 5,100 2,932 3,726

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

The unaudited US dollar amounts are prepared on the basis set out in note 1.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Basis of preparation
The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (�IFRS�)
(including International Accounting Standards (�IAS�) and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(�IASB�) and its committees, and as interpreted by any regulatory bodies applicable to the Group as adopted for use in the European
Union (�EU�), the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulations. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS, which differs in certain material respects from US generally accepted accounting principles (�US
GAAP�) � see note 38.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. For a discussion on the Group�s critical
accounting estimates see �Performance � Critical Accounting Estimates� elsewhere in this Annual Report. Actual results could differ
from those estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Certain amounts in relation to the previous
financial year have been reclassified to conform presentation with the requirements of IFRS.

Amounts in the Consolidated Financial Statements are stated in pounds sterling (£), the currency of the country in which the
Company is incorporated. The translation into US dollars of the Consolidated Financial Statements as of, and for the financial year
ended, 31 March 2006, is for convenience only and has been made at the Noon Buying Rate for cable transfers as announced by
the Federal Reserve Bank of New York for customs purposes on 31 March 2006. This rate was $1.7393: £1. This translation
should not be construed as a representation that the sterling amounts actually represented have been, or could be, converted into
dollars at this or any other rate.

2. Significant accounting policies
The Group�s significant accounting policies are described below.

Accounting convention
The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared on a historical cost basis except for certain financial and equity instruments
that have been measured at fair value.

Basis of consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled, both
unilaterally and jointly, by the Company.

Accounting for subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the income statement from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.
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Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group�s equity therein. Minority
interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination and the minority�s share of
changes in equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority�s share of changes
in equity are allocated against the interests of the Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able
to make an additional investment to cover the losses.

Business combinations
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination. The
acquiree�s identifiable assets and liabilities are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group�s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the minority�s proportion of the net fair value of the
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

Previously held identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired entity are revalued to their fair value at the
date of acquisition, being the date at which the Group achieves control of the acquiree. The movement in fair value is taken to the
asset revaluation surplus.

Interests in joint ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to
joint control, that is when the strategic financial and operating policy decisions relating to the activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group reports its interests in jointly controlled entities using proportionate consolidation. The Group�s share of the assets,
liabilities, income, expenses and cash flows of jointly controlled entities are combined with the equivalent items in the results on a
line-by-line basis.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group�s interest in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in accordance with the
Group�s accounting policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary.

Investments in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in the Consolidated Financial Statements using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as
adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group�s share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of the
investment. Losses of an associate in excess of the Group�s interest in that associate are not recognised. Additional losses are
provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group�s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the
carrying amount of the investment.

The licences of the Group�s associated undertaking in the US, Verizon Wireless, are indefinite lived assets as they are subject to
perfunctory renewal. Accordingly they are not subject to amortisation but are tested annually for impairment, or when indicators
exist that the carrying value is not recoverable.

Intangible assets
Goodwill
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Goodwill arising on the acquisition of an entity represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group�s interest in the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the entity recognised at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is
initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
held in the currency of the acquired entity and revalued to the closing rate at each balance sheet date.

Goodwill is not subject to amortisation but is tested for impairment.

Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised directly in the income statement.

On disposal of a subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the
profit or loss recognised in the income statement on disposal.

Goodwill arising before the date of transition to IFRS, on 1 April 2004, has been retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts
subject to being tested for impairment at that date. Goodwill written off to reserves under UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been
reinstated and is not included in determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal.
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2. Significant accounting policies continued
Licence and spectrum fees
Licence and spectrum fees are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation. The amortisation periods range from 3 to 25 years
and are determined primarily by reference to the unexpired licence period, the conditions for licence renewal and whether licences
are dependent on specific technologies. Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives from the commencement of service of the network.

Computer software
Computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring into use the specific software.
These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives, being 3 to 5 years.

Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group, and that
are expected to generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs
include software development employee costs and directly attributable overheads.

Software integral to a related item of hardware equipment is accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from the Group�s development activity is recognised only if all of the following
conditions are met:

� an asset is created that can be separately identified;
� it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits; and
� the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
Internally-generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Where no
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged to the income statement in the period
in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets with finite lives are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets from the date they are
available for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Brands 1 - 10 years

Customer bases 3 - 8 years
Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings held for use are stated in the balance sheet at their cost, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Assets in the course of construction are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Depreciation of these assets
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Equipment, fixtures and fittings are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes directly attributable incremental costs incurred in their acquisition and
installation.
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Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than land and properties under construction, using
the straight-line method, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Freehold buildings 25 - 50 years

Leasehold premises the term of the lease

Equipment, fixtures and fittings 3 - 10 years

Network infrastructure 3 - 25 years
Depreciation is not provided on freehold land.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where
shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the income statement.

Impairment of assets
Indefinite lived assets
Goodwill and other assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation but are tested for impairment annually or
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows, known as cash-generating units. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the
unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

Property, plant and equipment and finite lived intangible assets
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and finite lived intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in the income statement.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, not to exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in the income statement.

Disposal groups held for sale
Disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying value and fair value less costs to sell.

Revenue
Group revenue comprises revenue of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings plus the Group�s share of the revenue of its joint
ventures and excludes sales taxes and discounts.
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Revenue from mobile telecommunications comprises amounts charged to customers in respect of monthly access charges, airtime
usage, messaging, the provision of other mobile telecommunications services, including data services and information provision,
fees for connecting users of other fixed line and mobile networks to the Group�s network, revenue from the sale of equipment,
including handsets and revenue arising from Partner Market Agreements.

Access charges and airtime used by contract customers are invoiced and recorded as part of a periodic billing cycle and
recognised as revenue over the related access period, with unbilled revenue resulting from services already provided from the
billing cycle date to the end of each period accrued and unearned revenue from services provided in periods after each accounting
period deferred. Revenue from the sale of prepaid credit is deferred until such time as the customer uses the airtime, or the credit
expires.

Other revenue from mobile telecommunications primarily comprises equipment sales, which are recognised upon delivery to
customers, and customer connection revenue. Customer connection revenue is recognised together with the related equipment
revenue to the extent that the aggregate equipment and connection revenue does not exceed the fair value of the equipment
delivered to the customer. Any customer connection revenue not recognised together with related equipment revenue is deferred
and recognised over the period in which services are expected to be provided to the customer.
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Revenue from data services and information provision is recognised when the Group has performed the related service and,
depending on the nature of the service, is recognised either at the gross amount billed to the customer or the amount receivable by
the Group as commission for facilitating the service.

Incentives are provided to customers in various forms and are usually offered on signing a new contract or as part of a promotional
offering.

Where one-off incentives are provided on connection of a new customer or the upgrade of an existing customer, revenue
representing the fair value of the incentive, relative to other deliverables provided to the customer as part of the same arrangement,
is deferred and recognised in line with the Group�s performance of its obligations relating to the incentive.

For equipment sales made to intermediaries, revenue is recognised if the significant risks associated with the equipment are
transferred to the intermediary and the intermediary has no general right of return. If the significant risks are not transferred,
revenue recognition is deferred until sale of the handset to an end customer by the intermediary or the expiry of the right of return.

Intermediaries are incentivised by the Group to connect new customers and upgrade existing customers. Where such incentives
are separable from the initial sale of equipment to an intermediary, the incentive is accounted for as an expense upon connection,
or upgrade, of the customer.

Revenue from other businesses primarily comprises amounts charged to customers of the Group�s fixed line businesses, mainly in
respect of access charges and line usage, invoiced and recorded as part of a periodic billing cycle.

Inventory
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the basis of weighted average costs and
comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower,
at the present value of the minimum lease payments as determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the
lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
charges are recognised in the income statement.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also spread on a straight line basis over
the lease term.

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity�s functional currency
are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate prevailing on the date when fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are included in the
income statement for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in the income statement for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect
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of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is also recognised directly in equity.

For the purpose of presenting Consolidated Financial Statements, the assets and liabilities of entities with a functional currency
other than sterling are expressed in sterling using exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items
and cash flows are translated at the average exchange rates for the period and exchange differences arising are recognised
directly in equity. Such translation

differences are recognised in the income statement in the period in which a foreign operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated accordingly.

In respect of all foreign operations, any exchange differences that have arisen before 1 April 2004, the date of transition to IFRS,
are deemed to be nil and will be excluded from the determination of any subsequent profit or loss on disposal.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Post employment benefits
For defined benefit retirement plans, the difference between the fair value of the plan assets and the present value of the plan
liabilities is recognised as an asset or liability on the balance sheet. The Group has early adopted the amendment to IAS 19,
�Employee Benefits�, issued by the IASB on 16 December 2004 and applied it from 1 April 2004. Accordingly, actuarial gains and
losses are taken to the statement of recognised income and expense. For this purpose, actuarial gains and losses comprise both
the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions and experience adjustments arising because of differences between the previous
actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred.

Other movements in the net surplus or deficit are recognised in the income statement, including the current service cost, any past
service cost and the effect of any curtailment or settlements. The interest cost less the expected return on assets is also charged to
the income statement. The amount charged to the income statement in respect of these plans is included within operating costs or
in the Group's share of the results of equity accounted operations as appropriate.

The values attributed to plan liabilities are assessed in accordance with the advice of independent qualified actuaries.

The Group's contributions to defined contribution pension plans are charged to the income statement as they fall due.

Cumulative actuarial gains and losses as at 1 April 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, have been recognised in the balance sheet.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current tax payable and deferred tax.

Current tax payable or recoverable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the income
statement because some items of income or expense are taxable or deductible in different years or may never be taxable or
deductible. The Group�s liability for current tax is calculated using UK and foreign tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable in the future arising from temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. It is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and
interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset realised,
based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they either relate to income taxes
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2. Significant accounting policies continued
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or on different taxable entities which intend to settle the
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Tax is charged or credited to the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which
case the tax is also recognised directly in equity.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities, in respect of financial instruments, are recognised on the Group�s balance sheet when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS to financial instruments for all periods presented and has not taken advantage of
any exemptions available to first time adopters of IFRS in this respect. The Group has early adopted IFRS 7, �Financial Instruments:
Disclosures�, amendments to IAS 39, �Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement� and IFRS 4, �Insurance Contracts�,
regarding �Financial Guarantee Contracts� and amendments to IAS 39 regarding �The Fair Value Option� and �Cash Flow Hedge
Accounting of Forecast Intragroup Transactions� and applied them from 1 April 2004.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for
estimated irrecoverable amounts. Estimated irrecoverable amounts are based on the ageing of the receivable balances and
historical experience. Individual trade receivables are written off when management deems them not to be collectible.

Investments
Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where a purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially
measured at cost, including transaction costs.

Investments are classified as either held for trading or available-for-sale, and are measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair
value. Where securities are held for trading purposes, gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are included in net profit
or loss for the period. For available-for-sale investments, gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly
in equity, until the security is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity, determined using the weighted average costs method, is included in the net profit or loss for the period.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and call deposits, and other short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Trade payables
Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at their nominal value.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities and includes no obligation to deliver
cash or other financial assets. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

Capital market and bank borrowings
Interest bearing loans and overdrafts are initially measured at fair value (which is equal to cost at inception), and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, except where they are identified as a hedged item in a fair
value hedge. Any difference between the proceeds net of transaction costs and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is
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recognised over the term of the borrowing.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group�s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group�s policies approved by the board of directors, which provide written
principles on the use of financial derivatives consistent with the Group�s risk management strategy. Changes in values of all
derivatives of a financing nature are included within investment income and financing costs in the income statement. The Group
does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value on the contract date, and are subsequently re-measured to fair
value at each reporting date. The Group designates certain derivatives as either:

• hedges of the change of fair value of recognised assets and liabilities (�fair value hedges�); or

• hedges of net investments in foreign operations.
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies
for hedge accounting.

Fair value hedges
The Group�s policy is to use derivative instruments (primarily interest rate swaps) to convert a proportion of its fixed rate debt to
floating rates in order to hedge the interest rate risk arising, principally, from capital market borrowings. The Group designates
these as fair value hedges of interest rate risk with changes in fair value of the hedging instrument recognised in the income
statement for the period together with the changes in the fair value of the hedged item due to the hedged risk, to the extent the
hedge is effective. The ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Net investment hedges
Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations are recognised directly in equity. Gains
and losses on those hedging instruments designated as hedges of the net investments in foreign operations are recognised in
equity to the extent that the hedging relationship is effective. These amounts are included in exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations as stated in the statement of recognised income and expense. Any ineffectiveness is recognised immediately in
the income statement for the period. Gains and losses accumulated in the translation reserve are included in the income statement
when the foreign operation is disposed of. The Group has adopted the Amendments to IAS 21, �The Effect of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates�, with effect from 1 April 2004, being the date of transition to IFRS for the Group.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will
be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the directors� best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
obligation at the balance sheet date, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.

Share-based payments
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured
at fair value (excluding the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the
grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group�s estimate of the shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

Fair value is measured using a binomial pricing model which is calibrated using a Black-Scholes framework. The expected life used
in the model has been adjusted, based on management�s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions
and behavioural considerations.

Advertising costs
Expenditure on advertising is written off in the year in which it is incurred.
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3. Segmental analysis
The Group�s business is principally the supply of mobile telecommunications services and products. Primary segmental information
is provided on the basis of geographic regions, being the basis on which the Group manages its worldwide interests. Other
operations primarily comprise fixed line telecommunications businesses. The segmental analysis is provided for the Group�s
continuing operations. Revenue is determined by location of assets, which is not materially different from revenue by location of
customer. Inter-segment sales are charged at arms length prices.

Mobile telecommunications Other operations Group

Other Common
Germany Italy Spain UK US mobile functions Total Germany Other

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

31 March 2006
Service revenue 5,394 4,170 3,615 4,568 � 8,530 26,277 1,320 19 27,616
Equipment and
other revenue 360 193 380 480 � 720 2,133 � � 2,133

Segment revenue 5,754 4,363 3,995 5,048 � 9,250 28,410 1,320 19 29,749
Subsidiaries 5,754 � 3,995 5,048 � 7,812 22,609 1,320 � 23,929
Joint ventures � 4,363 � � � 1,470 5,833 � 19 5,852
Less:

intra-segment
revenue � � � � � (32) (32) � � (32)
Common functions 145 145 145
Inter-segment
revenue (64) (44) (105) (65) � (121) (19) (418) � � (418)

Net revenue 5,690 4,319 3,890 4,983 � 9,129 126 28,137 1,320 19 29,476
Less: revenue
between mobile
and other
operations (91) � � � � (1) (92) (34) � (126)

Group revenue 5,599 4,319 3,890 4,983 � 9,128 126 28,045 1,286 19 29,350

Segment result (17,904) (1,928) 968 698 � 1,296 (16,870) 139 4 (16,727)
Subsidiaries (17,904) � 968 698 � 933 (15,305) 139 � (15,166)
Joint ventures � (1,928) � � � 363 (1,565) � 4 (1,561)

Common functions 215 215 215
Share of result in
associated
undertakings � � � � 1,732 712 8 2,452 � (24) 2,428

Operating
(loss)/profit (17,904) (1,928) 968 698 1,732 2,008 223 (14,203) 139 (20) (14,084)
Non-operating
income and
expense (2)
Investment income 353
Financing costs (1,120)
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Loss before
taxation (14,853)
Tax on loss (2,380)

Loss for the year
from continuing
operations (17,233)

Operating loss (17,904) (1,928) 968 698 1,732 2,008 223 (14,203) 139 (20) (14,084)
Add back:
Impairment

losses 19,400 3,600 � � � 515 � 23,515 � � 23,515
Non-recurring

items related to
acquisitions and
disposals � � � � � (20) (12) (32) � � (32)

Adjusted operating
profit 1,496 1,672 968 698 1,732 2,503 211 9,280 139 (20) 9,399

Non-current
assets(1) 24,360 19,422 12,596 8,743 � 17,200 1,907 84,228 754 64 85,046
Investment in
associated
undertakings � � � � 17,898 5,182 37 23,117 � 80 23,197
Current assets(1) 669 888 443 743 � 1,555 79 4,377 266 13 4,656

Total segment
assets(1) 25,029 20,310 13,039 9,486 17,898 23,937 2,023 111,722 1,020 157 112,899
Unallocated
non-current assets:
Deferred tax

assets 140
Trade and other

receivables 231
Unallocated
current assets:
Cash and cash

equivalents 2,789
Trade and other

receivables 79
Taxation

recoverable 8
Assets included

in disposal group
for resale(3) 10,592

Total assets 126,738
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3.   Segmental analysis continued

Mobile telecommunications Other operations Group

Germany Italy Spain UK US Other Common Total Germany Other
mobile functions

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Segment liabilities(1) (753) (1,370) (914) (827) �(2,638) (1,458) (7,960) (362) (26) (8,348)
Unallocated liabilities:
Current taxation liabilities (4,448)
Deferred tax liabilities (5,670)
Trade and other payables (219)
Short-term borrowings (3,448)
Long-term borrowings (16,750)
Liabilities included in disposal

group for resale(3) (2,543)

Total liabilities (41,426)

Other segment items:
Capitalised fixed asset
additions(2) 592 541 502 665 � 1,456 112 3,868 129 8 4,005

Expenditure on other intangible
assets � 1 � 11 � 4 � 16 � � 16

Non-cash items:
Depreciation 653 398 281 486 � 1,113 6 2,937 140 2 3,079
Amortisation of intangible

assets 514 190 114 438 � 186 183 1,625 � � 1,625

Impairment of goodwill 19,400 3,600 � � � 515 � 23,515 � � 23,515
Bad debt expense 39 5 41 9 � 64 � 158 10 � 168
Share-based payments 6 7 5 18 � 17 54 107 2 � 109

Notes:
(1) Excluding unallocated items.
(2) Includes additions to property, plant and equipment and computer software, included with intangible assets.
(3) See note 29 for information on discontinued operations.
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Continuing Discontinued
Mobile telecommunications Other operations operations operations Group

Germany Italy Spain UK US Other Common Total Germany Other
mobile functions

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

31 March
2005
Service
revenue 5,320 4,091 2,963 4,498 � 6,973 23,845 1,095 � 24,940 5,610

Equipment
and other
revenue

364 182 298 567 � 664 2,075 � � 2,075 1,786

Segment
revenue 5,684 4,273 3,261 5,065 � 7,637 25,920 1,095 � 27,015 7,396

Subsidiaries 5,684 � 3,261 5,065 � 6,474 20,484 1,095 � 21,579 7,396
Joint

ventures � 4,273 � � � 1,184 5,457 � � 5,457 �

Less:
intra-segment
revenue

� � � � � (21) (21) � � (21) �

Common
functions 123 123 123

Inter-segment
revenue (51) (36) (80) (47) � (84) (5) (303) � � (303) (1)

Net revenue 5,633 4,237 3,181 5,018 � 7,553 118 25,740 1,095 � 26,835 7,395
Less: revenue
between
mobile and
other

operations (110) � � � � � (1) (111) (46) � (157) �

Group
revenue 5,523 4,237 3,181 5,018 � 7,553 117 25,629 1,049 � 26,678 7,395

Segment
result 1,473 1,694 775 779 � 1,198 5,919 64 � 5,983 664

Subsidiaries 1,473 � 775 779 � 893 3,920 64 � 3,984 664
Joint

ventures � 1,694 � � � 305 1,999 � � 1,999

Common
functions (85) (85) (85)

Share of
result in
associated
undertakings

� � � � 1,354 671 2,025 � (45) 1,980 �

Operating
profit/(loss) 1,473 1,694 775 779 1,354 1,869 (85) 7,859 64 (45) 7,878 664
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Non-operating
income and
expense

(7) 13

Investment
income 294 9

Financing
costs (880) (20)

Profit before
taxation 7,285 666

Tax on profit (1,869) 436

Profit for the
financial year 5,416 1,102 6,518

Operating
profit/(loss) 1,473 1,694 775 779 1,354 1,869 (85) 7,859 64 (45) 7,878 664

Add back:
Impairment

losses � � � � � 475 � 475 � � 475 �

Adjusted
operating
profit/(loss)

1,473 1,694 775 779 1,354 2,344 (85) 8,334 64 (45) 8,353 664

Non-current
assets(1) 44,101 22,768 12,288 9,014 �12,443 884 101,498 752 � 102,250 13,754 116,004

Investment in
associated
undertakings

� � � � 15,039 5,096 33 20,168 � 66 20,234 � 20,234

Current
assets(1) 811 844 356 741 � 1,301 118 4,171 221 � 4,392 1,168 5,560

Total segment
assets(1) 44,912 23,612 12,644 9,755 15,039 18,840 1,035 125,837 973 66 126,876 14,922 141,798

Unallocated
non-current
assets:
Deferred tax

assets 1,184

Trade and
other
receivables

364

Unallocated
current
assets:
Cash and

cash
equivalents

3,769

Trade and
other
receivables

44

Taxation
recoverable 38

Total assets 147,197

Edgar Filing: VODAFONE GROUP PUBLIC LTD CO - Form 20-F

198



Vodafone Group Plc Annual Report 2006 81

Edgar Filing: VODAFONE GROUP PUBLIC LTD CO - Form 20-F

199



Back to Contents

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
continued

3.   Segmental analysis continued

Continuing Discontinued
Mobile telecommunications Other operations operations operations Group

Germany Italy Spain UK US Other Common Total Germany Other
mobile functions

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Segment
liabilities(1) (848) (1,237) (735) (939) �(2,295) (1,180) (7,234) (364) � (7,598) (1,477) (9,075)

Unallocated
liabilities:
Current

taxation
liabilities

(4,353)

Deferred tax
liabilities (4,849)

Short-term
borrowings (2,003)

Long-term
borrowings (13,190)

Trade and
other payables (79)

Total liabilities (33,549)

Other
segment
items:
Capitalised
fixed asset
additions(2)

827 538 490 789 � 1,333 136 4,113 112 � 4,225 885

Expenditure
on other
intangible
assets

� 8 � � � 118 � 126 � � 126 �

Non-cash
items:
Depreciation 640 403 253 464 � 961 11 2,732 153 � 2,885 1,114
Amortisation

of intangible
assets

514 184 101 468 � 142 7 1,416 � � 1,416 100

Impairment
of goodwill � � � � � 475 � 475 � � 475 �

Bad debt
expense 50 13 35 36 � 39 � 173 10 � 183 39

Share-based
payments 3 4 2 15 � 11 94 129 1 � 130 7

Notes:
(1) Excluding unallocated items.
(2) Includes additions to property, plant and equipment and computer software, included with intangible assets.
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4. Operating (loss)/profit
Operating (loss)/profit has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2006 2005
£m £m

Net foreign exchange gains � (10)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:
Owned assets 3,069 2,871
Leased assets 10 14

Amortisation of intangible assets 1,625 1,416
Impairment of goodwill 23,515 475
Research and development expenditure 206 198
Advertising costs 670 660
Staff costs (see note 34) 2,310 2,185
Operating lease rentals payable:
Plant and machinery 35 37
Other assets including fixed line rentals 933 873

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 69 68
Own costs capitalised attributable to the construction or acquisition of property, plant and
equipment (256) (250)

The total remuneration of the Group�s auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, and its affiliates for services provided to the Group�s
subsidiary undertakings is analysed below:

2006 2005
£m £m

Audit fees 4 4
Audit-related fees:
Audit regulatory reporting 1 �
Due diligence reviews 1 1

Tax fees 1 1
Other fees 1 1

8 7

The total remuneration includes £1 million (2005: £1 million) in respect of the Group�s discontinued operations in Japan.

In addition to the above, the Group�s joint ventures and associated undertakings paid fees totalling £2 million (2005: £2 million) and
£4 million (2005: £5 million), respectively, to Deloitte & Touche LLP and its affiliates during the year.

A description of the work performed by the Audit Committee in order to safeguard auditor independence when non audit services
are provided is set out in the Corporate Governance section on page 57. In the year ended 31 March 2006, the Audit Committee
pre-approved all services.
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5.   Investment income and financing costs

2006 2005
£m £m

Investment income
Available-for-sale investments:
Dividends received 41 19

Loans and receivables 153 201
Fair value adjustments recognised in the income statement:
Derivatives - foreign exchange contracts and interest rate futures 159 74

353 294

Financing costs
Items in hedge relationships:
Other loans 510 472
Interest rate swaps (118) (198)
Dividends on redeemable preference shares 48 �
Fair value hedging instrument 213 231
Fair value of hedged item (186) (213)

Other financial liabilities held at amortised cost:
Bank loans and overdrafts 126 129
Other loans 78 68
Dividends on redeemable preference shares � 46
Potential interest charge on settlement of tax issues 329 245

Fair value adjustments recognised in the income statement:
Derivatives - forward starting swaps (48) 25
Equity put rights and similar arrangements(1) 161 67

Finance leases 7 8

1,120 880

Net financing costs 767 586

Note:
(1) The fair value adjustments for equity put rights and similar arrangements relates to the Group�s arrangements with Telecom Egypt and it�s

minority partners in the Group�s other operations in Germany. Further information is provided in �Options agreements and similar arrangements�
on page 42.
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6. Taxation
(Loss)/profit before tax is split as follows:

2006 2005
£m £m

United Kingdom profit before tax 491 765
Overseas (loss)/profit before tax (15,344) 6,520

Total (loss)/profit before tax (14,853) 7,285

Income tax expense
Tax on (loss)/profit from continuing operations, as shown in the income statement, is as follows:

2006 2005
£m £m

United Kingdom corporation tax expense/(income) at 30%:
Current year 169 339
Adjustments in respect of prior years (15) (79)

154 260

Overseas current tax expense/(income):
Current year 2,077 1,774
Adjustments in respect of prior years (418) (154)

1,659 1,620

Total current tax expense 1,813 1,880

Deferred tax on origination and reversal of temporary differences:
United Kingdom deferred tax 444 234
Overseas deferred tax 123 (245)

Total deferred tax expense/(income) 567 (11)

Total tax on (loss)/profit from continuing operations 2,380 1,869

Tax recognised directly in equity
2006 2005
£m £m

Current tax credit (6) (10)
Deferred tax credit (11) (35)
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Total tax credited directly to equity (17) (45)

Factors affecting tax expense for the year
The table below explains the differences between the expected tax expense on continuing operations, at the UK statutory tax rate
of 30% for 2006 and 2005, and the Group�s total tax expense for each year. Further discussion of the current year tax expense can
be found in the section titled �Performance � Operating Results � Group Overview � 2006 financial year compared to 2005 financial
year � Taxation.�

2006 2005
£m £m

(Loss)/profit before tax on continuing operations as shown in the income statement (14,853) 7,285

Expected tax (credit)/ charge on profit from continuing operations at UK statutory tax rate (4,456) 2,186
Effect of taxation of associated undertakings, reported within operating profit 133 134
Non deductible impairment losses 7,055 143

Expected tax charge at UK statutory rate on profit from continuing operations, before impairment
losses and taxation of associates 2,732 2,463
Effect of different statutory tax rates of overseas jurisdictions 411 433
Other expenses not deductible for tax purposes 299 367
Deferred tax on overseas earnings (78) (66)
Effect of previously unrecognised temporary differences (71) (463)
Prior period adjustments (470) (417)
Exclude taxation of associated undertakings (443) (448)

Total tax expense on (loss)/profit from continuing operations 2,380 1,869
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6.   Taxation continued
Deferred tax
Analysis of movements in net deferred tax balance during the year:

2006

£m

1 April 2005 (3,665)
Reclassification as held for sale (717)
Exchange movements (217)
Charged to the income statement (567)
Credited to the statement of recognised income and expense 8
Acquisitions and disposals (372)

31 March 2006 (5,530)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities in respect of continuing operations, before offset of balances within countries, are as follows:

Net
recognised

Amount
credited

Less:
deferred

tax
/(charged)

in
Gross

deferred
Gross

deferred amounts asset/ income
tax asset tax liability unrecognised (liability) statement

£m £m £m £m £m

Accelerated tax depreciation 155 (1,702) (48) (1,595) (91)
Accelerated tax depreciation 155 (1,702) (48) (1,595) (91)
Tax losses 9,565 � (9,191) 374 (85)
Deferred tax on overseas earnings � (4,025) � (4,025) (318)
Other short term timing differences 4,073 (1,418) (2,939) (284) (73)

31 March 2006 13,793 (7,145) (12,178) (5,530) (567)

Analysed in the balance sheet, after offset of balances within countries, as: £m

Deferred tax asset 140
Deferred tax liability (5,670)

(5,530)

Net
recognised

Amount
credited

Less:
deferred

tax
/(charged)

in
Gross

deferred
Gross

deferred amounts asset/ income
tax asset tax liability unrecognised (liability) statement
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£m £m £m £m £m

Accelerated tax depreciation 293 (1,604) (20) (1,331) (175)
Tax losses 8,248 � (7,370) 878 69
Deferred tax on overseas earnings � (3,427) � (3,427) (245)
Other short term timing differences 5,017 (1,065) (3,737) 215 362

31 March 2005 13,558 (6,096) (11,127) (3,665) 11

Analysed in the balance sheet, after offset of balances within countries, as: £m

Deferred tax asset 1,184
Deferred tax liability (4,849)

(3,665)

Deferred tax balances at 31 March 2005 above are inclusive of discontinued operations. The amounts reported for the 2005
income statement are for continuing operations. Further deferred tax credits of £35 million for accelerated tax depreciation, £433
million tax losses and £103 million other short term timing differences are included within amounts related to discontinued
operations in the 2005 income statement.

Factors affecting the tax charge in future years
Factors that may affect the Group�s future tax charge include one-off restructuring benefits, the resolution of open issues, future
planning opportunities, corporate acquisitions and disposals, changes in tax legislation and rates, and the use of brought forward
tax losses.

In particular, the Group�s subsidiary Vodafone 2 is responding to an enquiry by HM Revenue & Customs (�HMRC�) with regard to the
UK tax treatment of one of its Luxembourg holding companies under the controlled foreign companies (�CFC�) rules. Further details
in relation to this enquiry are included in note 31 �Contingent Liabilities�. At 31 March 2006, the Group holds provisions of £1,822
million tax and £276 million interest in respect of the potential UK tax liability that may arise from this enquiry (2005: £1,600 million
tax and £157 million interest). Management considers these amounts are sufficient to settle any assessments that may result from
the enquiry. However, the amount ultimately paid may differ materially from the amount accrued and, therefore, could affect the
overall profitability of the Group in future periods. In the absence of any material unexpected developments, the provisions are
likely to be reassessed when the views of the European Court of Justice become known.
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At 31 March 2006, the gross amount and expiry dates of losses available for carry forward are as follows:

Expiring
within

5 years Unlimited Total
£m £m £m

Losses for which a deferred tax asset is recognised 1 1,451 1,452
Losses for which no deferred tax is recognised 172 31,331 31,503

173 32,782 32,955

Included above are losses amounting to £1,939 million (2005: £1,870 million) in respect of UK subsidiaries which are only available
for offset against future capital gains and since it is uncertain whether these losses will be utilised, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised.

The losses above also include £27,545 million (2005 £20,898 million) that have arisen in overseas holding companies as a result of
revaluations of those companies� investments for local GAAP purposes. Since it is uncertain whether these losses will be utilised no
deferred tax asset has been recognised.

In addition to the losses described above, the Group has potential tax losses of £35,250 million (2005: £34,674 million) in respect of
a write down in the value of investments in Germany. These losses have to date been denied by the German tax authorities.
Vodafone is in continuing discussions with them regarding the availability of the losses, however the outcome of these discussions
and the timing of the resolution are not yet known. The Group has not recognised the availability of the losses, nor the income
statement benefit arising from them, due to this uncertainty. If upon resolution a benefit is recognised, it may impact both the
amount of current income taxes provided since the date of initial deduction and the amount of the benefit from tax losses the Group
will recognise. The recognition of these benefits could affect the overall profitability of the Group in future periods.

The Group holds provisions in respect of deferred taxation that would arise if temporary differences on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures were to be realised after the balance sheet date. No deferred tax liability has been
recognised in respect of a further £23,038 million (2005: £15,060 million) of unremitted earnings of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

7.   Equity dividends

2006 2005
£m £m

Declared and paid during the financial year:
Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2005: 2.16 pence per share
(2004: 1.078 pence per share) 1,386 728
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2006: 2.20 pence per share
(2005: 1.91 pence per share) 1,367 1,263

2,753 1,991

Proposed or declared after the balance sheet date and not recognised as a liability:
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Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2006: 3.87 pence per share
(2005: 2.16 pence per share) 2,327 1,386
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8. (Loss)/earnings per share

2006 2005
Millions Millions

Weighted average number of shares for basic (loss)/earnings per share 62,607 66,196
Effect of dilutive potential shares: restricted shares and share options � 231

Weighted average number of shares for diluted (loss)/earnings per share 62,607 66,427

£m £m

(Loss)/earnings for basic and diluted earnings per share
Continuing operations (17,318) 5,375
Discontinued operations (4,598) 1,035

Total (21,916) 6,410

Pence per
share

Pence per
share

(Loss)/earnings per share from continuing operations:
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (27.66) 8.12
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share(2) (27.66) 8.09

(Loss)/earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations(1):
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (35.01) 9.68
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share(2) (35.01) 9.65

£m £m

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share for continuing operations is stated inclusive of the following
items:
Impairment losses (note 10) (23,515) (475)
Other income and expense 15 �
Share of associated undertakings non-operating income (note 14) 17 �
Non-operating income and expense (2) (7)
Changes in fair value of equity put rights and similar arrangements (note 5)(3) (161) (67)
Tax on the above items � (3)

Pence per
share

Pence per
share
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Impairment losses (37.56) (0.72)
Other income and expense 0.02 �
Share of associated undertakings non-operating income 0.03 �
Non-operating income and expense � (0.01)
Changes in fair value of equity put rights and similar arrangements(3) (0.26) (0.10)
Tax on the above items � �

Notes:
(1) See note 29 for further information on discontinued operations including the per share effect of discontinued operations.
(2) In the year ended 31 March 2006, 183 million shares have been excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share as they are anti dilutive.
(3) Comprises the fair value movement in relation to the potential put rights held by Telecom Egypt over its 25.5% interest in Vodafone Egypt and

the fair value of a financial liability in relation to the minority partners of Arcor, the Group�s non-mobile operation in Germany.
Following the sale of 16.9% of Vodafone Egypt to Telecom Egypt, the Group signed a shareholder agreement with Telecom Egypt setting out
the basis under which the Group and Telecom Egypt would each contribute a 25.5% interest in Vodafone Egypt to a newly formed company to
be 50% owned by each party. Within this shareholder agreement, Telecom Egypt was granted a put option over its entire interest in Vodafone
Egypt giving Telecom Egypt the right to put its shares back to the Group at deemed fair value. In the 2006 financial year, the shareholder
agreement between Telecom Egypt and Vodafone expired and the associated rights and obligations contained in the shareholder agreement
terminated, including the aforementioned put option. However, the original shareholders agreement contained an obligation on both parties to
use reasonable efforts to renegotiate a revised shareholder agreement for their direct shareholding in Vodafone Egypt on substantially the
same terms as the original agreement, which may or may not lead to a new agreement containing a put option under the terms described
above. As of 31 March 2006, the parties have not agreed to abandon such efforts and as such the financial liability relating to the initial
shareholder agreement has been retained in the Group�s balance sheet as at 31 March 2006. Fair value movements are determined by the
reference to the quoted share price of Vodafone Egypt. For the year ended 31 March 2006, a charge of £105 million was recognised.
The capital structure of Arcor provides all partners, including Vodafone, the right to withdraw capital from 31 December 2026 onwards and this
right in relation to the minority partner has been recognised as a financial liability. Fair value movements are determined by reference to a
calculation of enterprise value of the partnership. For the year ended 31 March 2006, a charge of £56 million was recognised.
The valuation of these financial liabilities is inherently unpredictable and changes in the fair value could have a material impact on the future
results and financial position of Vodafone.
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9.   Intangible assets

Licences
and Computer

Goodwill spectrum
fees software Other Total

£m £m £m £m £m

Cost:
1 April 2004 78,753 15,178 2,432 � 96,363
Exchange movements 1,519 254 39 (5) 1,807
Arising on acquisition 1,239 229 � 654 2,122
Additions � 126 528 � 654
Disposals (37) � (35) � (72)

31 March 2005 81,474 15,787 2,964 649 100,874
Reclassification as held for sale (8,295) (214) (36) (620) (9,165)

73,179 15,573 2,928 29 91,709
Exchange movements 1,291 216 51 22 1,580
Arising on acquisition 2,802 1,196 20 699 4,717
Additions � 6 616 10 632
Disposals (1,142) � (43) (5) (1,190)

31 March 2006 76,130 16,991 3,572 755 97,448

Accumulated impairment losses and amortisation:
1 April 2004 � 361 1,378 � 1,739
Exchange movements � 12 21 (2) 31
Amortisation charge for the year(1) � 926 494 96 1,516
Impairment losses 475 � � � 475
Disposals � � (35) � (35)

31 March 2005 475 1,299 1,858 94 3,726
Reclassification as held for sale � (8) (7) (90) (105)

475 1,291 1,851 4 3,621
Exchange movements 513 38 33 4 588
Amortisation charge for the year � 1,030 493 102 1,625
Impairment losses 23,515 � � � 23,515
Disposals (979) � (38) (2) (1,019)

31 March 2006 23,524 2,359 2,339 108 28,330
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Net book value:
31 March 2006 52,606 14,632 1,233 647 69,118

31 March 2005 80,999 14,488 1,106 555 97,148

Note:
(1) The amortisation charge for the year includes £100 million in relation to discontinued operations
The net book value at 31 March 2006 and expiry dates of the most significant purchased licences, are as follows:

2006
Expiry date £m

Germany December
2020 5,165

UK December
2021 5,245
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9.   Intangible assets continued
Goodwill, analysed by reportable segment, is as follows:

Other Other
mobile operations

Germany Italy Japan Spain UK operations Germany Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost:
1 April 2004 34,824 19,291 7,523 10,125 713 6,237 40 78,753
Exchange movements 941 521 (428) 274 � 210 1 1,519
Arising on acquisition � � 1,200 � � 39 � 1,239
Disposals � � � � � (37) � (37)

31 March 2005 35,765 19,812 8,295 10,399 713 6,449 41 81,474
Reclassification as held
for sale � � (8,295 ) � � � � (8,295)

35,765 19,812 � 10,399 713 6,449 41 73,179
Exchange movements 595 330 � 172 � 192 2 1,291
Arising on acquisition � 15 � � 3 2,784 � 2,802
Disposals � � � � � (1,142) � (1,142)

31 March 2006 36,360 20,157 � 10,571 716 8,283 43 76,130

Accumulated impairment
losses:
1 April 2004 � � � � � � � �
Impairment losses � � � � � 475 � 475

31 March 2005 � � � � � 475 � 475
Exchange movements 442 82 � � � (11) � 513
Impairment losses 19,400 3,600 � � � 515 � 23,515
Disposals � � � � � (979) � (979)

31 March 2006 19,842 3,682 � � � � � 23,524

Net book value:
31 March 2006 16,518 16,475 � 10,571 716 8,283 43 52,606

31 March 2005 35,765 19,812 8,295 10,399 713 5,974 41 80,999
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10.   Impairment
The following cash-generating units, being the lowest level of asset for which there are separately identifiable cash flows, have
carrying amounts of goodwill that are considered significant in comparison with the Group�s total goodwill balance:

2006 2005
£m £m

Germany 16,518 35,765
Italy 16,475 19,812
Spain 10,571 10,399
Japan(1) � 8,295

43,564 74,271
Multiple units without significant goodwill 9,042 6,728

52,606 80,999

Note:
(1) Goodwill of £8,295 million relating to the Group�s mobile operations in Japan has been reclassified to assets included in the disposal group held

for sale, following the Group�s announcement of its intention to dispose of its operations in Japan on17March 2006.
In accordance with accounting standards, the Group undertakes an annual test for impairment of its cash generating units. The
most recent test was undertaken at 31 January 2006. The tests in the years ended 31 March 2006 and 2005 were based on value
in use calculations.

Impairment losses
The impairment losses recognised in the income statement, as a separate line item within operating profit, in respect of goodwill
are as follows:

2006 2005
£m £m

Germany 19,400 �
Italy 3,600 �
Other Mobile Operations � Sweden 515 475

23,515 475

Germany and Italy
The carrying value of goodwill of the Group�s mobile operations in Germany and Italy, with each representing a reportable segment,
has been impaired due to Vodafone having revised its view of longer term trends for these businesses given certain developments
in the current market environment.

The German market has seen recent intensification in price competition, principally from new market entrants, together with high
levels of penetration and continued regulated reductions in incoming call rates.

In Italy, competitive pressures are increasing with the mobile network operators competing aggressively on subsidies and,
increasingly, on price.

The impairment losses were determined as part of the annual test for impairment and were based on value in use calculations
using the pre-tax risk adjusted discount rates disclosed on page 92.
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Sweden
The impairment of the carrying value of goodwill of the Group�s mobile operation in Sweden in the years ended 31 March 2006 and
2005 resulted from fierce competition in the Swedish market combined with onerous 3G licence obligations. Vodafone Sweden
forms part of the Group�s Other Mobile Operations, which is a reportable segment.

Prior to its disposal in the year in the year ended 31 March 2006, the carrying value of goodwill was tested for impairment at an
interim date as increased competition provided an indicator that the goodwill may have been further impaired. The recoverable
amount of the goodwill was determined as the fair value less costs to sell, reflecting the announcement on 31 October 2005 that
the Group�s 100% interest in Vodafone Sweden was to be sold for€953 million (£653 million). The sale completed on 5 January
2006.

In the year ended 31 March 2005, the impairment was determined as part of the annual test for impairment and was based on
value in use calculations. A pre-tax risk adjusted discount rate of 9.7% was used in the value in use calculation.

Key assumptions used in the value in use calculations
The Group prepares and internally approves formal ten year plans for its businesses. For the year ended 31 March 2005, the
Group used these plans for its value in use calculations. The plans included cash flow projections for the mobile businesses which
were expected to have growth rates in excess of the long-term average growth rates, beyond an initial five year period, for the
markets in which they operate.

In the year ended 31 March 2006, the most recent management plans have shown that the need to reflect a differing growth profile
beyond an initial five year period has diminished in a number of the Group�s key operating companies as the Group has revised its
view of longer term trends. Accordingly, the directors believe it is now appropriate to use projections of five years for its value in use
calculations, except in markets which are forecast to grow ahead of the long term growth rate for the market. At 31 March 2006, the
value in use calculation for the Group�s joint venture in India used a ten year plan reflecting the low penetration of mobile
telecommunications in the country and the expectation of strong revenue growth throughout the ten year plan.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
continued

10.   Impairment continued
The key assumptions used in determining the value in use are:

Assumption How determined

Budgeted EBITDA Budgeted EBITDA, calculated as adjusted operating profit before depreciation and amortisation, has
been based on past experience adjusted for the following:

� voice and messaging revenue is expected to benefit from increased usage from new customers, the
introduction of new services and traffic moving from fixed networks to mobile networks, though
these factors will be partially offset by increased competitor activity, which may result in price
declines, and the trend of falling termination rates;

� non-messaging data revenue is expected to continue to grow strongly as the penetration of 3G
enabled devices rises and new products and services are introduced; and

� margins are expected to be impacted by negative factors such as an increase in the cost of
acquiring and retaining customers in increasingly competitive markets and the expectation of further
termination rates cuts by regulators; and by positive factors such as the efficiencies expected from
the implementation of One Vodafone initiatives.

Budgeted capital
expenditure

The cash flow forecasts for capital expenditure is based on past experience and includes the ongoing
capital expenditure required to provide enhanced voice and data products and services and to meet the
population coverage requirements of certain of the Group�s licences. Capital expenditure includes cash
outflows for the purchase of property, plant and equipment and computer software.

Long term growth rate For mobile businesses, a long term growth rate into perpetuity has been determined as the lower of:

� the nominal GDP rates for the country of operation; and

� the long term compound annual growth rate in EBITDA implied by the business plan.

For non-mobile businesses, no growth is expected beyond management�s plans for the initial five year
period.

Pre-tax risk adjusted
discount rate

The discount rate applied to the cash flows of each the Group�s operations is based on the risk free rate
for ten year bonds issued by the government in the respective market, adjusted for a risk premium to
reflect both the increased risk of investing in equities and the systematic risk of the specific Group
operating company. In making this adjustment, inputs required are the equity market risk premium (that
is the required increased return required over and above a risk free rate by an investor who is investing
in the market as a whole) and the risk adjustment (�beta�) applied to reflect the risk of the specific Group
operating company relative to the market as a whole.

In determining the risk adjusted discount rate, management have applied an adjustment for the
systematic risk to each of the Group�s operations determined using an average of the beta�s of
comparable listed mobile telecommunications companies and, where available and appropriate, across
a specific territory. Management have used a forward looking equity market risk premium that takes into
consideration both studies by independent economists, the average equity market risk premium over
the past ten years and the market risk premiums typically used by investment banks in evaluating
acquisition proposals.
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The following assumptions have been applied in the value in use calculations as follows:

Pre-tax risk adjusted
discount rate Long term growth rate

2006 2005 2006 2005

% % % %

Germany 10.1 9.6 1.1 2.7
Italy 10.1 9.2 1.5 4.1
Spain 9.0 9.3 3.3 3.4

Impact of a reasonably possible change in a key assumption
For those cash generating units, or the aggregate of cash generating units which are not individually significant, where a
reasonably possible change in a key assumption would lead to an impairment loss, the following provides additional information on
the sensitivity of such a change on the recoverable amount.

Germany Italy

£m £m

Amount by which recoverable amount exceeded the carrying value at 31 January 2006 � �

% %

Key assumptions:
Budgeted EBITDA(1) 0.3 (1.8)

Budgeted capital expenditure(2) 9.3 to 9.0 13.4 to
8.5

Notes:
(1) Compound annual growth rates in the initial five years of the Group�s approved financial plans.
(2) Range of capital expenditure as a percentage of revenue in the initial five years of the Group�s approved plans.
As noted above, there has been an impairment loss recognised in the year ended 31 March 2006 in respect of Germany and Italy,
whose carrying values, therefore, equalled their respective recoverable amounts at 31 January 2006, the date of the Group�s annual
impairment test. As a result, any adverse change in key assumption would cause a further impairment loss to be recognised.
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11.   Property, plant and equipment

Equipment,
Land and fixtures and Network
buildings fittings infrastructure Total

£m £m £m £m
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